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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of
investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally
small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high
market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board
and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market
in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
annual report, make no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or
any part of the contents of this annual report.

This annual report, for which the directors (the “Director(s)”) of
Madison Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars
given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the "GEM Listing
Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to
the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this annual report is accurate and
complete in all material respect and not misleading or deceptive,
and there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement herein or this annual report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETREHmE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of Directors, | am pleased
to present to you the annual report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2025.

The economies of the PRC and Hong Kong continue to face
various challenges. The uncertain global economic environment
has brought challenges to the operating environment. Our wine
business and loan financing business are still under suppression
in the current year. The Board and all our staff will carry on
with the spirit of dedication and diligence, to provide high-
quality products and services, optimize business portfolio of the
Group as well as to find new direction and potential business
collaboration to reduce the impact as well as creating more
value for shareholders.

The Group believes that it could bring in synergies which
could enhance our current fundamental business as well as
an additional stream of income to the Group through business
diversification and to reduce the impact of increasing cost
structure under the competitive environment, which will deliver
long-term increase in shareholders’ value.

Finally, | would like to express my greatest gratitude to the
Board, management and staff for their strenuous contribution
towards the Group. Furthermore, | would also like to thank
our executive Directors, Mr. Jiang Tian and Dr. Cheung
Yuk Shan Shirley. | also extend my sincere gratitude to our
business partners and shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) for their continuous support and trust. | believe
all members of the Group will dedicate their best efforts to
drive business growth and to deliver enhanced returns to the
Shareholders.

Ji Zuguang
Chairman and non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEBREFS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Jiang Tian (“Mr. Jiang”), aged 49, was appointed as the
executive Director of the Company on 12 August 2024. He
currently is the vice president of the Group’s loan financing
and consulting services business and is mainly responsible for
strategic development. He also holds directorships in several
subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Jiang has served as a senior official for more than 20 years
in several companies in Chongging, Shanghai and Hong Kong,
focusing on projects relating to new business development and
management. He has extensive experience in areas such as
asset acquisition and restructuring.

Mr. Jiang graduated from the Beijing University of Aeronautics
and Astronautics in June 2003 and obtained a Master Degree in
International Trade.

Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan Shirley (“Dr. Cheung”), aged 50, was
appointed as the executive Director of the Company on 22
December 2023. She was the chairlady and executive director
from May 2002 to September 2017, and the non-executive
director and honorary chairlady from September 2017 to July
2018 of SAU SAN TONG HOLDINGS LIMITED (stock code:
08200), whose shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.
In 2004, she was awarded as one of the “100 Outstanding
Women Entrepreneurs in China” by the Women Enterprises’
Association of China. In 2006, Dr. Cheung was awarded as
one of the “World Outstanding Chinese” by the World China
Business Investment Foundation.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEBREFS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Dr. Cheung founded the Shirley Cheung Charity Foundation in
2012, which is granted as an approved charitable organization,
and served as the chairlady to lead the foundation to participate
in social welfare services and fulfill social responsibilities. Dr.
Cheung is currently the honorary advisor of the Against Elderly
Abuse of Hong Kong, the vice chairman of the Shanghai Soong
Ching Ling Foundation Maternal and Infant Safety Fund, and the
chairman of the Food for Good Community Kitchens, to spare
no effort in improving the lives of various recipients such as the
elderly and children.

Dr. Cheung has served as a mentor of the Business-School
Partnership Program of the Young Entrepreneur Development
Council for many times, and a committee member of the
Employer Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong College of
Technology, allowing young people to understand the industry
environment and provide professional industry advice.

Dr. Cheung holds an Honorary Doctorate degree from
Armstrong University, U.S.A. and an Executive Master degree of
Business Administration from Peking University.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ji Zuguang (“Mr. Ji”), aged 68, was appointed as a non-
executive Director and chairman of the Company (“Chairman”)
on 3 October 2019 and 31 July 2020 respectively. He holds
directorships in various subsidiaries of the Group, among which
Mr. Ji has been a director of Starlight Financial Holdings Limited
(“Starlight”) since August 2012, which is an indirect non wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company since March 2019.

From 1992 to 2000, he served as secretary and engineer of
the Shanghai Postal, Telephone and Communication Bureau
( LT ESEEIE )respectively. Since 2000, Mr. Ji served as
the Deputy General Manager of LT International Holdings Ltd.
(I 55 B £ B B R A A )where he was mainly responsible for
the overall operation of property development projects and well
experienced in the property development industry. In 2003,
he participated in the establishment of Shanghai Yintong and
has since gained around 9 years of experience in the secured
financing industry.

Mr. Ji graduated from the Party School of the Central
Committee of C.P.C ( #1 # & R & #7 ) in 1992 majoring in
Economic Management. In 2006, Mr. Ji received his master’s
degree in Advanced Business Management from the Nanyang
Technological University of Singapore.

6 MADISON HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

HITES ()
RE+R012ERITREMEERS S  BRIES
i THIESEEE  LERLE2ET T AN
B BB EBITHMENET o thoh -
BHILEGRERE Y LBEN  FERERESES
BETRESEIR  URELEELEHREZEE8S T
B AMERE REZSESPABRMLEETES
j] °

RELEZREEFTFLERZRBNHRIKHG
FER - RHEBRABXRECBERETBERZEER
B EEFATEROIERE REHTEHEXER -

RBEEIHAXERBHERSREFLBMUMIERK
BESREBAEBIHEBRBELEM -

HMITES

sHEXEE(FEE]) > 685 0 H2019F10A3H &
20207 AB1B DRI ERETEIIMNITESE NA R A £
BUEE]D - BERASEZRFARERESHALA -
HEABEMR012F8ARES st EENFHEAS
BIERBERARI([BR])ZES - MZAREH20194F
SARAEARRIZHEEIEZEMBAF -

M 1992F £2000F @ AR EF L EMHBEEIER
ZMWENITIRA o B2000F 8 @ sHE A ETIEER
BREEARARIZEARE FIZAaEWELER
BREREE TRUERRTERFLELESR - B
20034 -+ 1% £ Bk 37 Shanghai Yintong & B I 7 & 4R
METERBHIFLR -

FHAEERNIORFEERPHPRER  TEEHEE
B o R2006%F - HEERFIMKEFETAENGES
REEREEBE TR -



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGHREEEBREFE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Ip Cho Yin, J.r. (“Mr. Ip”), aged 74, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director (“INED”) and a member
of each of the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”),
the nomination and corporate governance committee (the
“Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee”) and
the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”)
of the Company on 1 February 2017. He was subsequently
redesignated as a non-executive Director (“NED”) and resigned
as a member of the Remuneration Committee on 7 March
2019. Mr. Ip possesses extensive experience in education.
He is a registered teacher, an educational consultant and a
teacher development expert. He is also a guest speaker of
universities and educational bodies in Hong Kong. Currently,
Mr. Ip is a consultant at the Centre for Education Research
and Development of the Hong Kong Policy Research Institute.
He was the Guest Professor of Hong Kong Financial Services
Institute from 2014 to 2020, the Project Coordinator of the
Education Bureau of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (the “Education Bureau”) from 2010 to
September 2022. He was the Deputy Project Director of the
Education Bureau from 2004 to 2010 and the Chief School
Development Officer of the Education Bureau from 2002 to
2004. Mr. Ip was a teacher of Pui Kiu Middle School from 1973
to 1997 and became the principal from 1997 to 2002.

Mr. Ip was a member of Appeals Board (Education) from 2000
to 2001, a member of Board of Education from 1998 to 2002,
an elected member of Council on Professional Conduct in
Education from 1998 to 2002, a member of Quality Education
Fund Steering Committee from 1997 to 2001, a Standing
Committee member of the Hong Kong Federation of Education
Workers from 1993 to 1999. Mr. Ip was an elected member of
District Board (Islands) from 1994 to 1999.

Mr. Ip obtained his bachelor’s degree in mathematics at
University of Waterloo in Canada in 1972 and a diploma in
education at the School of Education of The Chinese University
of Hong Kong in 1982.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEBREFS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus (“Mr. Chu”), aged 60, was
appointed as an INED on 21 September 2015 and is also the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee. From December 2008 to September
2020, he was the executive director of Chinese People Holdings
Company Limited (stock code: 00681), whose shares are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From August 2021 to
March 2022, and since February 2025, Mr. Zhu has served as
an executive director of Momentum Financial Holdings Limited
(stock code: 01152), whose shares are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chu has/had been an independent
non-executive director of the following companies, whose
shares are/were listed on the Main Board or GEM of the Stock
Exchange:

Name of listed companies Stock code
EHARER R 13 X 5%
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Silk Road Logistics Holdings Limited,
whose shares were delisted on
23 April 2024
HERYIRIEIR B R A A
(B 7202454 A23 B BUE L)

00988

Hyfusin Group Holdings Limited 08512

JEEREERERAA

Peking University Resources (Holdings) 00618
Company Limited

IERERGER)ER A A

Mingfa Group (International) Company 00846
Limited

REEE(ER)BRA A

China First Capital Group Limited 01269

FEEEEEBRA A

Huayu Expressway Group Ltd. 01823

EISREEBBERADQA]

Tianli Holdings Group Limited 00117

RAEREEBR QA
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEBREFS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Chu graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a
master’s degree in business administration in December 1998.
Mr. Chu is a fellow member of HKICPA, an associate member
of the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and the
Chartered Governance Institute.

Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean (“Dr. Lau”), aged 61, was
appointed as an INED on 4 June 2019 and is also a member
of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee. Dr.
Lau has been a solicitor of Cheung & Co., Solicitors since July
2017. She was a partner of Reimer & Partners from May 2004 to
June 2014. Dr. Lau is admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong and
England and Wales and has over 20 years of post-qualification
legal experience.

Dr. Lau obtained her master of laws from the University of Hong
Kong in 2001 and her doctorate degree in civil and commercial
law from the China University of Political Science and Law in
2006. Dr. Lau is a manager of Kam Tsin Village Ho Tung School
and Hotung Secondary School, and a legal adviser to several
organisations and associations.

Mr. Zhou Li (“Mr. Zhou”), aged 59, was appointed as an INED
on 9 August 2022 and is also the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of each of the Nomination and
Corporate Governance Committee and the Audit Committee.
He obtained a Bachelor of Science in Computer Science from
Zhejiang University in 1986 and a Master of Science from
Michigan State University in Computer Science in 1991.

From 1991 to 2000, Mr. Zhou worked at Microsoft Corporation
as a software engineer and subsequently as a technical director.
Since 2000, Mr. Zhou became an entrepreneur and started
several information technology and internet companies in the
PRC. During the period from 2009 to 2014, Mr. Zhou had also
served as the chief executive officer of Shanghai Wicresoft
Co. Ltd., a company established in the PRC that principally
engaged in the provision of software development and network
integration services with over 5,000 software engineers. After
leaving Shanghai Wicresoft Co. Ltd. in 2014, Mr. Zhou became
heavily involved in investment and mergers and acquisition
activities, mostly related to new technologies.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREAREEEBREFS

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cho Yin (“Mr. Cho”) joined as financial controller of a
subsidiary of the Group, Madison (China) Limited in January
2022. He is principally responsible for financial and accounting
matters of the Group.

Mr. Cho is a member of the HKICPA.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Tse Ka Yan (“Ms. Tse”) has been appointed as the
Company Secretary and the Authorised Representative with
effect from 11 December 2023. She is responsible for handling
the company secretarial matters of the Group.

Ms. Tse is an associate member of both the Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance
Institute in the United Kingdom. She graduated from Lingnan
University in Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in business
administration in October 2007. She has over 15 years of
experience in company secretarial sector of listed companies
and a professional firm. She was the Company Secretary of the
Company from May 2015 to September 2019.

] 0 MADISON HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE WD AT

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year”), the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) were principally
engaged in (i) the retail sales and wholesales of a wide
spectrum of wine products and other alcoholic beverages in
Hong Kong with a focus on red wine (the “Wine Business”);
(i) the provision of loan financing and consultancy services (the
“Loan Financing Business”); and (iii) the provision of financial
services (the “Financial Services Business”).

During the Year, the Group’s revenue increased by
approximately 4.4% to approximately HK$71.1 million (2024:
HK$68.1 million). Such increase was mainly due to the increase
in revenue generated from the Loan Financing Business
to approximately HK$50.3 million (2024: HK$46.2 million),
representing an increase of approximately 8.9% which was
partially offset by the decrease in revenue generated from
the Wine Business to approximately HK$20.8 million (2024:
HK$21.9 million), representing a decrease of approximately
5.0%.

The Group's loss for the Year was approximately HK$15.3
million (2024: HK$17.8 million), representing a decrease in loss
of approximately HK$2.5 million as compared with last year. The
decrease in the loss was mainly attributable to (i) the decrease
in finance cost of approximately HK$7.0 million; (ii) the decrease
in net impairment recognised on loan and interest receivables
of approximately HK$3.3 million; (iii) the increase in revenue
of approximately HK$3.0 million; (iv) the decrease in staff cost
of approximately HK$2.2 million; and partially offset by the
decrease in other income of approximately HK$12.7 million.

XK E R

B E2025F3A3IBIEFREEF]) KRR KEKB
ANEl(GH [ AE@ ) EERE)VEEBTE LILE
ZEGEALREMBRBRN  THEIRAB((EE
EEK]D  ()VREEFRERZBARE((EREMEE
¥ RiiVRESBmRE((SRBEEE]) -

FRAEEBNKRZ EFL44%Z 471,100,000/
70 (20244 : 68,100,000 7T) - B EAE B AR
EXmEEBEEN K EFAZE 450,300,000 7T
(20244 : 46,200,000 7T) * FHE K EF498.9% * =B
o AR & B EREEMN KSR 2 E 420,800,000/ T
(20244 :21,900,000/8 L) * HE KRR L %5.0%im #
Y o

N £ B K F BB 4 A 15,300,000 JT (2024 £
17,800,000 % 7T ) * 8 & F & 8 % 2 49 2,500,000
BIL - BETHREZHRFRGHRE KRR DL
7,000,000 7T : (i) B U E R & FI B AERR 2 Bk (B 5 R
4> 493,300,000/ 7T ¢ (i) 42 &= £ F+ 493,000,000/ 7T :
(iv) B T K AN 4> 492,200,00058 7T & I 4% E b U AR
A #712,700,0005% 7T AT 58 7 K 88 o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE WD AT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Wine Business

During the Year, the Group’s revenue from the Wine Business
decreased by approximately 5.0%, which amounted to
approximately HK$20.8 million (2024: HK$21.9 million) and the
Group recorded an increase in segment loss of approximately
8.0%, which amounted to approximately HK$2.7 million (2024:
HK$2.5 million). The economic environment remains uncertain
and thus consumer market remains struggled.

Loan Financing Business

During the Year, the Loan Financing Business recorded an
increase in revenue of approximately 8.9%, which amounted to
approximately HK$50.3 million (2024: HK$46.2 million) and a
segment profit of approximately HK$7.0 million (2024: segment
loss of approximately HK$2.3 million), which were mainly due
to an increase in revenue and a decrease in net impairment
recognised on loan and interest receivables.

The size of Group’s loan portfolio increased to approximately
HK$306.9 million (2024: HK$287.2 million) as compared to last
year. The increase in revenue was mainly due to the increase
in average loan portfolio from HK$295.4 million in the last year
to HK$297.1 million for the Year. The management has been
prudent in granting new loans in light of the prevailing economic
conditions in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group aims to
grant new loans that could be covered by sufficient collaterals,
preferably properties and assets with good quality, and to
borrowers with good credit history. The target customer of the
business are individuals and corporate entities with both long-
term or short-term funding needs for business purposes and
could provide sufficient collaterals for their borrowings. The
Group has a stable source of loan deals from its own business
network and its sales agents.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE WD AT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Loan Financing Business (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount, after allowance for
loan and interest receivables, of the loan portfolio held by the
Group amounted to approximately HK$276.8 million (2024:
HK$264.7 million) with details as follows:

Interest rate

Category of borrowers per month

BERAER B#AZ
%

Corporate 0.3-2.0

ik

Corporate 0.3-0.7

a3

Individual 0.4-3.0

PN

Individual 0.9

{EUN

As at 31 March 2025, approximately 35.4% (2024: 31.6%) of the
carrying amount of the loan portfolio was secured by collaterals
with approximately 64.6% (2024: 68.4%) being unsecured.
At the Year end, the loan made to all borrowers were term
loans with maturity from one to five years, and the loan made
to the largest borrower and the top ten borrowers of the Loan
Financing Business accounted for approximately 6.8% (2024:
10.0%) and 35.0% (2024: 31.1%) of the Group’s loan portfolio
respectively.

XKEE g

BEXBMEEKF)

R2025F3A31H  AKEBERFRBENERBESENKRE
I B AN A B B & M BRE (B (B 49 5 276,800,000%
7t (20244 : 264,700,000/ 7C) * BT :

Approximate
weighting to the
carrying amount of
the Group’s loan

Maturity portfolio
EEAEEERAS

Z|H B HEZBAOLE

2025 2024

% %

Within one year 28 18
1F AR
2-5 years 1 10
2E5F
Within one year 71 71
1F AR
2-5 years - 1
2E5F

HZE2025F3H31H  4935.4% (20244 : 31.6%)H)
EREAEmSBEREARER  464.6%(20244F :
68.4%) BEEMR - REXR » WA ERAZERNER
HEHBRA—FERAFHEHRER  ME—KERA
KA+ R ERABEROERD I AEEERAEEDN
6.8%(2024%F : 10.0%) % 35.0% (20244 : 31.1%) °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE WD AT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Impairment loss

The Group performs impairment assessment on loan and
interest receivables under the Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”)
model. The measurement of ECL takes into account the
historical default experience, the financial position of the
counterparties, value of collaterals as well as the future
prospects of the industries in which the borrowers operate,
considering various external sources of actual and forecast
economic information for estimating the probability of default of
each of these financial assets occurring within their respective
loss assessment time horizon and the loss upon default in each
case. As at 31 March 2025, the impairment allowance for loan
and interest receivables recognised primarily represented the
credit risk involved in collectability of certain default and non-
default loans determined under the Group’s loan impairment
policy, with reference to certain factors including but not limited
to the credit history and financial condition of the borrowers
and the realisation value of the collaterals. Moreover, forward-
looking information including the future macro-economic
conditions affecting the borrowers has also been considered.

The Group has a system in place to closely monitor the
recoverability of its loan portfolio, its credit monitoring measures
including regular collateral reviews against market information
and regular communication with the borrowers in respect of their
financial position, through which the Group would be able to
keep updated with the latest credit profile and risk associated
with each individual borrower and could take appropriate
actions for recovery of a loan at the earliest time. If necessary,
the Group will commence legal actions against the borrowers
for recovery of the overdue loans and take possession of the
collaterals pledged.

A net impairment on loan and interest receivables (the “Loan
Receivables”) of approximately HK$26.5 million (2024
HK$29.8 million) (the “Impairment”) was recognised during the
Year, including approximately HK$17.7 million (2024: HK$9.7
million) being attributed to the ECL to Loan Receivables and
a direct written-off of approximately HK$8.8 million (2024:
HK$20.1 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE WD AT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Impairment loss (Continued)

U

Details of the Impaired Loans, Overdue Loans and
Written-off Loans

As at 31 March 2025, there were 308 loans (2024: 526
loans) (the “Impaired Loans”) to which Impairment was
made in the Year based on the assessment of ECL, out
of which (i) 143 loans (2024: 273 loans) were overdue
and remained outstanding (the “Overdue Loans”); and
(i) 190 loans (2024: 32 loans) had been written-off (the
“Written-off Loans”). The majority of the Impaired Loans
were micro loans. The Overdue Loans and the Written-off
Loans amounted to approximately HK$39.0 million (2024
HK$30.4 million) and HK$8.8 million (2024: HK$20.1
million) respectively, representing approximately 12.7%
(2024: 10.6%) and 2.9% (2024: 7.0%) of the Group’s
overall loan portfolio.

Details of the number of Overdue Loans and the date on
which the Overdue Loans were granted are set out as
follows:

XK Oz
WEEE(Z)

()

CREEXR BHERRCHEERNFS

H 2£2025F3H31H » H308%F B (20244 :
5262 E X)) ([REER]) EAFERIKER
EEBENTGEETTHE  HEf() 14385
K(2024%F : 2732 EFOBPARAEE([AHE
) R()190E E K (20245 : 328 EFH)E
MW ((HMEER]) - RKEDMEERENEE
Ko 8 B B 3R M8 B 3 4 Bl 49 & 39,000,000
7 7T (2024 4F : 30,400,000/ 7T ) % 8,800,000
7T (20244 : 20,100,000/ 7T ) © 415 K &£ B &
BEEREAMN12.7% (20245 : 10.6% ) M2.9%
(20244 : 7.0%) °

BHERNBERBRERRHAMFEBAT

Number of

loans granted

PR

For the year ended 31 March BZ3A3MBLEE ERHNEH
2021 or before 20214 5k 2 A 16
2022 20224 32
2023 20234 51
2024 20244 36
2025 20254 8
143
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE WD AT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Impairment loss (Continued)

(i) Details of the Impaired Loans, Overdue Loans and

Written-off Loans (Continued)

Details of the number of Written-off Loans and the date on
which the Written-off Loans were granted are set out as

XK EOEEz)
WEEEZ)

CRHEEN  BHERREHMHEERNEHES
(%)

EMEERNEA RMEERK L BHFER
T

follows:
Number of
loans granted
PR
For the year ended 31 March BZ3AMBLEE ERHNEH
2021 or before 20214F = 2 Bl 141
2022 20224 46
2023 20234 3
2024 2024 -
2025 20254 -
190

Among the Overdue Loans, there were 14 loans (2024
8 loans) with special mention grading where there was a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
but with no credit impairment (the “Stage 2 Loans”), and
129 loans (2024: 265 loans) with a substandard/doubtful/
loss grading which are assessed to be credit impaired with
one or more event(s) that has/have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that asset occurred
(the “Stage 3 Loans”). The Stage 3 Loans represent loans
with borrowers (i) whose businesses were still in operation
in the past few years but were only unable to repay the
last few installments of the loans; or (ii) who/which were
able to repay but require additional time to the original
repayment schedule and/or may only be able to repay in
smaller installments. As at 31 March 2025, the average
outstanding amount of each of the Stage 3 Loans was
approximately HK$404,000 (2024: HK$111,000), and the
aggregate outstanding amount of the Stage 3 Loans was
approximately HK$52.1 million (2024: HK$29.3 million),
representing approximately 17.0% (2024: 10.2%) of the
Group’s overall loan portfolio.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE WD AT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Impairment loss (Continued)

U

(i)

Details of the Impaired Loans, Overdue Loans and
Written-off Loans (Continued)

In view of the above, the Board is of the view that, despite
the fact that a large number of the Overdue Loans was
categorised as Stage 3 Loans with credit impairment, the
Stage 3 Loans represent a relatively small proportion of the
Group’s overall loan portfolio. As at the date of this annual
report, the Group is still in the process of recovering these
Stage 3 Loans in accordance with the established internal
control and recovery procedures of the Group.

Reasons for and the circumstances leading to the
Impairment

The economic conflict between China and the United
States involving imposing of tariffs has made the economy
of China being struggled. Further, the outbreak of
debt crisis of the real estate developer in the PRC has
aggravated the situation. As such, corporations in the
PRC, in particular the small enterprises, continue to
operate under significant pressure.

By reasons of the above, the repayment ability of the
borrowers was severely impeded, resulting in a rise in
loan defaults and delinquent payments. The amount of
Loan Receivables written-off represented the outstanding
principal loan amount and interests proven to be
irrecoverable in light of the death or bankruptcy or wound-
up of the debtors. Further, the increasing loan default rate
has raised the historical loss rate and the decrease in value
of the secured assets, which would amplify the valuation
of the allowance. Taking into account the increasing credit
risk and the slight recoverability of certain loans, the
Impairment was made accordingly.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Impairment loss (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Reasons for and the circumstances leading to the
Impairment (Continued)

In the light of the rise in loan defaults and delinquent
payments under the current global and regional economic
condition, the total net impairment loss recognised,
including the Written-off Loans, comprised approximately
8.6% (2024: 10.4%) of the total amount of the Loan
Receivables. When granting loans to potential borrowers,
the management strives to strike a right balance between
the relevant risks and profits, and has taken into
consideration the prevailing economic environment.

Value of inputs used or key assumptions adopted in
the valuation

The Company has engaged BonVision International
Appraisals Limited (“BonVision”), an independent valuer,
to conduct valuation of the ECL of the Loan Receivables as
at 31 March 2025 in Hong Kong and the PRC respectively.

Valuation of ECL of the Loan Receivables in Hong Kong
BonVision adopted the probability of default method
(the “PD Method”) for the valuation of ECL of the Loan
Receivables in Hong Kong. Major inputs of the PD Method
include (i) exposure at default (“EAD”); (ii) probability of
default (“PD”); and (iii) loss given default (“LGD”). The
valuation is based on the following formula:

ECL = EAD x PD x LGD
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEEENWED

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) KOk 7
Impairment loss (Continued) WEEEZ)

(iii) Value of inputs used or key assumptions adopted in (iii) FEPFEANBAEBREANETERR(E)
the valuation (Continued)

Valuation of ECL of the Loan Receivables in Hong Kong EBENE A TEAR s EEEEE (&)
(Continued)
As at 31 March 2025, the amount of EAD was approximately MR2025%43H31H * EADAY®FE4)./414,900,000
HK$14.9 million. Details of which are set out below: BIT o FEIFHE WM
As at
31 March 2025
720255
3HA31H
HK$’000
FET
Gross balance of the Loan Receivables EREINE KM 825 R EAD
in Hong Kong and EAD 14,900
Percentage Sensitivity
change Sensitivity  Weighted Return
Elalid 4 BRE R D RE = 3R
a) Hong Kong Gross Domestic a) AR EEBEN ) 3.000% (8.679) (0.260)
Product (Note 1)
Add: Intercept o B (3.981)
Logistic Forward Looking Global HIRE M2 BGE 4R (4.241)
Probability of Default BB
Forward Looking Global BIRE M2 BRE 4 K 1.419%

Probability of Default

b) Average Global Probability of b) FIHRIRBEAIR (Hf5E2) 2.244%
Default (Note 2)

c) Credit Rating Specific Factor c) EEFRFERE(M73) 0.000% - 32.510%
(Note 3)
Forward-looking Adjustment AT I 1 78 2 0.632
Probability of Default PR OR i S 1.419% - 21.972%
d) Recovery Rate (Note 4) d) el = (ff7F4) 0.000%
Notes: Total figures may not sum up due to rounding MiaE - BEELHBRNERBH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEEEFNWED

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Impairment loss (Continued)
(iii) Value of inputs used or key assumptions adopted in (iii) HEPEANBABSFEANETERR(E)
the valuation (Continued)
Valuation of ECL of the Loan Receivables in Hong Kong BB ENE AR s EEEEE (&)
(Continued)

1)

Hong Kong Gross
Domestic Product

BERERMEERE

XK EOEEz)
WEEEZ)

Based on the percentage change in the Hong Kong real gross domestic
product as at the date of valuation as extracted from International
Monetary Fund.

BRERSFEEREEECEGNEE  RTGRHSNEEERERNE
ERENBILEL -

2)  Average Global Probability of 2020-2024 average global probability of default as extracted from
Default Moody’s.
FHEHEHR e BB EM2020F Z2024F FH R RE MR -
3)  Credit Rating Specific Average cumulative issuer-weighted global default rates by alphanumeric
Factor rating as extracted from Moody’s.
EEAREEAZR BEeBEnNEE  UWFSHFARREENBTANEEZRENOEN
FHRFEUE -
4)  Recovery Rate Proportion that expected to be recovered when there is a default on the
loan.
1y 1B =& EERLRENRTER S E AL H -
Valuation of ECL of Loan Receivables in the PRC o B fE UL B L B TR R S BB R 15 E
BonVision adopted the provision matrix (the “Provision FREMNEBEEE([REEE DEPHEKE
Matrix”), which is based on the Company’s historical loss FNNEHEEBBEETHE  EERARQFE
rates over the expected life of the Loan Receivables and EWERTERFHANESLEEER - WHATE
is adjusted for forward-looking factor, for the valuation of MAEZELEHAE BRESENEZEHAEBRE
ECL of the Loan Receivables in the PRC. Major inputs of EADRTEHAEE X ([ELR]) - ETERA TR
the Provision Matrix include EAD and expected loss rate = :

(“ELR”). The valuation is based on the following formula:

ECL = EAD x ELR

JEHR{= & & 18 = EAD x ELR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEEENWED

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) XK Oz
Impairment loss (Continued) WEEEZ)

(iii) Value of inputs used or key assumptions adopted in (iii) HEPEANBAEBREANETERR(E)
the valuation (Continued)

Valuation of ECL of Loan Receivables in the PRC e EN B S B TE RS B E R E (&)
(Continued)
As at 31 March 2025, the amount of EAD was MR2025%F3A31H r EADME&RBLOAE AR
approximately RMB278.2 million (equivalent to 278,200,000 jt ( 8 & ® # 292,000,000
approximately HK$292.0 million). Details of which are set TT) o sEIBEEY WM T ¢
out below:
As at
31 March 2025
R2025%F
3H31H
HK$’000
FET
Gross balance of the Loan Receivables R B FE IR B 4 fR AR R ) EAD
in the PRC and EAD 292,000
Percentage Sensitivity
change Sensitivity Weighted Return
B #E BRE SR h0RE B R
a) PRC Gross Domestic Product a) WEEBEMET) 4.500% (18.773) (0.845)
(Note 1)
Add: Intercept DI~ ] (2.932)
Logistic Forward-looking Global AIE M2 EE QX (3.777)
Probability of Default EEER
Forward-looking Global Probability — &ij #& | & BGE 4 & 2.237%
of Default
b) Average Global Probability b) FH2IKELH R 2.244%
of Default (Note 2) (Ktzt2)
Forward-looking Adjustment AT BE 1 S & 0.997
c) Historical Default Rate (Note 3)  ¢) B E51E%= (ff53) 1.540% - 96.636%
Probability of Default & 4 & 1.536% — 100.000%
d) Recovery Rate (Note 4) d) Wm = (f7iF4) 0.000% - 100.000%
Note: Total figures may not sum up due to rounding Hiet : BEERDER Y ERLLEAM
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) XK EOEEz)
Impairment loss (Continued) WEEEE)

(iii) Value of inputs used or key assumptions adopted in

the valuation (Continued)

Valuation of ECL of Loan Receivables in the PRC

(Continued)
1)  PRC Gross Domestic

Product
s NEEBE

2)  Average Global Probability
of Default
FHRIREAHX

3) Historical Default Rate

FELER=E

4)  Recovery Rate

(iii) AEFEANBAERKANEIERR(E)

T E g B e RS BRI E (&)

Based on the percentage change in the PRC real gross domestic product
as at the date of valuation as extracted from International Monetary Fund.
BERSFEEREEEEGNEE  RTGEHSNTEERERNE
ERENBILEL -

2020-2024 average global probability of default as extracted from
Moody'’s.
1 4% £ 23 19 20204F F2024%F T2 HE LB E

Rate calculated from the data in prior years including historical receivables
settlement pattern and loss incurred.
BREAEFENHEB(BRELRRRBAEEAREENER)GFEDN
b= o

Recovery Rate of senior secured bonds and senior unsecured bonds as
extracted from Moody’s further adjusted with the security status and risk
category of the Loan Receivables.

g [a] =& BEEROENELAEREFARELEEFESFHKRE R - WREEK
EFH IR KRR BRI — P -
(iv) Valuation methods and reason for their adoption (iv) HESFERERAER
The Group’s impairment assessment policy on Loan N £8 (B ¥ FE W B SR A0 R (B BT SR B AN A
Receivables was set out in note 4 to the consolidated IS8R Ralire B mE([HHEREK]) WE
financial statements (the “Financial Statements”) of the 4

Company as included in this annual report.

The Group estimated the ECL of Loan Receivables in Hong
Kong and in the PRC under the general approach and
the simplified approach in Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard 9 respectively, according to the accounting
policy of the Group.

As stated in note 4 to the Financial Statements, the
measurement of ECL is a function of the PD, LGD and
EAD and the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Impairment loss (Continued)

(iv) Valuation methods and reason for their adoption

(v)

(Continued)

Based on the valuation reports, BonVision adopted the
PD Method and the Provision Matrix for the valuation
of ECL of Loan Receivables in Hong Kong and the PRC
respectively, which are commonly used in measuring ECL
of receivables.

With the support of the valuation results, the allowance of
approximately HK$30.1 million was recognised as at 31
March 2025. The Impairment of approximately HK$26.5
million was recognised for the Year.

As at the date of this annual report, there are no
subsequent changes to the valuation methods as referred
to above following their adoption.

Internal control procedures

The Group has credit policies, guidelines and procedures
in place which cover key internal controls of a loan
transaction including (a) due diligence, (b) credit appraisal/
approval, (c) proper execution of documentations, (d)
continuous monitoring and (e) collection and recovery.
Before granting loan to a potential customer, the Group
performs credit appraisal process to assess the potential
borrower’s credit quality and defines the credit limit
granted to the borrower. The credit appraisal process
encompasses detailed assessment on the credit history
and financial background of the borrower, as well as the
value and nature of the collateral to be pledged. The credit
limit of the loan successfully granted to the borrower will be
subject to regular credit review by the management as part
of the ongoing loan monitoring process.

The following is a summary of the key internal controls of
the Group’s money lending operation:

(a) Due diligence

Identity check and financial background check on
the loan applicant will be performed. Information
provided by the loan applicant including identity,
financial statements and income proof of the
applicant will be checked and verified by the
responsible loan officer, where appropriate,
company, legal, credit and bankruptcy search on the
loan applicant, and land search and site visit on the
property offered as collateral, will be conducted.

XK Oz
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REBEGHEERS  ZERDBIRAPDE KB EERE
LHEBLTENERERNEREEERET

Bl ZEHEATERVFBBHEESE
MEAFE -
EHEELEERHIET W202543A31HER

B % 4930,100,000 87T - AFEERBELD
26,500,000 7T °

$$ﬁa% LR E R ERERMNE I E
AEEEERF

$%laﬂm@§ﬁﬁ eI MR MEEX
%2@&@%%# aﬁuiﬁﬁé (=

AHfE B OB BRI XM  (dFEEER(E
ERRYE - ﬁﬁ EXEPRELERZH - K
SEQETEETERFUAFGEEERALZ
FEEER YRAEABERARLZEEEE - &
EFEBAEERAATEERAZEERER

MBER ARRERZEMD2ZMERE
AERBEERERBRL — 85 wmﬁ%

WﬁAZ% ITNEERENAEEEE BE

A—@cA
l:l/\

MTAAEERERBHNEZAIMEEME

(a) EBEBEFEZ
HERRFAETENRERMBERE
& EREA A%%Tzéﬂ “%$m

AZE50  FBERRRBAZER  SHE
BEEX Eﬁéﬁﬁ WEﬁK 1 %
EXBEBALETRA  ER FERNE

HE - Iﬁ%khﬁﬁﬁﬁmZ%%ﬁﬁ
EMEREHER -

EMREREESRAT F82024/25 23



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) XB OBz
Impairment loss (Continued) WEEE(Z)

(v) Internal control procedures (Continued) (v)

AEZERF(#F)

(b)

Credit appraisal/approval

Detailed assessment on the credit history and
financial background of the loan applicant, as well as
the value and nature of the collateral to be pledged,
will be conducted. There will be credit assessment
including analysis on the repayment ability and credit
history of the loan applicant, and analysis on the
potential recovery from realisation of the collateral.
The credit assessment process will be conducted
by the responsible loan officer and reviewed by the
responsible loan manager. Credit limits to be granted
to each loan applicant are determined based on the
result of such assessment.

In respect of the approval process of the key internal
control procedures, as a matter of enhanced internal
control, the higher the amount of the loan, the higher
the hierarchy of approvers is required. Details of
which are set out follows:

(b) 5B
BHFEATIEEREBAZEERHERETK
BE UREFARZEEREE - 58T
EEREINMERBEBAZERENDRE
Btk UERSMERER QR 2EEE
Wk - EEFHEFRBEEEERAEE
T THEEEAREERE - RaSRIE
FHERANEREBARTEREE -

MEARAMEZEREFOREBRENS - &
R AMEZENER  EXERES -
EHANEELES - HFBHIOT ¢

Loan size (RMB)
ERREARYE)

Approval hierarchy
#E BB AR

Above RMB1,000,000
A K#1,000,0007T JA £

Loan approval committee
ERELZESR

RMB800,001 — RMB1,000,000

General manager

AR #800,001 7t AR #¥1,000,0007T FERAE L
RMB300,001 — RMB800,000 Assistant general manager
AR ®300,0017TE A R 800,0007T 48 42 78 ) 78

RMB200,000 — RMB300,000
AR #200,0007T = A R #300,0007T

Risk control department manager

2 e 4% 1 3P P A4S 32

Below RMB200,000
AR #200,0007T A T

Responsible officer of risk control department

REREI PR R A
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Impairment loss (Continued)
(v) Internal control procedures (Continued)

()

(d)

Proper execution of documentations

For loan application recommended by the responsible
loan manager and duly approved by the designated
approver in the approval hierarchy of the Group’s
money-lending subsidiary, the responsible loan
officer will arrange preparation and proper execution
of the loan documentations under the supervision of
the responsible loan manager, and usually with the
support of professional lawyers.

Continuous monitoring

There will be continuous monitoring on the
repayments from borrower, regular communication
with the borrower of its updated financial position,
and regular review on credit limit of the loan granted
and market value of the collateral pledged performed
by the responsible loan officer and manager.

The loan collection department of the Group will also
review the risk level of each loan on a weekly basis
and submit a report to the general manager at least
on a monthly basis on their recommended risk level.
Where necessary, the loan collection management
department will alert the senior management and/or
the general manager of the money lending business
segment on events (such as default in repayment)
which requires further actions, including legal
actions, and advise the Group on the appropriate
actions. The accounting department and treasury
department of the Group will also keep track of the
repayment schedule constantly and alert to senior
management in case of any failed or late repayment.

XK Oz
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Impairment loss (Continued)

(v) Internal control procedures (Continued)
(e) Collection and recovery

Formal reminder and legal demand letter will
be issued to the borrower if there is an overdue
payment. Where appropriate, legal action will be

KOk #)
BWEEE(Z)
(v) ABEZRRE(E)
(e) EF Y]
S ERME - AR ABEERBOR
EERRRE . MER  BHERAREE
ARALKE B HS EA A E R IK

commenced against the borrower for recovery of the mm e
amount due and taking possession of the collateral

pledged.

The Group has in place a set of established recovery
procedure for recovering outstanding debts, details

of which are set out as follows:

AEEEET - ERENREERFAKD
HAREENER - EFBIIHOT

Timetable Action(s)

i [ 3% 78

Upon expiry of the maturity date of the loans The collection department will call 3-5 times a day to
EREHHEmE remind the debtor to repay the loan as soon as possible.

If the debtors were not found, the collection department
will contact the co-borrower, guarantor or other contact
person directly.

ERFFEREBRITIEMAER  REABAZRER
B - WA BEBA - RIEKREPISERBE AR RGN

A~ ERAKEAMERAE A o

Overdue balance not settled within 3-7 days
after the maturity date of the loans
BHERN EREN A BEIETRARAEE

A “collection notice” will be issued, and the staff will visit
the debtors and understand the reasons of the delay in
repayment, and demand for the repayment. Under limited
circumstances, the Company may modify the term of loan
or sign an extension agreement if there is a solid proof of
the repayment ability of the debtor.
BHMERRD] BIRFFEBA  THRTEEERNR
I WERER - EFRNBERT @ MAZERABBAER
BENHBEER  ARFAXSEHREFPRAFZLERA R
a%%

Overdue balance not settled within 30 days
after the maturity date of the loans
BEE RN EREN BB R30RAREF

Several door-to-door visits will be arranged, and the
Company may exercise other appropriate measures in
order to ensure the debtors to repay the overdue balance
in a timely manner.

HREEZREFED - BXRQ TiA%HXEﬁﬂ EE
AR B A R EES L

Overdue balance not settled within 30-40 days
after the maturity date of the loans
A RN ERE B HZS0E40KAKREE

Legal actions will be taken against the debtors.

1 EREE B B ARDERITE ©
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Year, the Group’s revenue amounted to
approximately HK$71.1 million (2024: HK$68.1 million),
representing an increase of approximately HK$3.0 million or
4.4% as compared with last year. The revenue comprised of (i)
approximately HK$20.8 million (2024: HK$21.9 million) from the
Wine Business; and (ii) approximately HK$50.3 million (2024:
HK$46.2 million) from the Loan Financing Business. No revenue
was generated from the Financial Services Business during the
Year (2024: Nil).

Gross profit margin from the Wine Business was decreased to
approximately 22.5% (2024: 24.5%). Such decrease was mainly
attributable to more sales was made for low margin product.
Total gross profit margin was increased to approximately 77.3%
as compared with that of approximately 75.7% last year due to
the increase in the proportion of revenue generated from the
Loan Financing Business.

Gross profit for the Year was approximately HK$55.0
million (2024: HK$51.5 million), representing an increase of
approximately 6.8% as compared with last year and was
mainly due to the increase in revenue from the Loan Financing
Business. Details of the reasons of the increase in revenue
and gross profit were disclosed in the sub-section headed
“Business Review” above. Staff costs and administrative and
other operating expenses for the Year were approximately
HK$29.4 million and HK$7.7 million respectively (2024: HK$31.7
million and HK$8.6 million respectively), representing a decrease
of approximately 7.3% and 10.5% respectively as compared
with last year. Depreciation was approximately HK$3.6 million,
which was decreased by approximately 14.3% when compared
to approximately HK$4.2 million for the year ended 31 March
2024.

Other income decreased from approximately HK$15.0 million
to approximately HK$2.3 million for the Year. It was mainly
attributed to a decrease in net exchange gain of approximately
HK$10.6 million.

The finance costs for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$6.5 million (2024: HK$13.5 million) which were mainly
incurred on borrowings, lease liabilities and loan from a non-
controlling shareholder.

Bt # [ B8

FR - AREBRKE L AE71,100,0005 7T (2024 F -
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

The Group’s loss for the Year was approximately HK$15.3
million (2024: HK$17.8 million), representing a decrease in
loss of approximately 14.0% as compared with last year. The
decrease in the loss was mainly attributable to (i) the decrease
in finance cost of approximately HK$7.0 million; (ii) the decrease
in net impairment recognised on loan and interest receivables
of approximately HK$3.3 million; (iii) the increase in revenue
of approximately HK$3.0 million; (iv) the decrease in staff cost
of approximately HK$2.2 million; and partially offset by the
decrease in other income of approximately HK$12.7 million.

The loss included a net impairment recognised on loan and
interest receivables arising from the Loan Financing Business of
approximately HK$26.5 million (2024: HK$29.8 million), details
of which are disclosed in the sub-section headed “Business
Review” above.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s net current assets were
approximately HK$127.7 million (2024: HK$63.7 million),
including cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$22.3
million (2024: HK$34.4 million). The Group had both interest
bearing and non-interest bearing borrowings, which mainly
comprised borrowings and loan from a non-controlling
shareholder amounted to approximately HK$94.7 million (2024:
HK$100.6 million). The Group’s financial resources were funded
mainly by loans and its shareholders’ funds.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s current ratio, as calculated by
dividing current assets by current liabilities, was approximately
1.7 times (2024: 1.8 times) and the gearing ratio, as measured
by the debts of non-trade nature, excluding derivative financial
instruments and lease liabilities, divided by total equity, was
approximately 63.6% (2024: 88.8%).

Foreign Currency Exposure

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had certain bank balances and
payables denominated in foreign currencies, mainly Renminbi
(“RMB”), Japanese Yen (“dPY”), Euro (“EUR”) and Pound
sterling (“GBP”), which exposed the Group to foreign currency
risk. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Treasury Policy

The Group adopts a conservative approach towards its treasury
policies. The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by
performing ongoing credit evaluation of the financial conditions
of its clients. To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely
monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity
structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and commitments can
meet its funding requirements.

Capital Structure
As at 31 March 2025, the total number of shares of the
Company was 623,127,227.

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital are set
out in note 34 to the Financial Statements.

Capital Commitments
As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any capital
commitments (2024: Nil).

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities (2024: Nil).

Charges on Group Assets
Details of charges on the Group assets are set out in note 32 to
the Financial Statements.

Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the Year (2024: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
DISPOSALS AND ACQUISITIONS

During the Year, the Group disposed of 38% equity interest in
Hackett Enterprises Limited. Details of the disposal are set out in
note 36 to the Financial Statements.

Saved as disclosed above, there was no significant investment,
material disposal and acquisition of subsidiaries, associates or
joint ventures by the Group.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the Year, the Group’s business comprised three principal
segments, namely (i) the Wine Business; (i) the Loan Financing
Business; and (iii) the Financial Services Business which
accounted for approximately 29.3%, 70.7% and 0% (2024:
32.2%, 67.8% and 0%) of the total revenue respectively.

As disclosed in the sub-section headed “Business Review”
above, the economic environment had a material impact to the
Group’s financial results. As compared with last year, the Group
recorded a decrease in revenue in the Wine Business and an
increase in revenue in Loan Financing Business of approximately
HK$1.1 million and HK$4.1 million respectively and no revenue
was generated from the Financial Services Business for the
Year.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s result of operations may fluctuate significantly
from time to time due to seasonality and other factors. The
Directors of the Company are aware that the Group is exposed
to various risks and the principal risks and uncertainties which
are summarised below.

This summary should not be regarded as a complete and
comprehensive statement of all potential risks and uncertainties
faced by the Group, but rather those risks which the Group
currently believes may have a significant impact on the Group’s
performance and future prospects.

The Wine Business ()  slow-moving inventory
(i) product liability claims
(i) fluctuation in the foreign currency
exchange rates

The Loan Financing (i)
Business

customer or counterparty to a
financial instrument failing to meet
its contractual obligations

(i)  failure to retain and motivate key
management personnel to conduct
business

withdrawals and terminations of

projects or defaults or delays in

payments by clients

(i) failure to retain and motivate key
management personnel to conduct
business

(i) exposure to professional liability

and litigation

The Financial Services (i)
Business
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed 103 employees
(2024: 113). The Group determines the employees’
remuneration based on factors such as qualification, duty,
contributions and years of experience. In addition, the Group
provides comprehensive training programs to its employees or
sponsors the employees to attend various job-related training
courses. Apart from basic remuneration, share options may
be granted under the share option scheme of the Company to
eligible employees by reference to the Group’s performance
as well as the individual’s contribution. In addition, each of the
sales team members is entitled to a commission with reference
to the sales volume achieved by them. The Directors believe that
the compensation packages offered by the Group to its staff are
competitive in comparison with market standards and practices.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to building an environmentally-friendly
corporation and always takes the environmental protection
issues into consideration during daily operation. The Group
does not produce material waste nor emit material quantities of
air pollutants. The Group also strives to minimise the adverse
environmental impacts by encouraging the employees to recycle
office supplies and other materials and to save electricity and
water.

For details, please refer to the section headed “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” below. No material impact of
the relevant laws and regulations in relation to environment is
identified on business operations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company itself is an investment holding company, the
shares of which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.
The operations of the Group are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC and Hong Kong. As such,
the Group’s operations shall comply with relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong accordingly. During
the Year, the Group has complied with all applicable laws and
regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong in all material respects.
The Group shall continue to keep itself updated with the
requirements of the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC
and Hong Kong and adhere to them to ensure compliance.

BUSINESS PROSPECT

Looking ahead to 2025, while we still expect the global
economic environment to be challenging and remain uncertain,
the Directors will continue to enhance the Group’s businesses
through reviewing our existing business portfolio and will adopt
a prudent approach and make strategic adjustment whenever
necessary, so as to remain competitive under the rapidly
changing economic environment. The Group remains open to
new investors who may bring in strategic collaboration and
financial support for business expansion.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year is set out in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Such discussion
forms part of this Directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND
GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are
set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

Analysis of the performance by the Group for the Year by
business and geographical segments is set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on pages 139 and 275 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to HK$Nil (2024: HK$112.3 million).

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
pages 135 to 136 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the Year (2024: Nil).
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The declaration, form, frequency and amount of any dividend
payout of the Company must be in accordance with relevant
laws, rules, and regulations and subject to the memorandum
of association and articles of association of the Company
(the “Articles of Association”). Subject to compliance
with applicable laws, rules, regulations and the Articles of
Association, in deciding whether to propose any dividend
payout, the Board will take into account the Group’s financial
results, the earnings and distributable reserves, the operations
and liquidity requirements, the debt ratio and possible effects on
the credit lines, and the development plans of the Company.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) is
scheduled to be held on Friday, 1 August, 2025. For the purpose
of ascertaining Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at
the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Monday, 28 July 2025 to Friday, 1 August 2025 (both days
inclusive), during which no transfer of Shares will be registered.
In order for a shareholder of the Company to be eligible to
attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer forms accompanied
with the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 25 July 2025.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 276 of
this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the Company’s share option scheme adopted by
the Shareholders on 21 September 2015 (the “Share Option
Scheme”) and the movements in the Company’s share options
held by the Directors during the Year are set out in note 38
to the consolidated financial statements and “Share Option
Scheme” section contained in this Directors’ report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association and there is no restriction against such rights
under the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
(including sale of treasury shares) during the Year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the Year are set out in note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report
are as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Jiang Tian (appointed with effect from 12 August 2024)
Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan Shirley

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Ji Zuguang (Chairman)
Mr. Ip Cho Yin, J.,.

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus

Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean

Mr. Zhou Li

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association,
Mr. Jiang Tian shall retire at the forthcoming AGM and, being
eligible, he offers himself for re-election.

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association,
Mr. Zhou Li and Mr. Ip Cho Yin, J.p. shall retire at the
forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, they offer themselves for
re-election.

BrERE

SRR EF A REEBREZ G MFHSE
EEPITERBZSENZIRG  REARBARL

AR AR EREITHA -

BE HEIFEEIAXAQRFAN LHHES

FA - ARFXEEAMBLARLERBE - HEXE
BEFMARFN EHES(BRELEEFRND) -

ME- BMERRZRRE
F AEEZYE  BERSBZE
A BT MEM T -

E=E
AFERBEAREAHZESEMT

HITES
EREAE(B2024F8F12H HEZE (Fir £ 3%)
R EIME L

FHITES
TR E(EE)
HEHEEBLE  cFmt

BYFHTES
REEEE
HEaEEL

B At

RIFZRAMAESIO)ME - ERELEHNEERREF

Re LRI BRNEERLBEBEETL -

BREERMAFESANG  AARERKHEELSE  «
FotrAREERFBFAS LRE  AREHFTE

BRIUBEEEEET-

EMREREESRAT F82024/25 35



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEWRE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 5 to 10 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
AND APPOINTMENT LETTERS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years which is
automatically renewed for successive terms of one year each
upon expiry of the then-current term and shall be terminated by
either party giving to the other not less than three months’ notice
in writing.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years unless
terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing served
by either party, which is subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election in accordance with the Articles of Association and the
GEM Listing Rules.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three
years unless terminated by not less than one month’s notice
in writing served by either party, which is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Articles of
Association and the GEM Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the Directors’ service contracts as disclosed in this
report and the granting of share options to the Directors, details
of which is set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of
the Year.
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group during the Year are set out in notes 13
and 14 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Directors are paid fees in line with market practice. The
Group adopted the following main principles in determining the
remuneration of the Directors and other employees;

(1) No individual should determine his or her own
remuneration;

(2)  Remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies
with whom the Group competes for human resources;

(3) Remuneration should reflect performance and
responsibility with a view to motivating and retaining high
performing individuals and enhancing the value of the
Company to its Shareholders; and

(4) Share options are granted to the senior management or
staff as incentives for their contribution to the growth and
development of the Group in the intermediate to longer
time frame.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)), which would have to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interest or short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO) or which were required to be recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO
or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating
to the securities transactions by the directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ EERBEETHRAERRQAAZEM
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN MHELZERY  HERORESHE
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES mRRB (&)
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION
(Continued)
Long Position in the Company’s Shares and REAATRODREBRAZHE
underlying Shares
Approximate Number of Approximate
Number of percentage underlying percentage
issued Shares of actual shares of aggregate
Capacity/ held/ shareholding pursuant to Aggregate interests over
Name of Directors nature of interest interested in  over the Shares*  share options interests the Shares*
¥/ #E BERER
ERNERT RGBS REBREZ BERERA
ESpE 5%/ BuME R4 E B HBERHHA B EEER b
Mr. Ji Zuguang Beneficial owner = = 100,000 100,000 0.016%
(“Mr. Ji") (Note 2(a))
sEXEE(EE]) E&fAA - - (Hi7#2(2) 100,000 0.016%
Mr. Ip Cho Yin, J.p. Beneficial owner = = 130,000 130,000 0.021%
(“Mr. Ip”) (Notes 1(a)
and 2(b))
RHBLE  xret ERBAA - - (Hiti(a) 130,000 0.021%
([Ex£]) &2Mb)
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus Beneficial owner = = 30,000 30,000 0.005%
(“Mr. Chu”) (Note 1(b))
KerrE(REE]) ERfEAA - - (Hizt1) 30,000 0.005%
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION
(Continued)

Long Position in the Company’s Shares and

underlying Shares (Continued)
Notes:

1. On 3 April 2018, the Company granted a total of 219,000,000
share options, of which 5,600,000 share options were granted
to the following persons entitling them to subscribe for a total of
5,600,000 Shares at the exercise price of HK$1.89 per Share.
Immediately upon the share consolidation became effective on 20
January 2022, the adjusted number of share options and adjusted
exercise price would be 560,000 share options and HK$18.9
respectively.

a. 30,000 share options (carrying the right to subscribe for
30,000 Shares) were granted to Mr. Ip in his then capacity
as an independent non-executive Director (“INED”). He was
re-designated as a non-executive Director (“NED”) on 7
March 2019; and

b. 30,000 share options (carrying the right to subscribe for
30,000 Shares) were granted to Mr. Chu in his capacity as
an INED.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION
(Continued)

Long Position in the Company’s Shares and

underlying Shares (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

2. On 6 December 2019, the Company granted a total of
355,400,000 share options, of which 15,000,000 share options
were granted to the following persons entitling them to subscribe
for a total of 15,000,000 Shares at the exercise price of HK$0.207
per Share. Immediately upon the share consolidation became
effective on 20 January 2022, the adjusted number of share
options and adjusted exercise price would be 1,500,000 share
options and HK$2.07 respectively.

a. 100,000 share options (carrying the right to subscribe for
100,000 Shares) were granted to Mr. Ji in his capacity as an
NED; and

b. 100,000 share options (carrying the right to subscribe for
100,000 Shares) were granted to Mr. Ip in his capacity as an
NED.

* The number of issued Shares as at 31 March 2025 is 623,127,227
Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company nor their close
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as defined in the SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 March 2025, so far as known to the Directors, the
particulars of the corporations or individuals (other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company) who had any
interests or short positions in the shares and the underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register required to
be kept pursuant to section 336 of the SFO (“Register of
Shareholders”) were as follows:

M2025F3A31H  BEEMHM  RIEZHFMHEK
{5 55 XV EB 55 2 & 370 B 2 16 3L 1A AN 1 R) 3% BR 3 B D
RIREE S KA ERPIE336IEFEN S LM ([RE
BEEMDPRARABRO REERDAEREMER R
REMZEBLENAL(RRAEEREGRITHRA
BRRIMNZFFIBEMT ¢

Long position in the Company’s Shares and RAEAATRGOEEBRGOZHE
underlying Shares
Approximate Number of Approximate
percentage underlying percentage
of actual shares of aggregate
Number shareholding pursuant interests
Capacity/ of Shares over the to share Aggregate over the
Name nature of interest Notes interested Shares* options interests Shares*
BERER
REEHN ERE REBREZ BESERG
#E 5/ RHHE fifat REBE  BOEAL BEROHAE BEE BAREIL
Royal Spectrum Holding Company Limited ~ Beneficial owner 1,2&5 195,920,000 31.44% - 195,920,000 31.44%
(“Royal Spectrum’)
Royal Spectrum Holding Company Limited ~ E#Z#8 A
(TRoyal Spectrum])
Devoss Global Holdings Limited Interest in controlled 1,2,3&4 195,920,000 31.44% 600,000 196,520,000 31.54%
(“Devoss Global’) corporation and
beneficial owner
Devoss Global Holdings Limited REHEENERR
(TDevoss Global ) ERBEAA
CVP Financial Group Limited (“CVP”) Beneficial owner 345 50,487,272 8.10% - 50,487,272 8.10%
EREREEERAA(ER]) EREAA
Mr. Ting Pang Wan Raymond ("Mr. Ting”)  Interest in controlled 1,234 &5 261,553,893 41.97% 600,000 262,153,893 42.07%

corporation and

beneficial owner
TEEX£(T £ St EEMEL R

ERERA
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

Long position in the Company’s Shares and
underlying Shares (Continued)

fb A £
22 N 74
= &R

RERXARGREBRO 2HFR(Z)

Approximate Number of Approximate
percentage underlying percentage
of actual shares of aggregate
Number shareholding pursuant interests
Capacity/ of Shares over the to share Aggregate over the
Name nature of interest Notes interested Shares* options interests Shares*
BEBR&ER
BEESN tRE REBREZ BESERG
#e 51/ BHE Mzt REBE  BOEAL* BEROEAE BEE HAREAL
Ms. Luu Huyen Boi (‘Ms. Luu’) Interest of spouse 6 261,553,893 41.97% 600,000 262,153,893 42.07%
Luu Huyen Boir £ ([LuuZ £ |) [k 3
Software Research Associates, Inc. Beneficial owner 7 40,454,545 6.49% - 40,454,545 6.49%
(“SRA”)
Software Research Associates, Inc. EREEA
(TSRAJ)
SRA Holdings, Inc. (“SRA Holdings”) Interest in controlled 7&8 40,454,545 6.49% - 40,454,545 6.49%
corporation and beneficial
owner
SRA Holdings, Inc. ([ SRA Holdings ) REHEENERRERE
AA
Atlantis Capital Group Holdings Limited Interest in controlled 9 68,224,500 10.95% - 68,224,500 10.95%
(“ACGHL") corporation
Atlantis Capital Group Holdings Limited REHEENER
(TACGHL))
Ms. Liu Yang (‘Ms. Liu’) Interest in controlled 9 68,224,500 10.95% - 68,224,500 10.95%
corporation
Hrat(8kt)) REH BN ER
Ample Cheer Limited (‘“Ample Cheer”) Interest in controlled 10 221,323,638 35.52% - 221,328,638 35.52%
corporation
Ample Cheer Limited ([Ample Cheer]) — SiE&IZE MR
Chu Yuet Wah (“Mrs. Chu”) Interest in controlled 10 221,323,638 35.52% - 221,323,638 35.52%
corporation
ZRE(T)K]) REHEE N ER
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND FERFEREMALITRAEZATRLR
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND HERONEZRAXAE (&)

SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES

AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE

COMPANY (continued)

Long position in the Company’s Shares and REATBROREBROZEFR (&)
underlying Shares (Continued)

Approximate Number of Approximate
percentage underlying percentage
of actual shares of aggregate
Number shareholding pursuant interests
Capacity/ of Shares over the to share Aggregate over the
Name nature of interest Notes interested Shares* options interests Shares*
BEBR&ER
BEEHN tRE REBREZ BRERER G
#e 51/ BHE Mzt REBE  BOEAL* BEROEAE BEE HAREAL
Kingston Finance Limited (‘Kingston”) Persons have a security 10 221,323,638 35.52% - 221,323,638 35.52%
interest in shares
2728 %5 R A7 ([Kingston]) RAREERRDHA
Bartha International Limited Beneficial owner 11 36,770,000 5.90% - 36,770,000 5.90%
(“Bartha International’)
Bartha International Limited EREEA
(TBartha International |)
Mr. Li Ran Interest in controlled 11 36,770,000 5.90% - 36,770,000 5.90%
corporation
FEkHE RETEENER
Mr. Pu Xueyuan Interest in controlled 11 36,770,000 5.90% - 36,770,000 5.90%
corporation
RERLHE REHEENER
Ms. Wang Xuping Interest in controlled 11 36,770,000 5.90% - 36,770,000 5.90%
corporation
ThRERL RELEENER
Ms. Zhang Fengge Interest in controlled 11 36,770,000 5.90% - 36,770,000 5.90%
corporation
REETL RETZENER
Ms. Wang Hui Beneficial owner 12 42,139,200 6.76% - 42,139,200 6.76%
FEq+ ERBEEA
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

Long position in the Company’s Shares and

underlying Shares (Continued)
Notes:
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The entire issued share capital in Royal Spectrum is legally and
beneficially owned as to 96.63% by Devoss Global and 3.37% by
Mr. Zhu Qin respectively. Devoss Global is legally and beneficially
owned by Mr. Ting. Devoss Global is deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by Royal Spectrum. Mr. Ting is a director of both
Royal Spectrum and Devoss Global.

On 27 November 2017, Royal Spectrum pledged 199,600,000
(19,960,000 upon the share consolidation became effective on 20
January 2022) Shares in favour of an independent third party as
a security of a loan in the amount of JPY2,000,000,000. The loan
was fully repaid on 13 April 2021 and the charge was fully released
on 21 March 2025.

Each of Devoss Global, CVP, Plan Marvel Investment Limited
(“Plan Marvel”), Kaiser Capital Holdings Limited (“Kaiser
Capital”) and Highgrade Holding Limited (“Highgrade ”) is
wholly-owned by Mr. Ting. Plan Marvel is interested in 208,978
Shares, Kaiser Capital is interested in 1,217,200 Shares and
Highgrade is interested in 3,527,200 Shares. Mr. Ting is deemed
to be interested in 251,360,650 Shares, held by Devoss Global,
CVP, Plan Marvel, Kaiser Capital and Highgrade under Part XV of
the SFO.

6,000,000 (600,000 upon the share consolidation became
effective on 20 January 2022) share options were granted to
Devoss Global on 17 December 2015.

On 27 October 2021, Royal Spectrum and CVP pledged
1,708,363,655 Shares and 504,872,727 Shares respectively
(170,836,365 Shares and 50,487,272 Shares respectively upon
the share consolidation became effective on 20 January 2022)
in favour of an independent third party as a security of a loan in
the amount of HK$44,992,109 provided by the independent third
party to the Company as general working capital.

Ms. Luu is the spouse of Mr. Ting. Ms. Luu is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares and underlying shares in which Mr.
Ting is interested in under Part XV of the SFO.
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1.  Royal Spectrum# B2 %17 & 2 % 5l A Devoss Global
REAREEEERE = HEH96.63%%3.37% ° Devoss
Globalli T £ A AR Ex#EHE - Devoss Global#f {7
AR Royal SpectrumFT IR P HE B i o T £ AR
£ Royal Spectrum [z Devoss Globalz E = -

2. 120174118278 ' Royal Spectrum#f#199,600,000
(PA20224F1 A20 B &0 & P E 1% /19,960,000) AR A%
MT—RBILE=FH1ER—£%%2,000,000,000H
B EFER - ZEZN2021FE413B 2 2 ER - %
AR IR A2025F3 21 H f#kk ©

3. Devoss Global * #& &  Plan Marvel Investment Limited
([Plan Marvel]) - 2E#ZEERER AR ([ 2HEZER )
K Highgrade Holding Limited([ Highgrade |) & /B T 4%
£ 2 E¥A © Plan Marvel# 5208,978k ik 7 - 24P
TR A 1,217,2008% B& 17 & Highgrade# & 3,527,200
MR o IRIBFEF R EGRAEXVE - TEEHERR
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Highgrade#f 4 #9251,360,650/% A% 15 A ## A # 25 ©

4. 20154 12 A 17 B % H 6,000,000 (72 20224 1 A 20
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

Long position in the Company’s Shares and
underlying Shares (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

7. SRA is directly wholly-owned by SRA Holdings. As such, SRA
Holdings is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which SRA is
interested in under Part XV of the SFO.

8. On 5 December 2023, a call option has been granted to SRA
Holdings which may be converted into 85,922,330 new Shares
upon full exercise of the option. The option period ended on 5
December 2024 and none of the call option had been exercised.
Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the option agreement,
the call option had lapsed automatically upon the expiration of the
option period on 5 December 2024.

9. Based on the notices of disclosure of interest filed by ACGHL
and Ms. Liu both dated 14 January 2022, Atlantis Investment
Management Limited is wholly-owned by ACGHL, which in turn is
wholly-owned by Ms. Liu. As such, ACGHL and Ms. Liu are both
deemed to be interested in 68,224,500 Shares held by Atlantis
Investment Management Limited, under Part XV of the SFO.

10. Kingston is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ample Cheer, which is in
turn wholly-owned by Mrs. Chu. As such, Ample Cheer and Mrs.
Chu are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Kingston
by virtue of the SFO.

11.  Based on the notices of disclosure of interest filed by Mr. Li Ran,
Mr. Pu Xueyuan, Ms. Wang Xuping and Ms. Zhang Fengge all on
22 December 2020 respectively, Bartha International is owned as
to 20% by Mr. Li Ran, 25% by Mr. Pu Xueyuan, 26% by Ms. Wang
Xuping and 29% by Ms. Zhang Fengge respectively.

12. Based on the notice of disclosure of interest filed by Ms. Wang
Hui on 8 April 2021, Ms. Wang Hui is interested in 421,392,000
Shares (42,139,200 Shares upon the share consolidation became
effective on 20 January 2022).

* The number of issued Shares as at 31 March 2025 is 623,127,227
Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Company
had not been notified by any persons (other than Directors or
chief executive of the Company) who has interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the Register of Shareholders.

FERAREMBMATIRETLIATRE R
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RAERFARBREBRO 2FR (&)
M ()
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12. BEIELTN2021F4A8HMERHERTER
A T B4+ 421,392,000 8% B 1 b A #E xS (R
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme
(the “Share Option Scheme”) pursuant to a written resolution
of the shareholders passed on 21 September 2015 (the
“Adoption Date”).

(A) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
an incentive or a reward to eligible persons for their
contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group
to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group or
any entity in which the Group holds any equity interest
(“Invested Entity”).

(B) Participants of the Share Option Scheme
The participants of the Share Option Scheme shall be:

(1) any employee (whether full-time or part-time) of the
Company, any of the subsidiaries and any Invested
Entity;

(2) any director (including executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive) of the Company, any of
its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(3) any supplier of goods or services to any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity;

(4) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(5) any consultant, adviser, manager, officer or entity
that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group or any Invested
Entity; and

(6) or any person who, in the sole discretion of the
Board, has contributed or may contribute to the
Group or any Invested Entity eligible for options under
the Share Option Scheme.

Note: As the existing Share Option Scheme was adopted before the
new Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules became effective
on 1 January 2023, certain terms of the existing Share Option
Scheme may not be in full compliance with the new Chapter 23
of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company shall comply with the
transitional arrangements for share schemes existing as at 1
January 2023, including but not limited to share option grants
to eligible participants (with the amended definition under Rule
23.03A).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(C)

(D)

(E)

Total number of shares available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme

Under the Share Option Scheme, the total number of
shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise
of all Share Options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the number of the issued shares as at 9 August 2022
unless the Company obtains a fresh approval from the
Shareholders.

As at the beginning of the Year (i.e. 1 April 2024), the
number of share options available for grant pursuant to the
scheme mandate limit under the Share Option Scheme,
was 62,312,722 Shares, representing approximately
10.0% of the issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) as
at the date of this report.

As at the end of the Year (i.e. 31 March 2025), the number
of share options available for grant pursuant to the scheme
mandate limit under the Share Option Scheme was
62,312,722 Shares, representing approximately 10.0%
of the issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) as at the
date of this report.

As at the date of this report, a total of 62,312,722 Shares,
representing approximately 10.0% of the issued Shares
(excluding treasury shares) as at the date of this report, are
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each participant
under the Share Option Scheme

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the
Share Option Scheme in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of grant of the options must not exceed
1% of the total number of shares in issue.

The period within which the option may be
exercised by the grantee under the Share
Option Scheme

The period during which an option may be exercised is
determined by the Board at its discretion, save that such
period shall not be longer than 10 years from the date of
grant.

BIRAESE (#)

(C)

(D)

(E)
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7] [ B R ER S B R HEFEBR AN ©
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(F)

(G)

(H)

U]

The vesting period of options granted under
the Share Option Scheme
As determined by the Board upon the grant of an option.

The amount payable on acceptance of an
option and the period within which payments
shall be made

A consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the
offer of grant of an option where the grantee should accept
or decline the offer of grant of an option within the date as
specified in the offer letter issued by the Company, being
a date no later than 21 business days from the date upon
which it is made.

The basis of determining the exercise price of
options granted

The exercise price of a share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be
a price determined by the Board in its absolute discretion
and notified to an eligible person, and shall be at least the
higher of: (1) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of
grant; (2) the average closing price of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
consecutive business days immediately preceding the date
of grant, and (38) the nominal value of a share on the date of
grant.

The remaining life of the Share Option
Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of 10 years from the Adoption Date until 20
September 2025.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(J) Details of Options Granted

BIRAESE (#)

Details of movements of the share options granted under

(J) ERHEBREFR
BE2025%3A31H L FE RREERE 8K

the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 March HoEREESSFIEEY T
2025 were as follows:
Number of share options
BREHE
Exercised/
Cancelled/
Exercise As at Granted Lapsed As at
Exercise price per 1 April during during 31 March
Category Date of grant Vesting Period period share 2024 the Year the Year 2025
I
#2024 ERTRE/  Ro0sE
g5 R4 AH BRE TRH SRTEE 4818 RERRE  H#/%X 3531A
Shareholders
kR
Devoss Global (Note 1) 17 December 2015 17 December 2015t0 17 June 2016 to HK$8.00 600,000 = = 600,000
16 June 2016 16 December 2025
Devoss Global (1) 2015812 317H 155128178 201656A17HZ 8.00% T
201656168 2025%12 4168
Montrachet Holdings Limited 17 December 2015 17 December 2015t0 17 June 2016 to HK$8.00 1,500,000 = = 1,500,000
(‘Montrachet’) (Note 2) 16 June 2016 16 December 2025
Montrachet Holdings Limited 2015127178 0158128178 2016%6A 178 8008 T
([ Montrachet])(/7i2) 201656168 E2025% 127168
Directors
gz
Ms. Kuo (Note 5) 3 April 2018 3 April 2018 to 1 January 2019 to HK$18.90 500,000 - 500,000 -
31 December 2018 2 April 2028
AxL(Hits) 20185443 2018F4A3AZ 19518182 189037
2018512A31H 20284728
6 December 2019 (Note 4) (Note 3) HK$2.07 1,300,000 - 1,300,000 -
2019512768 (Hiit4) (Hit3) 20T T
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(J) Details of Options Granted (Continued)

BRESTE (#)
J) EREBEREFSE(Z)

Number of share options

ERESA
Exercised/
Cancelled/
Exercise As at Granted Lapsed As at
Exercise price per 1 April during during 31 March
Category Date of grant Vesting Period period share 2024 the Year the Year 2025
R
#2024 ERfifE/  R2025E
£5l RLAH BES (L] BRTKE 4A1R  RERRE  H#/X% 3A31R
Mr. Ip 3 April 2018 3 April 2018 to 1 January 2019 to HK$18.90 30,000 = = 30,000
31 December 2018 2 April 2028
3k 201854538 2018F4A3HE 019F1718F2028  18.90%T
20185124317 F4H2R
6 December 2019 (Note 4) (Note 3) HK$2.07 100,000 - - 100,000
2019512868 (Hit4) (H:£3) 20TAT
Mr. Ji 6 December 2019 (Note 4) (Note 3) HK$2.07 100,000 - - 100,000
Byt 20195128 6F (Hit4) (H:£3) 20TAT
Mr. Chu 3 April 2018 3 April 2018 to 1 January 2019 to HK$18.90 30,000 - - 30,000
31 December 2018 2 April 2028
i3 2018543 20185 4A3RE 2019518182 18.90%
20185124317 20285428
Participants with options in excess of 1% individual limit Not applicable
EREZABEARE1%HSEE TER
Related entity participants or service providers with options granted and to be granted during the period exceeding Not applicable
0.1% of the relevant class of shares in issue
BRERTARRTRERBEACRARONOIUNERENBEHERSREARBRAE TER
Other participants
EfhgaE
- Consultants (Note 6) 17 December 2015 17 December 2015t0 17 June 2016 to HK$8.00 16,000,000 - - 16,000,000
16 June 2016 16 December 2025
-BR(e) 2015512A17H 20156 12R17HE  201656A17AZ 8.00% T
2016567 16H 2025%12 7168
3 April 2018 3 April 2018 to 1 January 2019 to HK$18.90 18,450,000 - - 18,450,000
31 December 2018 2 April 2028
201854538 2018F4A3HE 0191710 E 18.90% T
2018512431 2028%4H28
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(J) Details of Options Granted (Continued)

BIRAESTE (#)
J) EREBEREFSEZ)

Number of share options

BREHE
Exercised/
Cancelled/
Exercise As at Granted Lapsed As at
Exercise price per 1 April during during 31 March
Category Date of grant Vesting Period period share 2024 the Year the Year 2025
R
#2024 ERfi/  Ro02s%
55 ReiAH L E] 8 BRTKE 481 RERRE 84N 3A31R
13 December 2018 13 December 2018to 1 July 2019 to HK$11.20 4,800,000 - - 4,800,000
30 June 2019 12 December 2028
2018F 12130 0181281382 201957R1HE 11.20%7
2019867308 2028 12A 128
6 December 2019 (Note 4) (Note 3) HK$2.07 5,190,000 - - 5,190,000
2019F 1276 (Hiit4) (H#3) 20TAT
- Employees 3 April 2018 3 April 2018 to 1 January 2019 to HK$18.90 570,000 - - 570,000
31 December 2018 2 April 2028
-85 201854538 2018F4A3HE 0191710 E 18.90%
2018%12A318 202854728
6 December 2019 (Note 4) (Note 3) HK$2.07 1,200,000 - 100,000 1,100,000
(Note 7)
2019F12A6H (Hiit4) (H#3) 20TA T i)
50,370,000 - 1,900,000 48,470,000
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(J) Details of Options Granted (Continued)

Notes:

Devoss Global is a company wholly-owned by Mr. Ting,
being the controlling shareholder of Royal Spectrum, a
substantial shareholder of the Company.

As at the date of the grant of share options to Montrachet
on 17 December 2015, Montrachet, being a company
wholly-owned by Mr. Zhu Hui Xin, the father of Mr. Zhu
Qin (former executive Director), held 2.7% interest in Royal
Spectrum, a substantial shareholder of the Company.

Exercise period: (i) 50% of the share options are exercisable
from 6 December 2020 to 5 December 2029 (both days
inclusive); and (i) 50% of the share options are exercisable
from 6 December 2021 to 5 December 2029 (both days
inclusive).

Vesting period: (i) 50% of the share options are vested
from 6 December 2019 to 5 December 2020 (both days
inclusive); and (ii) 50% of the share options are vested
from 6 December 2019 to 5 December 2021 (both days
inclusive).

Ms. Kuo Kwan resigned from her position as an executive
Director with effect from 2 September 2024 and her share
options had lapsed on the same day.

Consultants are corporations and individuals which render
consultancy services to the Group. The Board considers
that the share options granted to the consultants would
help to motivate these non-employees to optimize their
future contributions to the Group and reward them for their
past contributions. The share options were granted as an
incentive to the consultants for helping the Group expand
its business network, acquire and explore new business
projects and opportunities and to provide ongoing services
to the Group and maintain a long-term relationship with the
Group.

During the Year, no share options were exercised or
cancelled but 100,000 share options were lapsed upon the
resignation of the relevant employees.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

No share options were granted during the Year.

On 9 August 2022, ordinary resolutions had been passed by
the Shareholders to refresh the scheme mandate limit under
the Share Option Scheme, such that the maximum number of
shares that can be allotted and issued upon the exercise of
Share Options which may be granted by the Company under
the scheme mandate limit so refreshed would be 62,312,722
shares, being 10% of the total number of issued shares as
at the date of passing of the resolution approving the said
refreshment.

No share-based payment expenses were recognised/reversed
(2024: Nil) by the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 in
relation to share options granted by the Company.

For further details, please refer to note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

GRANT OF OPTIONS UNDER SPECIFIC
MANDATE AND SECOND LOAN
EXTENSION AGREEMENT

On 3 October 2023, the Company, as an issuer, entered into a
second option agreement (the “Second Option Agreement”)
with SRA Holdings, as a subscriber, pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to grant an option (the
“Option”) to SRA Holdings. SRA Holdings shall be entitled
to require the Company to allot and issue up to a maximum
of 85,922,330 option shares at the option price of HK$1.03
per Share subject to the terms and conditions stated in the
Second Option Agreement upon the exercise of the Option. As
at the date of the Option Agreement, Wine Financier Limited,
an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
was indebted to SRA Holdings, in the principal amount of
JPY1,500,000,000 (the “Loan”) which was due for repayment
on 30 September 2023. In consideration of the Company
agreeing to enter into the Second Option Agreement to grant
the option to SRA Holdings, on 3 October 2023 SRA Holdings
has agreed to enter into a second loan extension agreement (the
“Second Loan Extension Agreement”) with the Company to
extend the maturity date of the Loan to 30 September 2024.
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GRANT OF OPTIONS UNDER SPECIFIC
MANDATE AND SECOND LOAN
EXTENSION AGREEMENT (Continued)

Having considered, among others, (i) the Loan in the principal
amount of JPY1,500,000,000 indebted to SRA Holdings which
was due for repayment on 30 September 2023, being the
extended maturity date and remains outstanding as at the date
of the announcement dated 3 October 2023; and (ii) other equity
financing such as rights issue would be relatively costly and
time-consuming, the Directors are of the view that the grant of
the Option serves as a good alternative to cash repayment of
the outstanding amount under the Loan which may not have
an immediate dilution effect on the shareholding of the existing
Shareholders as that in the case of other equity financing, such
as placing of Shares, and the entering into of the Second Loan
Extension Agreement also allows a further extension of time for
the Group to repay the outstanding amount under the Loan to
SRA Holdings. In addition, the principal amount of the Loan may
be payable by set off against the Option Price payable by SRA
Holdings on a dollar-for-dollar basis upon the exercise of the
Option and the allotment and issue of the Option Shares, and
therefore would not create any cashflow burden on the Group.
Due to the set-off, no proceeds will be received by the Company
upon the exercise of the Option.

In light of the above, the Directors consider that the terms and
conditions of the Second Option Agreement and the Second
Loan Extension Agreement are on normal commercial terms, fair
and reasonable and the Option and the Second Loan Extension
are in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

On 5 December 2023, 85,922,330 Option Shares at the
Option Price of HK$1.03 per Option Share, was granted by
the Company to SRA on 5 December 20283 in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the Second Option Agreement.
The option period had ended on 5 December 2024 and none
of the option had been exercised. Pursuant to the terms and
conditions of the Second Option Agreement, the option had
lapsed automatically upon the expiration of the option period on
5 December 2024.
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GRANT OF OPTIONS UNDER SPECIFIC
MANDATE AND SECOND LOAN
EXTENSION AGREEMENT (Continued)

For further details of the Second Option Agreement and
the extension of the Loan, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 3 October 2023 and 5 December 2023
and the circular dated 6 November 2023. Details of movements
of the share options granted under the Specific Mandate during
the Year were as follows:
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Number of share options

BREHA
Exercised/
Cancelled/
Exercise Granted Lapsed As at
price As at during during 31 March
Name Date of grant Exercise period per share 1 April 2024 the Year the Year 2025
R20245 RERTE/  R2025%
28 REAH TEH BRERE 4818 REREE H#/XX 3A31A
SRA Holdings 5 December 2023 the period of one (1) year HK$1.03 85,922,330 - 85,922,330 =
from the date of grant
of the Option
SRA Holdings 2023% 12858 BRERL AR —(1)F 1.03% 7
85,922,330 - 85,922,330 -
PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION EESBEES

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits
of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which any of them shall or may
incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or
omitted in or about the execution of their duties in their offices.

Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force
throughout the Year and is still in force. In addition, the
Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the directors and officers of the
Group.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into or existed during the Year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the percentage of sales attributable to the
five largest customers combined is approximately 20.8%
(2024: 21.5%) and the largest customer included therein
is approximately 7.4% (2024: 9.5%). The percentage of
purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers combined
is approximately 31.0% (2024: 44.6%) and the largest supplier
included therein is approximately 7.5% (2024: 20.9%).

So far as is known to the Directors, none of the Directors, their
close associates or shareholder(s) who own(s) more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital had any interest in the share
capital of any of the five largest customers or suppliers of the
Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Significant related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the Year, which constitute exempted connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions under the
GEM Listing Rules, are set out in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their respective close associates
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) are engaged in any
business that competes or may compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group or have any other
conflicts of interest with the Group nor are they aware of any
other conflicts of interest with the Group which any such person
has or may have with the Group during the Year.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
Year had the Company or any of its subsidiaries entered into
any contract of significance with the controlling Shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries, nor had any contract of significance
been entered into for the services provided by the controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the Company or any of
its subsidiaries.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

A deed of non-competition dated 29 September 2015 (the
“Deed of Non-competition”) was entered into among the
Company and the controlling shareholders of the Company,
namely Royal Spectrum, Devoss Global and Mr. Ting, in favour
of the Company (for the Company and for the benefit of its
subsidiaries) regarding certain non-competition undertakings.
Details of the Deed of Non-competition were disclosed in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” to
the prospectus of the Company dated 29 September 2015.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
Year was the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to an arrangement that
would enable the Directors or their close associates to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of
the Company or any other body corporate.

NON-EXEMPT CONNECTED
TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company has
completed the following connected transaction which is subject
to the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

On 28 May 2024, the Company as vendor, CVP Financial Group
Limited (the “Purchaser”), as Purchaser and Mr. Ting, as the
Purchaser’s guarantor entered into the sale and purchase
agreement, pursuant to which the Company has conditionally
agreed to sell, and the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to
purchase, 38 shares of Hackett (the “Disposal Company”),
representing 38% equity interests in the Disposal Company for a
total consideration of HK$56.4 million.

The Purchaser is wholly-owned by Mr. Ting, who is a controlling
shareholder of the Company, therefore CVP is a connected
person of the Company, and the Disposal constitutes a
connected transaction on the part of the Company under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The completion of the disposal took place on 7 August 2024
in accordance with the terms and conditions of the sale and
purchase agreement.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 28 May 2024, 4 June 2024, 18 June 2024, 5 July 2024, 2
August 2024 and 7 August 2024 and the circular dated 17 July
2024 respectively.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained the prescribed public float
required by Rule 17.38A of the GEM Listing Rules during the
Year and as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of
this annual report, based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee on 21
September 2015 with written terms of reference in compliance
with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and code
provision D.3.3 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to review the financial system of the Group; to
review the accounting policy, financial position and financial
reporting procedures of the Group; to communicate with
external auditors; to assess the performance of internal financial
and audit personnel; and to assess the internal controls and risk
management of the Group.

Currently, the Audit Committee comprises four members,
namely Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus, Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean,
Mr. Ip Cho Yin, J.p. and Mr. Zhou Li, and chaired by Mr. Chu Kin
Wang Peleus, who has appropriate professional qualifications
and experience as required by the GEM Listing Rules. Save for
Mr. Ip Cho Yin, J.p., who is a NED, all other members of the Audit
Committee are INED.

The audited consolidated financial statements for the Year
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, which is of the
opinion that such financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable accounting standards, the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong)
and the GEM Listing Rules.
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AUDITOR

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited (“SHINEWING”) has resigned as
the auditor of the Company with effect from 10 March 2023 as
the Company and SHINEWING were unable to reach consensus
in respect of the audit fee for the year ended 31 March 2023. For
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
10 March 2023.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
Year have been audited by Prism Hong Kong Limited, Certified
Public Accountants, who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company.

A resolution for the re-appointment of Prism Hong Kong
Limited as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company.

By Order of the Board
Madison Holdings Group Limited
Ji Zuguang
Chairman and non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to achieving high standard of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and enhancing its corporate value. The Company
has adopted the principles and code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to
the GEM Listing Rules as its corporate governance practices.

To the best knowledge of the Board, the Company had complied
with the code provisions in the CG Code as set out in Appendix
C1 to the GEM Listing Rules throughout the Year.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING
SECURITIES TRANSACTION BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standards of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). Having made
specific enquiry, all Directors have confirmed that they have fully
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
throughout the Year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme was conditionally adopted by
resolutions in writing passed by the shareholders of the
Company on 21 September 2015. On 9 August 2022, ordinary
resolutions had been passed by the Shareholders to refresh
the scheme mandate limit under the Share Option Scheme,
such that the maximum number of shares that can be allotted
and issued upon the exercise of Share Options which may
be granted by the Company under the scheme mandate limit
so refreshed would be 62,312,722 shares, being 10% of the
total number of issued shares as at the date of passing of the
resolution approving the said refreshment. During the Year,
no share option was granted pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme.

The Company is aware that amendments were made to Chapter
23 of the GEM Listing Rules, which has come into effect on 1
January 2023, which include, among others, revising the scope
of eligible participants of share option schemes and setting out
the minimum vesting period requirements. The Company will
only grant the share options in compliance with the amended
Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules and pursuant to the
transitional arrangements for share schemes existing as at
1 January 2023 as specified by the Stock Exchange. Going
forward, the Company will also consider to amend the Share
Option Scheme so as to comply with the new requirements
under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules, or to adopt a new
share option scheme that comply with the requirements under
the amended Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TXRERMSE

CORPORATE VALUES, STRATEGIES
AND CULTURE

The Board understands that it plays an important role in
identifying the corporate culture and ensuring it aligns with
the purpose, values, and strategy of the Company. Pursuant
to code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, all directors must
act with integrity, lead by example, and promote the desired
culture. During the Year, the Board has reviewed and discussed
the following vision, mission, values, and strategies to achieve
alignment with the Company’s culture.

Our Mission
The Group has been devoted to promoting wine culture since
our founding.

We provide convenient and personal financial services for small,
medium and micro enterprises and individual customers to
promote the development of the real economy.

Our Vision

With an agile mindset and strong dedication, the Group seeks
to set its footprint in the future development of both Hong Kong
and worldwide.

The Group aims at providing the best possible wine products
and related services to our customers.

The Group continues to seek to connect traditional financial
services with new ideas, aiming to become a first-class financial
service provider.

Our Values

° Dedication

° Diligence

° Collaboration
o Synergies

Our Strategies

The Group provides clients and wine aficionados with a
full range of products and value-added services, aiming at
enhancing customer satisfaction and retention by improving
customer convenience. The Group has its operational strategy
of running an e-commerce retail online store to accelerate
customer growth and to develop customer brand, and diversify
the operations by offering wine storage services.

The Group actively explores and improves financial services and
development models and technologies, and cooperates with
multiple platforms to serve small, medium and micro enterprises,
mainly in Chongqging and Hong Kong, with broader business
channels and more convenient financial models.

The Group strives to strengthen the all-round market position
in Hong Kong as well as to explore business opportunities
overseas in an attempt to create synergies with different
businesses.
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CORPORATE VALUES, STRATEGIES

AND CULTURE (continued)

Our Culture

(1) Culture of Commitment
The Group believes that the culture of commitment is
to carry on the spirit of dedication and diligence of the
Group, i.e. committed to provide high-quality products and
services, and optimize business portfolio.

(2) Culture of Agile

Ever since the 21st Century, the shift in human lifestyles,
the scope of information dissemination, the variation of
new innovations and the impact of new world order have
demonstrated that ‘change’ is irrevocably the universal
truth in today’s world. In the future world, an agile mindset
to anticipate changes becomes the key to maintain one’s
superiority. With flexible and efficient execution capability,
the Group will provide comprehensive and high-quality
services in response to the rapidly changing financial
environment in Hong Kong and Asia Pacific. We are
ascertained with strong dedication that the Group will
create remarkable footprints in the future development of
both Hong Kong and worldwide.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board is responsible for managing the Company on behalf
of the Shareholders. The Board is of the view that it is the
Directors’ responsibility to create value for the Shareholders
and safeguard the best interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole by discharging their duties in a
dedicated, diligent and prudent manner on the principle of good
faith.

The primary functions of the Board include:

(i)  deciding on the overall strategies, overseeing operational
and financial performance and formulating appropriate
policies to manage risk exposure associated with realizing
the strategies and goals of the Group;

(i)  monitoring and reviewing the Group’s corporate
governance practices in compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, and renewing the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code;

(i) being held accountable for the internal control system of
the Group and responsible for reviewing its effectiveness;
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition (Continued)

(iv) being ultimately responsible for preparing financial
accounts and discussing the performance, financial
conditions and prospects of the Group in a balanced,
clear and comprehensible manner. These responsibilities
are applicable to interim and annual reports of the
Company, other price-sensitive announcements published
in compliance with GEM Listing Rules and disclosure of
other financial information, reports submitted to regulatory
bodies and information discloseable under statutory
requirements;

(v) being responsible for affairs involving the overall policies,
finance and the Shareholders, namely financial statements,
dividend policy, significant changes to accounting policies,
annual operating budgets, material contracts, major
financing arrangements, principal investment and risk
management strategy, whereby the executive Directors
shall be responsible for the daily management of the
Group, and the implementation and execution of the above
is delegated to the management;

(vi) regularly reviewing its own functions and the powers
conferred upon executive Directors to ensure appropriate
arrangements are in place; and

(viij determining the nature and extent of significant risks
(including the environmental, social and governance risks)
that the Group are willing to take in achieving the strategic
objectives and formulating the Group’s risk management
strategies.

The Board has overall responsibility for the leadership,
strategic direction, control and performance of the Group
and for promoting the success of the Group by directing and
supervising its affairs. The Board delegates the day-to-day
management, administration and operation of the Group to
the management. The delegated functions are reviewed by the
Board periodically to ensure that they accommodate the needs
of the Group.

The management is well informed of its powers and duties
with clear guidelines and instructions, in particular regarding
situations under which reporting to the Board is necessary
and matters that require the approval of the Board before
any decisions or commitments can be made on behalf of the
Company.
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Board Composition (Continued)

The Board has established a mechanism to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. The current
composition of the Board has a strong independence element
and provides a sufficient balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives in leading the Company to achieve its
goal. The independent non-executive Directors also provide
independent judgment to the Board’s overall decision-making
process. The Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the board independence mechanism for the
year ended 31 March 2025 and considered it to be effective.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises seven
Directors, with two executive Directors, namely, Mr. Jiang Tian
and Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan Shirley, two non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Ji Zuguang (chairman of the Board) and Mr. Ip
Cho Yin, u.p. and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus, Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean
and Mr. Zhou Li. The biographies of each of the Directors are
set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” of this annual report. The independent
non-executive Directors and the non-executive Directors bring
a diverse range of expertise, skills and experience and provide
effective guidance and independent views on major decisions
of the Group. To assist in the discharge of their duties, the
Directors have free and direct access to both the Company’s
internal and external auditors and procedures are in place to
allow the Directors to obtain independent professional advice at
the Company’s expense.

The Directors, with relevant and sufficient experience and
qualifications, have given sufficient time and attention to the
affairs of the Group and have exercised due care and fiduciary
duties in relation to the significant issues of overall business
planning, management and strategic development of the Group.

Given the overall composition of the Board and the expertise,
skills and experience of each of the Directors, the Group
believes that the Board is appropriately structured to provide
sufficient checks and balances to protect the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders.

To the best knowledge, information and belief of the Directors,

the Board members have no material financial, business, family
or other relevant relationships with each other.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

During the Year, the Board at all times complied with the
requirement of the GEM Listing Rules of having at least three
independent non-executive Directors sit on the Board (more
than one-third of the Board members) and at least one of them
having appropriate professional accounting or related financial
management expertise.

Although one of the independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus, has served as a Board
member since September 21, 2015 (i.e. for more than
nine years) and that may be relevant to the determination
of independence, it is well-recognized that an individual’s
independence cannot be determined solely on the basis of their
length of service. In assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors, the Board and the Nomination and
Corporate Governance Committee take into account the
character and judgement demonstrated by the Directors’
commitment and contribution to the Board during their years of
service and other relevant factors.

We believe that, despite his length of service, Mr. Chu Kin
Wang Peleus has continued to provide invaluable expertise,
experience, continuity and stability to the Board. His term
of service to the Company has not affected his exercise of
independent judgement, and the Company has benefited from
his contribution and the valuable insights derived from his in-
depth knowledge of the Company and from his work and
experience outside of the Company. Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus
has expressed objective views and given independent guidance
to the Company over the past years. Pursuant to code provision
B.2.3 of the CG Code, his further appointment shall be subject
to a separate resolution to be approved by the Shareholders.

All the independent non-executive Directors are appointed for
a term of three years, and subject to rotation and re-election
in accordance with to the Articles of Association and the
GEM Listing Rules. Details of their appointments are referred
to the section headed “Directors’ Service Contracts and
Appointment Letters” on page 36 of this annual report. Each of
the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules and the Company considers these Directors to be
independent.
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Board Practice and Conduct of Meetings

The full Board meets at least four times a year, at quarterly
intervals, to review the financial performance of each period,
material investments and other matters of the Group.

The attendance records of each Director and each member of
the Board committees for the Year are as follows:

EE®(5)
EESERREHER
EEeEFELAMNAEE  SEEM K UE

BMAKESEHEcHBERER EAREHREMER -

BEEEREFCZEENERTFENLFE L8N
™

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend

LR/ ERLEEENY
Nomination
and Corporate Annual Extraordinary
Audit Remuneration  Governance General General
Board  Committee =~ Committee ~ Committee Meeting Meeting
RERDE
Exe® ENZEE® HMZEE® ERZEE RRBAFAE RRNHAE
Executive Directors HITEE
Ms. Kuo Kwan' BELL 88  NAT@ER N/A TN N/A T A 11 11
Mr. Jiang Tian? ERAEE? 56  NATER  NATER  NATER 0/0 0/0
Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan Shirley REREL 12/12 N/A TER N/A TR N/A TjER 1 11
Non-Executive Directors FBUTES
Mr. Ji Zuguang XA 12/12  NARER 2/2 2/2 1/1 11
Mr. Ip Cho Yin, u.p. ERBRE  trHt 12/12 22 NATER 2/2 1/1 11
Independent Non-Executive BUEHTES
Directors
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus REEEE 12/12 2/2 212 2/2 11 11
Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean AagaET 12/12 2/2 2/2 2/2 1/1 11
Mr. Zhou Li AA%4E 11/12 2/2 2/2 212 11 1

U Ms. Kuo Kwan has resigned as an executive Director on 2
September 2024.

2 Mr. Jiang Tian has been appointed as an executive Director on 12
August 2024.

Information of material issues, due notice of meetings and

minutes of every meeting have been sent to all Directors for their
information, comment and review.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years which is
automatically renewed for successive terms of one year each
upon expiry of the then current term and shall be terminated by
either party giving to the other not less than three months’ notice
in writing.

Mr. Jiang Tian, who has been appointed as an executive
Director during the year ended 31 March 2025, has obtained
legal advice from a firm of solicitors qualified to advise on Hong
Kong law as regards the requirements under the GEM Listing
Rules that are applicable to him as a director of a listed issuer
and the possible consequences of making a false declaration
or giving false information to the Stock Exchange on 9 August
2024, and he has confirmed that he understood his obligations
as a Director.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years,
which is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Articles of Association and the GEM Listing
Rules, and shall be terminated by either party upon a one-month
prior written notice.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years, which is subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election in accordance with the Articles of Association and the
GEM Listing Rules, and shall be terminated by either party upon
a one-month prior written notice.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors
(Continued)

The Company has established formal, considered and
transparent procedures for the appointment of new Directors.
The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are laid down in the Articles of Association.
Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring
Director shall be eligible for re-election. Pursuant to Article 83(3)
of the Articles of Association, the Directors shall have the power
from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a
Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or addition
to the existing Board but so that the number of Directors so
appointed shall not exceed any maximum number determined
from time to time by the Shareholders in general meetings. Any
Director so appointed by the Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election at that meeting.

According to the code provision B.2.3 of the CG Code, the
further appointment of independent non-executive Directors
who have served more than nine years should be subject to a
separate resolution to be approved by Shareholders and the
papers to Shareholders accompanying that resolution should
state why the Board believes the relevant Director is still
independent and should be re-elected, including the factors
considered, the process and the discussion of the Board in
arriving at such determination. As disclosed in the “Board of
Directors” section of this Report, save for Mr. Chu Kin Wang
Peleus, the Board confirms that as at the date of this report,
none of the independent non-executive Directors has served
more than nine years.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional
Development

In compliance with code provision C.1.4 of the CG code,
the Directors had participated in continuous professional
development during the Year to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills, to ensure that the Directors’ contribution
to the Board remains relevant and informed. As part of the
Directors’ continuous professional development programme,
each newly appointed Director shall receive induction on the first
occasion of his/her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she
has appropriate understanding of the business and operation
of the Group and that he/she is aware of his/her responsibilities
and obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements.

During the Year, all existing Directors were provided with
updates on the latest developments and changes in the
GEM Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements from time to time to develop and refresh the
Directors’ understanding and knowledge in respect of their
duties and responsibilities. Continuing briefings to Directors are
arranged whenever necessary.

The individual record of each Director who received training for
the Year is summarized as follow:
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Directors B
Executive Directors UITES
Ms. Kuo Kwan! PR v 4
Mr. Jiang Tian? e N 4 4
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Mr. Ji Zuguang AKX LA v 4
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Mr. Zhou Li Bh%kE v 4

SEARREESRAT FH202425 609



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

J/J—_\\‘A—"-\Aiﬁm

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional

Development (Continued)

U Ms. Kuo Kwan has resigned as an executive Director on 2
September 2024.

2 Mr. Jiang Tian has been appointed as an executive Director on 12
August 2024.

Board Diversity Policy
The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of the
diversity of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that
the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Group’s
business. As at the date of this annual report, the gender
ratio amongst members of the Board is 5 males to 2 females.
All Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit
basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board
members. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, experience (professional
or otherwise), skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be made upon the merits and contributions
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The gender ratio in the workforce of the Group (including senior
management) for the Year was approximately 44.66% male and
approximately 55.34% female. The Group encourages gender
diversity across its workplace. To achieve diversity at workforce
level, the Group has put in place appropriate recruitment and
selection practices such that a diverse range of candidates are
considered.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination and
Corporate Governance Committee, each overseeing and being
responsible for affairs in different aspects of the Company. All
Board committees of the Company are established with defined
written terms of reference.

The written terms of reference for each board committee are
in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and they are posted
on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (cContinued)

Audit Committee

The Board has established the Audit Committee. It currently
comprises one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Ip Cho Yin,
J.P., and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Chu Kin Wang Peleus (Chairman), Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean
and Mr. Zhou Li. None of the members of the Audit Committee
is a former partner of the auditors of the Company.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the
Board in reviewing the financial information, overseeing the
Company’s financial reporting system, risk management,
internal control systems and relationship with external auditors,
and arrangements to enable employees of the Company to raise
concerns under the protection of confidentiality about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other
matters of the Company.

Appropriate policies and controls have been designed and
established to ensure that assets are safeguarded against
improper use or disposal, relevant laws, regulations and
rules are adhered to and complied with, reliable financial and
accounting records are maintained in accordance with relevant
accounting standards and regulatory reporting requirements,
and key risks that may impact on the Group’s performance
are appropriately identified and managed. The systems and
internal controls can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss, as they are
designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held two meetings for the
purposes of reviewing the interim and annual financial results
and reports and significant issues on the financial reporting and
compliance procedures, internal control and risk management
systems, and the other matters in accordance with the Audit
Committee’s written terms of reference. The Group’s audited
annual results for the Year have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Remuneration Committee

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee. It
currently comprises one non-executive Director, namely Mr.
Ji Zuguang, and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Zhou Li (Chairman), Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus
and Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean. The primary functions of
the Remuneration Committee include reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management, the
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management; establishing a formal and transparent procedure
for developing remuneration policy and to ensure that no
Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/
her own remuneration; and to review and/or approve matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held two
meetings to review and make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of all Directors and newly appointed
Director and other related matters in accordance with the
Remuneration Committee’s written terms of reference.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the member(s) of the senior management by

band for the Year is set out below:

Remuneration band
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Number of individuals

i 0 AR
HK$500,000 to HK$1,000,000 500,000% 1,000,0007% 7T 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7L £1,500,00078 7T 2

Further particulars regarding Directors’ emoluments are set out
in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (cContinued)
Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee
The Board has established the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee. It currently comprises two non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Ji Zuguang (Chairman) and Mr.
Ip Cho Yin, u.p., and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus, Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean
and Mr. Zhou Li. The primary functions of the Nomination
and Corporate Governance Committee include reviewing the
Board’s structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
succession planning of directors, assessing the independence
of independent non-executive Directors, and determining the
policy for the corporate governance of the Company.

According to the policy of the Company, appointment of Board
members will be made on a merit basis and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria. The selection criteria used
in assessing the suitability of a candidate include:

° the candidate’s academic background and qualifications
(including professional qualifications, skills and knowledge
which are relevant to the Group’s business and corporate
strategy);

° the candidate’s relevant experience in the industry;
° the candidate’s character and integrity;

° the candidate’s willingness and capacity to devote
adequate time in discharge of a director’s duties;

° whether the candidate can contribute to the Board a
diversity of perspectives;

o where the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an
independent non-executive Director whether the candidate
is in compliance with the criteria of independence under
the GEM Listing Rules; and

° any other factors as may be determined by the Board from
time to time.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee
(Continued)

In terms of nomination procedures, any Board member
may nominate or invite a candidate for appointment as a
Director to be considered by the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee. The Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee will then evaluate the personal profile
of the candidate based on the selection criteria set out above,
undertake due diligence in respect of such candidate and make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval.
For the nomination of an independent non-executive Director,
the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee will also
assess the candidate’s independence in accordance with the
CG Code and the GEM Listing Rules. For the re-appointment
of retiring Directors, the Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee will review the candidate’s overall contribution and
performance (including the candidate’s attendance at Board
committee meetings, Board meetings and general meetings,
his/her level of participation and performance on the Board), and
make recommendations to the Board and the Shareholders for
re-election at general meetings.

During the Year, the Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee held two meetings to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of new
Director and the re-appointment of Directors and other related
matters in accordance with its written terms of reference.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided by the auditor, Prism Hong Kong Limited, to the
Group for the Year amounted to HK$680,000 and HK$100,000
respectively.

Ranger Advisory Co. Limited provided internal audit services to
the Group for the Year amounted to HK$135,000.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is Ms. Tse Ka Yan. She has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to update her
skills and knowledge in the Year. For details and professional
qualifications of Ms. Tse Ka Yan, please refer to page 10 of this
annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the Year, which give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Group on a going concern basis. Statements of Directors’
responsibilities for preparing the consolidated financial
statements and external auditor’s reporting responsibilities are
set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report”.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining the Company’s internal
control system and risk management procedures and for
reviewing the effectiveness of these controls annually.

To enhance corporate governance, the Group implements
internal control and audit supervision to reduce operating
risks. The Group has established an internal audit system
in accordance with relevant regulations. Internal audit is an
independent consultation, evaluation, control and supervision
activity carried out within the Group. Through systematic and
standardized methods, the Group reviews and evaluates within
various departments of their operating activities and target
achievement, the establishment and implementation of internal
control, the utilization of resources, etc. It also provides relevant
analysis, recommendations, assistance, and supervision for
management personnel to perform their duties in due diligence.

During the Year, the Directors evaluated and were satisfied
with the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of the staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
function as well as their training programmes and budget for
the accounting, internal audit, financial reporting functions, as
well as those relating to the Company’s ESG performance and
reporting, and reported to the Board that in all material respects
the systems of risk management and internal control over
risks associated with the Group’s operations were sufficient,
appropriate and operated effectively on a continuing basis.
In addition, the Directors have continuously reviewed and
are satisfied that the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems, including, in particular, financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions, are
effective and adequate to safeguard the Group’s assets against
unauthorized use or disposition, and to protect the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The annual report and interim report offer comprehensive
information to the Shareholders on operational and financial
performance whereas annual general meeting provides an
opportunity for the Shareholders to exchange views directly with
the Board. The general meetings of the Company provide an
opportunity for communication between the Shareholders and
the Board.

According to the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company,
on a one vote per share basis, shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary,
to require an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business or
resolution specified in such requisition. The requisition must be
lodged with the registered office of the Company. The written
requisition (i) must state the purposes of the EGM, and (ii) must
be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for attention
of the Board or the Company Secretary, and may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more
requisitionists. Such meeting shall be held within two (2) months
after the deposit of such requisition. Such requisitions will be
verified by the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer
office and upon their confirmation that the requisition is proper
and in order, the Company Secretary will inform the Board to
convene an extraordinary general meeting by serving sufficient
notice to all Shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition has
been verified as not in order, the requisitionists will be advised of
this outcome and accordingly, an extraordinary general meeting
will not be convened as requested.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, please
refer to the procedures as set out in the Articles of Association
on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

Shareholders may send written enquiries or requests in respect

of their rights to the principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong and for the attention of the Company Secretary.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and investor understanding of the Group’s business
performance and strategies. The Company establishes different
communication channels with investors to update the latest
business development and financial performance including
the publication of interim and annual reports, the publishing
and posting of notices, announcements, and circulars on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company in order to
maintain a high level of transparency, and to ensure there is no
selective disclosure of inside information.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Articles of Association have been amended and restated
with effect from 9 August 2022. Pursuant to Rule 17.102 of the
GEM Listing Rules, the Company has published its latest Articles
of Association on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Introduction to the Report

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
“ESG Report”) provides an overview of the initiatives, plans
and performance of Madison Holdings Group Limited (the
“Company”’, “Madison”, the “Group” or “We”, together with its
subsidiaries) in Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
and demonstrates its commitment to sustainable development.

Reporting Period

This ESG Report describes the ESG activities, challenges and
measures taken by the Group during the year ended 31 March
2025 (the “Reporting Period”, “Year”, “2025").

Reporting Scope

The ESG Report primarily focuses on the ESG performance of
the Group’s headquarters in Hong Kong and its subsidiaries
in People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), which is the
major operating revenue activity controlled directly by our
management. The Group’s business principally includes (i) retail
sales and wholesales of wine products and other alcoholic
beverages (“Wine Business”), (ii) the provision of loan financing
and consultancy services (“Loan Financing Business”), and
(iii) the provision of financial services (“Financial Services
Business”).

Reporting Framework

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
ESG Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Reporting Principles

During the preparation of this ESG Report, the Group has
applied the Reporting Principles stipulated in the ESG Reporting
Guide as follows:

° “Materiality” — A materiality assessment was conducted
to identify material issues during the Reporting Period,
thereby adopting the confirmed material issues as the
focus for preparing this ESG Report. The materiality of
issues was reviewed and confirmed by the Board. Please
refer to the sections headed “Stakeholder Engagement” for
further details.

78 MADISON HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

BN AN | &

HBEEN

ARE  HE@LEAHRE(TESGHRE il 7 £ @
EREBEAERAR(XAAT]  [FHEK] [F5H]
FTHRM] EREMBAR)ERE HE8hEA
(TESG) T HmfEME ~ T8I RRE - WRR T HE A
FEEROAGE -

WEHE

RNESGHmEH M T ASKE R B £2025F3H31H IEF
EREHE ] [RNEE ] [2025F |) WATHE &
ESG/E ) - mE R A P8k R R B A 38 e ©

RESE
AESCHRETZMIAEERBENALRELEFE
M B AR ZESGRR  TERMEEBEREH DN
TEREUANED AEENEBIERETE
EtBEabER M EMBERRS((AEEREK])
(NREHEFBELRFARB((ERXBMEXLE]) X
(iERHEERBREG ((E@BREEL])

REER
AESGHRENREBEEZEHARIMARLAA([BX
Bt 1) GEME = £ 1R Al fif 8k C2 P & B ESG ¥R 15 #5 5
bl

HRERA
RARELIAESGHREMME - AEBEERMAESGHR &5l
HREM T I HERA :

e [EZM|-MNBEHRBMETE2 T EART
EXZE HMEECHANEAZEFRRR
RESCGHRENER - EFT G BN RERZEN

2N - E-—FHBEFL2HBFNELE|ZMH -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R #HEkELAHRE

ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)

Reporting Principles (Continued)

° “Quantitative” — Supplementary notes are added along with
quantitative data disclosed in this ESG Report to explain
any standards, methodologies, and sources of conversion
factors used to calculate environmental key performance
indicators (“KPIs”).

° “Balance” — This Report aims to provide a holistic and fair
view of the sustainability performance of the Group and
has not omitted any information related to material ESG
topics.

° “Consistency” — The approach adopted for preparing this
ESG Report was substantially consistent with the previous
year, and explanations were provided regarding data
with changes in the scope of disclosure and calculation
methodologies.

Forward-Looking Statements

This ESG Report contains forward-looking statements based
on the Group’s current expectations, estimations, projections,
beliefs, and assumptions about the business and the markets
in which it operates. These forward-looking statements are not
guarantees of future performance and are subject to market
risks, uncertainties, and factors beyond the Group’s control.
Therefore, actual outcomes may differ from the assumptions
made and the statements contained in this ESG Report.

Confirmation and Approval
This ESG Report was endorsed by the ESG Working Group and
approved by the Board in June 2025.

Contact Us

Your feedback is valuable to our continuous improvement, and
we welcome any comments and suggestions you may have on
this ESG Report or our future ESG strategy in general. Please
share any comments or suggestions regarding the Group’s ESG
performance at info@madison-group.com.hk.
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THE GROUP’S ESG GOVERNANCE
STRUCTURE

AEBEMNESGREL B

The Board Statement EHESGERE W E
%= =T EAR ® QOversee all ESG issues
EEEFIAESGEH

® Formulate ESG management approaches, strategies, priorities and goals
HEESGEIE A - Kl - BAFEKBR

® Evaluate ESG-related risks and opportunities
A RAESGHI R R iia

e Regularly review ESG-related targets
TEHRZE BB RIESGHIIER

® Review the disclosures in the ESG Report

~

and procedures

® Report to the Board on all ESG-related issues
ME=EEREMEHEBESCER

® Ensure compliance with relevant ESG laws and regulation
TR TAERAESGIARR RIER

e Collect and analyse ESG data and evaluate the effectiveness of policies
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® Ensure the implementation of plans to achieve ESG targets

ESG Working
Group i B B IR ESG AT
ESGI{/E/J\%H EE{%E\B‘EE-I—EIJ /(E EE TEIT/T

J

THE BOARD STATEMENT

To strengthen our sustainable development management, we
have established an ESG governance structure and developed
our ESG targets. The board of Directors of the Company
(“Board”) is solely accountable for the Group’s ESG governance
and sustainable development. The Board is responsible for
regularly reviewing the Group’s material issues, performance,
and ESG risks and opportunities. The Board is also responsible
for ensuring the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal controls. With the Board’s approval, the ESG
Working Group reviews and evaluates the concerns and
interests of stakeholders through a materiality analysis to
determine the Group’s approach, strategy and goals for ESG
management. The ESG Working Group is also responsible for
collecting and analysing ESG data, identifying the Group’s
ESG issues, reviewing the progress of goals and targets, and
reporting findings to the Board.
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ESG WORKING GROUP

The ESG Working Group (“Working Group”) was formed by
core members from different departments and operational
teams with approval by the Board. It assists the Board with
risk assessment and efficient policy implementation. The
Working Group’s duties encompass ESG data collection and
data analysis for ESG Report preparation. Additionally, the
Working Group is responsible for monitoring and evaluating
ESG performance to ensure full compliance with regulations.
Regular meetings are conducted to assess the effectiveness
of current policies and drive ongoing improvements in ESG
aspects. The Working Group promptly discusses essential ESG
topics, integrating ESG concerns into strategy development
for risk management and opportunity optimisation. Through
analysis and discussion, the Working Group establishes diverse
ESG goals as part of the sustainable development process,
transforming identified threats into opportunities through
policy formulation and implementation. The Working Group
periodically reports to the Board, assisting in assessing and
identifying the Group’s ESG risks and opportunities, evaluating
the implementation and effectiveness of internal control
mechanisms, and reviewing the progress of set goals and
targets.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Madison is committed to integrating sustainability into its ESG
strategies, focusing on improving environmental protection and
social responsibility. Recognising the importance of stakeholder
input, the Group actively engages in close communication to
understand and address their key concerns. To ensure effective
dialogue and incorporate stakeholder feedback into sustainable
management and ESG strategy development, the Group has
established diverse communication channels.

When formulating operational and ESG strategies, the
Group considers stakeholders’ expectations through diverse
engagement methods and communication channels. These
methods and channels are outlined below:
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (Continued) &S EH (%)

Stakeholders Expectations and Concerns Communication Channels

K&

ERBER

Government and regulatory
authorities

Compliance with local policies, laws
and regulations

Written or electronic correspondence
EEXEFREE

IR T A0 BS & R EBTEHBUR  EEMER e Visits and inspections
e On-time tax payment BilREE S
12 B 58 A B R
Shareholders and investors e Sustainable economic performance e Annual general meeting and other
RERAMIEE & Al B R EEE N shareholders’ meetings
e Risk management BRERBFERGRAMBRRE
[ Bz i 22 e Financial reports
e Sound corporate governance W mE
practices e Announcements and circulars
RIFEEERER NE KB

Company websites
UNGIEED

Customers e Knowledge of wine suggestions from e \Visits to online flagship store
B the sommelier 2E0 FEETE
MBFLENGSEMBEEBE2ER e Customer service hotline and emails
o H|gh-quallty services B P RSB AR TN E T E# F
B4 fR 7%
e Customer satisfaction
BEEmEE
Employees e Remuneration and benefits e Training, seminars, and briefing
BT 3 B A0 8 A sessions
e Good employment practices =zl - e kERe
ROMEREEER e Performance reviews
e Safe and healthy work environment BT
72 RER TERE e Emails
B {4
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (Continued) &S EH (%)

Stakeholders Expectations and Concerns Communication Channels
BHHE HMEREER BERE
Suppliers and business e Operation with integrity e Business meetings and discussions
partners WIS R EAMN R
HEEREBRH e Fair and open procurement process e Site visits
RNEFAFRBRERIE BEihZ R
e On-time payment
1R B < 3K
Industry e Establishment of industrial standards e Participation in industry forums
1% TEERENET 21T R IE
e Participation in industrial e Field visits
development i = 5
DEITEER
Loan and debt holders ® Regular discussions * Regular meetings
ERMEBHRFEA E HA R A EHEHE
e Compliant operation
BRGE
Media and the public e Transparent information disclosure e ESG reports
HEMAR B AR E A ESGH# &
e Company website
NGIEED
e Social media platforms
HRERBFA
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Material issues in this Report refer to what may have a significant
impact on the Group’s business operations or have an actual
impact on stakeholders. To identify and prioritise these issues,
the Group conducts a materiality assessment survey every year,
presenting the findings in the form of a materiality matrix.

The following matrix is a summary of the Group’s material ESG
issues:
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EEMER

High &

MATERIALITY MATRIX OF THE GROUP

Date privacy protection

BRI R

Supply chain management
HrEEER

Product quality management
EnmEER

Use of packaging material
BEMEHER

forced labour

FribE T Rogh|%5 T

o

SIES

Business ethics / I BRI R A .\
Prevention of child and rEEE -
Advertising and labelling
Whistle-blowing mechanism ’\' et AR

Employees’ rights and
welfare

Health and safety | [ Customer satisfaction and
BERETE complaint management

EEMEERIRHER

Training and development
BAIRER

Waste management P .
0///‘ Cllrrjatq challge Tltlgatlon and adaptation

AR RSB RIRE

Energy efficiency
Community BEIRR R

Impact on Stakeholders $##F{3 EHHE

articipation
?i\g%fﬁﬁi J Greenhouse gas emissions
= BERBHR

ater consumptlon
%7 =

Low 1& Impact on Business # ¥R & High &

The Group reviewed the results of the materiality assessment
and considered that the said result is applicable to the Group.
The Group will continue to monitor the Group’s business
operations and its ESG performance.
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ENVIRONMENT

The Group acknowledges that environmental protection
requires both collective and individual efforts. With the
growing concern over climate change and environmental
conservation, we understand the significance of reducing
emissions and minimising our environmental impact. To
achieve this, we have integrated a range of sustainable
practices into our business operations. To guide our green
initiatives, we have implemented an Environmental Policy
with specific guidelines encompassing four key areas:
emissions, resource usage, environmental and natural
resources, and climate change. The following sections
provide detailed information about our relevant green
measures.

Environmental Targets

In order to support global climate efforts and accelerate
the transition to a green, low-carbon economy, the Group
has set ambitious targets to achieve carbon neutrality by
2050. We have set FY2022 as the base year and FY2027
as the target year for our environmental targets as below:

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HEREBRSE

R

AEERA REREFTEEBNEANKR
Bh -BEAMBREE(LCMNRBRENR

BT HPPABRLEERNZERIHRREY
ENE2M - -RTERE-BERE RMAEK—F
FIMFHBEEREBEQINRMOEKLELSD -
STEBRMANZEEZ  ZMAERET —ER
BRER G EFEaREnEEaagnies
B B  BRER  REMKAREIRIA
RREEL - ATEORE T AR FPBEEZ
BREEHOFAER -

RREE

AEYEHEERRBRELNE N TNERAZE K
Tra el REEGE T AEMNERZ  5ER
2050F RIE B fix F A o T I LA2022 84 Bk F & 1E
ABEEF  WE202THRFEEAREEZEN
ENFED  BEBRBERZOT

2022
Environmental Aspects Units (baseline) 2025 Progress
BREM B 2022F H % 2025F EE
Greenhouse Gas Emission Intensity ~ tCO,e per million HKD .66 1.46  Achieved
revenue
mERBIENEE FRBETWREN A1 BEEX
iRE SR
Electricity Consumption Intensity MWh per million HKD 2.45 2.49  On progress
revenue
HEEE BEEBTWREA IR HEITH
ok
BE#E
Non-hazardous Waste Intensity Tonnes per million HKD 0.02 0.02  On progress
revenue
BEBRREVETE ESAER=N ez TR HEITH
Water Consumption Intensity m?3 per employee 7.10 6.6 Achieved
HKEE AAZTAKAKE B ERK

To achieve the environmental targets in the future, the
Group will continue to record and monitor the GHG
emissions and other relevant environmental data from time
to time.

RERRRNRFEER  AEEKEETHL
BRRERRERBERREMARRERE -
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A. ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

A1. Emissions

During the Reporting Period, the Group was
not aware of any material non-compliance with
environmental-related laws and regulations in relation
to exhaust gas and greenhouse gases (“GHGs”),
emissions, water and land discharge, and the
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste
that would have a significant impact on the Group.

Air Emissions

To align with the global development of the low
carbon economy, the Group pays attention to the air
emissions that arise from its daily operations. The
principal sources of air emissions are the combustion
of diesel and petrol arising from company vehicles. In
response to the above emission sources, we actively
take the following emission reduction measures:

° Optimise fuel consumption by proactively
planning routes in advance to minimise route
repetition;

° Maintain optimal engine performance and fuel
efficiency by regularly the servicing vehicle;

A. BE (#)
Al. BERYD
RS AEBRERTIAEAER
EERLAERE(RERE]) - Bk -
KREWHESURELAEEREZEEY
BBRNBEREEER AR EHAEEE
REATE -

3% 5% BF R

RARESEHERKEENER  ARERE
HRELTELENERIN - BERIFMAN
T 2R N BB E A A ) Sm A TR EY
KRIZE o ST 8 it BERUR - 3 PIFE S B AR
TRBEEE

e BBREAEIIRIEREALREE
M AR BEAREE

« BBTHMEERRRFREOED
Bt B O

o Minimise fuel consumption by actively turning o TEHFTrERIFHEMSIE  KHMmG
off the engine when the vehicle is idling. BORERERE &K o

The Group’s Emissions performance is summarised AREBWMHERIBERB MM T ¢

below:

Type of Air Pollutants Unit 2025 2024

ERTRUWER B 20254 2024 %

Nitrogen oxides (“NOx”) kg 16.85 17.78

A& (TNOx]) T

Sulphur oxides (“SOx”) kg 0.06 0.06

maEtyw(Tsox]) T

Particulate matter (“PM”) kg 1.55 1.63

BIZER ([PM)) Tr
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A. ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
A1. Emissions (Continued)

Gree
Madi

nhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions
son generates GHG emissions through the

use of vehicles, purchased electricity, as well as
paper waste at landfills. The Group is committed to
reducing its emissions and adopting practices that

A.

RIE (#)

Al. BER (&)
BERE(CRERE DER
EORBAERAER BENS HUKRY
I 4 L ) B A R R AR OB =R BEHE R o AN
EBMBARNBLHERL KA UBETRE
oL - AEEEREREHENER AR

are sustainable to the environment. The Group’s GHG R
Emissions performance is summarised below:
Indicator’ Unit 2025 2024
1R By 20254 20244
Direct GHG Emission (Scope 1) tCO,e 10.42 11.32
o Petrol and Diesel Consumption M —4&{tix=E &
EERERBHW(HE—)
o JRAMEHEME
Indirect GHG Emissions (Scope 2) tCO,e 88.88 83.45
o Purchased Electricity WS tixE =
MEAEREHER(EE )
e HMNEMEN
Other Indirect GHG Emission (Scope 3) tCO.e 4.46 3.50
e Paper Waste Disposal W_EimEE
o Air Travel
HFEAERBHER(EE=)
s REHEE
. MERT
Total GHG Emission tCOe 108.76 98.28
mERBEENEE ME—f{tixE =
Intensity? tCO,e/million 1.46 1.44
revenue (HK$)
BE2 M= f{tixE =
A&k (Br)
Notes: Kt -

1.

GHG emission data is presented in terms of carbon
dioxide equivalent and is based on, but not limited
to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the
World Resources Institute and the World Business
Council for Sustainable Development, “How to
prepare an ESG Report — Appendix Il: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the
HKEX, the latest released emission factors of China’s
regional power grid basis and the “Sustainability
Report 2024” published by HK Electric Investments
Limited.

As at 31 March 2025, the total revenue in the
Reporting Scope of the Group was HKD71.1 million
(as at 31 March 2024: HKD 68.1 million). This data is
also used to calculate other intensity data.

1. BEEREBHRBEA-_SLELREERT
AN (BEETRR) £ RERFEHA
MERATHEERIFESSEMGN DR
ERBETE  CEGHARERE]
Bt 2 P BX MR &Y [ 04A) AR R ESGHR & — T 8%
—CRBHBAENERERES] - &
EHOPEREERFRERNEEE D
REFRABEME [2024F A HEER
W&o

2. HZE2025%3A310 AEEREHEER
MBKA BT 18 8B T (FHE2024F3 A
31H :68.1EHEBIT) - WHIEERNFTHE
H 28U o
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A. ENVIRONMENT (continued) A.
A1. Emissions (Continued)

RIE(#)
Al. BER¥ (&)

Sewage Discharge

Due to the nature of its business, the Group’s
business activities do not generate much sewage
discharge. As the wastewater discharged by the
Group is sent to the local sewage treatment plants
for treatment through the municipal sewage network,
the Group’s water consumption amount is about the
same as sewage discharge.

Waste Management

We have an internal waste management guideline
that ensures all waste is properly collected and
handled by licensed contractors, and according to
local laws and regulations. The guideline identifies
personnel responsible and details of their duties. It
also explicitly outlines garbage collection, storage,
and disposal methods. We encourage our employees
to follow the guidelines and to embrace the challenge
of circularity.

Hazardous Waste

Due to the nature of Madison’s business, the Group
did not generate any hazardous waste during the
Reporting Period. However, the Group has also
formulated guidelines for the management and
disposal of hazardous waste. If hazardous waste
is generated, the Group must engage qualified
chemical waste collectors to treat such waste such
that it complies with relevant environmental laws and
regulations.
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A. ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

A1l.

Emissions (Continued)

Non-hazardous Waste

The Group generates non-hazardous waste through
its business activities, including office paper,
general waste, and wooden boxes used for storing
alcoholic beverages. Committed to sustainability,
Madison actively raises employee awareness about
the importance of waste reduction. As part of this
initiative, the Group has set a target to progressively
decrease office paper disposal, as detailed in the
“Environmental Target” section.

To further enhance environmental performance,
Madison has implemented several eco-friendly waste
management initiatives, including:

° To implement a recycling program by
designating specialised bins for the collection of
recyclable materials like plastics and paper;

° To maximise the reuse of single-sided
wastepaper and office supplies, such as folders,
envelopes, and plastic files;

° To choose recyclable products and
rechargeable batteries instead of disposable
alternatives, prioritising sustainability and waste
reduction;

° To enact proper recycling protocols for office
paper and electronic equipment after their life
cycle; and

° Not to print electronic correspondences only
when necessary.

A. BE (#)

Al. BER (&)
mEBEY
AEEBBHEBIHELBEHEEY -
BERARSR  —REYNARETBRE
FRHAE c ERBBARTHBEEE -
BERSETIHRIBENEEHNRE -
ERZHEN— %S  AEBSFET — @
BiE  BARMOBARMNES  H5 (B
{RAEHE | — 5 o

RTE-TPRSRBEN  BBEREET
ZHRREVMEERE B

o EBIEEFRPIRE U KK E BRI
ARORE R @A - T E 5 E AT

2

e ZESMEEEMNBRIASM Hl
MR EHMEHXHSR
e EEBFUMLOWERMAEEH  AERRK

—REERR  BEEEAHERE
Mm D EEY

s HEMARALREFRENERABRG
Rig - GIEEEEN@ERE R

s EELXVER AHHNEFEH-
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A. ENVIRONMENT (continued) A. RE (%)
A1. Emissions (Continued) Al. BER (&)
Non-hazardous Waste (Continued) BEBEEY(E)
During the Reporting Period, Madison generated a RGN FHaREEET1.26MEE
total of 1.26 tonnes of non-hazardous waste. The BEEY  AEBEEZEZEYWHAANXER
Group’s performance of non-hazardous wastes is BEWT :

summarised below:

Types of Wastes Unit 2025 2024
BEY A B 20254 2024%F
Office Paper tonnes 0.67 0.2
NS Mg
General Waste tonnes 0.35 0.76
—REEEY A
Office Waste tonnes 0.18 =
WREEREY TiA
Cans and Bottles tonnes 0.06 0.08
2 1 i AR F g
Total Non-hazardous Waste Disposed tonnes 1.26 1.04
BEEENMEELS Mg
Intensity tonnes/million 0.02 0.02
revenue (HK$)

BE BaBmkR(ET)

A2. Use of Resources A2. ERWEH
Madison continues to introduce resource efficiency RMGEEENEFBRNES R S| ABRM
and eco-friendly measures to the Group’s operations RFNIBRE W OREFRAEEEY
and is committed to optimising resource use in all R ELEREER AEEEHEAERERE
business operations. Our Group has established BEFERES ShEEZERLEERKE
guidelines to govern resource utilisation effectively, EIRIER S E -

aiming to minimise the environmental impact of its
business operations.
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A. ENVIRONMENT (continued) A.
A2. Use of Resources (Continued)

RE(#)
A2. EFRWNER &)

Energy Management

The primary source of energy consumption for the
Group is electricity, particularly in our wine cellars
and wine cabinets. Recognising the importance
of integrating energy conservation and emission
reduction into our business operations and
development objectives, we have taken proactive
measures to address such an objective. One such
initiative is implementing an insulated warehouse
facility, designed to minimise the need for excessive
electricity usage. By employing advanced insulation
techniques, we aim to substantially reduce our overall
energy consumption while maintaining optimal wine
storage conditions. The relevant specific measures
are as follows:

° Maximise the efficiency of light fixtures and
lamps by keeping them clean;

° Optimise energy consumption by utilising split-
type air conditioners with grade 1 energy labels
and setting the air conditioning systems to a
minimum temperature of 25.5 degrees Celsius;

° Enable automatic standby or sleeping mode on
computers when idling; and

° Power down electronic appliances, lights, and
air conditioners before breaks, at the end of
the workday, and during holidays to conserve
energy.

Furthermore, Madison conducts sustainability
education and training from time to time, promotes
practical suggestions on eco-friendly lifestyles, and
raises employees; awareness of energy conservation
by posting electricity-saving slogans.

REREE
AEENTIERRBERRRESEN LE
= AP OB = ME AR o TR AR R ED AR R
ERMAXKEEMEREGNER T
UL RB T REGEBAZHEER R - &
T-RBERERRARERE  EHER
AREHBRVBERENFTR - BBKA
SEERNRBRM - HANEFEEXERK
ERER FARRESXENBHERER
- AREARHERET

s FRERARKENBBZE RARE
iRmERE

e ERAAIREREHENIEA=

W UWHEARGHREBERER
BEK25.5/E @ NE(LREIRIBFE

e HEWGEERLRABMBITHINKRE

B A
o HEREH c THEMAKBEBEEAE

Ax  BREMZER - ASAIBEIR ©

BN - BERAEETARERRHE M
gl ERREBAANEREZS X
REEI  BBRMAEARKIESHE

=z iy
= =

SN
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A. ENVIRONMENT (continued) A. BE (#)
A2. Use of Resources (Continued) A2. ERNERE)
Energy Management (Continued) HREE(Z)
A summary of energy consumption performance is LB R BB A EH I T
below:
Types of Energy Unit 2025 2024
RERER B 20254 2024 %
Direct Energy Consumption MWh 39.28 42.83
BEREIRER JK FL B
. Petrol 18.46 18.29
LI
o Diesel 20.82 24.54
LI
Indirect Energy Consumption MWh 208.85 211.95
M # ge R B JK BB
o Purchased Electricity 208.85 211.95
. BEME
Total Energy Consumption MWh 248.13 254.78
EENOI=E = 8= JK FL B
Intensity MWh/million 3.49 3.74
revenue (HK$)
®E KR, B & Wawm (&)
Water Management Ik &
The Group primarily uses water for cleaning AREFBHNBAKEFEEREFTZRA
activities in our offices and warehouse. As the MEE BN AEFERLDDERE f’_ﬁ&
Group recognises the prevailing global water KB BRERBEZE @ BKMERE EE RS K
scarcity, we proactively implement strategies to fRRE— BN E  RPEEIHHEER
address this critical issue. We promote a culture KL - WERE T — R 5 5K 4 B K
of water conservation among employees and have g AEFTERESBE2HN/KEALRER
implemented a range of measures to mitigate water EEMBEE - LA T2 ER — LK
usage. The Group has no issue in sourcing water that A

is fit for purpose. The following are some of the water
conservation initiatives we have established:

J Recycle and reuse grey water to clean and o [OUABR ARKRKIKZZMEERAD
water plants in offices; ENEY

o Minimise water pressure to the lowest o BKEBEHEEYETITHRENKE ;
practicable level; and A

. Address dripping taps promptly to prevent o NEFERIEE/KAKEERE - LA IEEE AN
additional leakage and wastage. B2 RARE ©
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A. ENVIRONMENT (continued) A.
A2. Use of Resources (Continued)

RE(#)
A2. EFRWNER &)

Water Management (Continued)
A summary of water consumption performance is
below:

KEE(E)
FNOBRER IR E SN AT -

Indicator Unit 2025 2024
EBE B 2025%F 20244
Total Water Consumption m? 624.00 644.50
BIEK=E AVAPIP

Intensity m3/employee 6.06 5.60
RE SNHKBTL

Use of Packaging Materials BRMBENER

Packaging materials such as carton boxes and
plastic packaging rolls are commonly used in the
Wine Business. However, the Group is committed
to minimising reliance on plastic packaging rolls
whenever feasible and actively promotes the
implementation of simplified packaging. As part
of this commitment, the Group prioritises the
incorporation of paper-based materials as substitutes
for plastic, while also emphasising the reuse of paper
boxes and plastic packaging rolls whenever possible.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not
purchase any packaging materials, as we bought a
large quantity in the previous year and are currently
utilising the existing stock.

MENZBERSSEEMHMABERNE
BBER AR AKREHIREANITH
BRATEERIULEBEESHKE 1
RERESHECBENER - (FRE — AW
W—&D AEEELEERAEMHER
PRHNERD  REGBRARATREER
RESNEBEERS -

RBEEHEA  AKEREBEEAEK
TH ARRMEEFBETREREM
£ BREEERBRENER -
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A. ENVIRONMENT (Ccontinued) A. BE (#)
A2. Use of Resources (Continued) A2. ERNERE)

Use of Packaging Materials (Continued) BEREMBENER(E)

Types of Packaging Material Unit 2025 2024
BEMBHER By 20254 2024%F
Plastic Products kg 1.1 1.5
g K T T

Paper Products kg 92 121
RE Fr

Total Packaging Materials Used kg 93.1 122.50
AW EBREME T

Intensity kg/thousand 0.010 0.009

bottles of alcoholic
beverages sold

BE TR/ FRELS
B S SR
Notes: B
3. During the Reporting Period, 9,563 alcoholic 3. R EEERA - 25 19,5631 (20244 -
beverages (2024: 12,560) were sold. 12,5600 ) /B 15k -
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A. ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

A3.

A4.

The Environment and Natural Resources
The Group pursues the best practices in
environmental protection and focuses on its impact
on the environment and natural resources. The
Group has integrated the concept of environmental
protection into its daily operations so as to achieve
environmental sustainability.

Indoor Air Quality

Madison monitors and assesses the indoor air quality
within its premises on a regular basis. Throughout
the year, the indoor air quality maintained by the
Group has remained consistently excellent. To
further enhance the quality of indoor air, the Group
has implemented several measures. Air purifying
equipment has been strategically placed within
the premises. These devices effectively filter out
pollutants, contaminants, and dust particles,
ensuring a cleaner and healthier indoor environment
for employees and visitors alike. Furthermore, the
Group places great importance on regularly cleaning
and maintaining its air conditioning systems.

Climate Change

Madison is fully aware of the critical threat of
climate change and is actively taking measures
to mitigate its carbon footprint. Recognising the
significance of identifying and addressing climate
related issues, the Group maintains a vigilant watch
over the potential impact of climate change on its
business and operations. To ensure comprehensive
risk management, Madison has implemented
an enterprise risk management system that
encompasses climate change as a key consideration.
Proactively, the Group conducted a thorough climate
change assessment to identify and analyse potential
risks associated with its business operations.

A.

5
A3.

A4,

(&)

BEMRRER
AEEERRERENRETER Y HE
REHREMRABRNTE - AEEH
RRESCBABRZES  UERREA
FEER -

EREZRME
EEREHERANFEESAANER
ZRmE - 2F AKELAFNEAER

EZ—EBHERFERT - ATE—FPRESENRN
ERmE AEEERTZEEE - =X
FEREEEBEEHEBEESTA » 5L
BT B BURBE S AY) - MEMIKERE
oo HERABIMGRREEFTR - B
BRHWZEANIRE - b AEEFEFTERT
HERRREETEFHARS -

RIRE M

BBRANBAHIREECHNENRE -
I[IEZ—EFWT‘”HNE TR 2 B B B o ANE

RABRMBRARREERAENEER

’I‘E + X B ) B E SRR & {tiﬁﬁi\%i&fﬂi“
MEBEEXE BTHREZEMNARER
RERERTEXRREERS ?Hﬁﬂ%
BERAREREAR - AEEBEHETT
1@#)%1?““:%15 A 3% Bl A0 > A7 2 H
XK ELHBANEBERR -
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A. ENVIRONMENT (continued) A.
A4. Climate Change (Continued)

RIE(#)
Ad. RIzB{L (&)

Physical Risks

The increased frequency and severity of extreme
weather events such as typhoons, storms, heavy
rains, and extreme cold or heat bring acute and
chronic physical risks to the Group’s business.
Worldwide product shipping and transportation may
be disrupted because of extreme weather incidents,
as a result, cargoes may be delayed or lost. Besides,
the damaged products due to improper handling
during the transportation process may also affect
the quality of the Group’s products. These will
expose the Group to risks associated with non-
performance and delayed performance, leading to
a direct negative impact on the Group’s revenue.
To minimise potential risks and hazards, the Group
has established mitigation plans, including flexible
working arrangements, precautionary measures
and extra formwork protection during bad or
extreme weather conditions. The Group will explore
emergency plans to further reduce the vulnerability
of our installations to extreme weather events and
enhance business stability.

Transition Risks

To achieve the global vision of carbon neutrality,
the Group expects the evolution of the regulatory,
technological and market landscape due to climate
change, including the tightening of national policies,
the emergence of environmentally related taxes, and
shifting customer preference to an eco-friendlier
operation. In response to the policy, legal and
reputation risks, the Group constantly monitors any
changes in laws or regulations and global trends
on climate change to avoid cost increments, non-
compliance fines or reputational risks due to delayed
response.
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RIE -HEREBRS
B. SOCIAL
B1. Employment

The Group recognises that employees are the
most essential and indispensable cornerstone of its
development. To ensure optimal human resource
management, the Group has implemented a
comprehensive set of formal procedures meticulously
documented in the Employee Handbook. These
procedures encompass various critical aspects,
including recruitment, promotion, termination,
remuneration, benefits, diversity, and equal
opportunities. Furthermore, the Group prioritises
the occupational health and safety of its workforce.
Creating a secure and healthy working environment is
paramount, and the Group takes proactive measures
to ensure the well-being and safety of its employees.
During the Reporting Period, the Group was unaware
of any material non-compliance with any relevant
laws and regulations in relation to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment, and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare, that
would have a significant impact on the Group.

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal

Madison upholds an approach revolving around fair
and equal opportunity when carrying out promotions
and dismissals. Promotions are evaluated annually,
considering objective performance indicators.
Supervisors actively engage in open and constructive
communication with employees, discussing their
performance and facilitating career advancement
opportunities. Regular performance appraisals are
conducted to assess employees’ work performance,
capabilities and growth potential, serving as a
foundation for future promotions and training
initiatives.

B. &+ &

B1. E{E
AEBENEIREARIRREEENRA
KHRER - B THREEZENOANERE
B AEEEBT —E2AMNEREF
WHECELIFM)RFMEsE - EERF
RESERRIE  BERE -EH -
BE - FH - EF STMTSRE -
o REBBETHBEREREMNZ 2K
EEM &L 2RENIIEREZE@E
E AEEEREGEERRE THE
WHAZE - RIBEHIRT - AEERMRAE
MEBEHRRE BEREH IR
B KREER - TE#Re 2l kI
BREMFEREMNZEREREE M
REFERENEENEEELEATE -

BE - BANEE
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B. SOCIAL (continued) B. #t € (#)
B1. Employment (Continued) Bi1. Ef& (&)

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal
(Continued)
Encouraging internal promotion, Madison provides

BE - BANEEE)

ﬂL?F?kﬁﬁDW“ETﬂ RETRHEEIND

employees with additional avenues for personal AAMBEZERERT - REBIFEFERK
and professional development. The Group places NERIE R AL F‘%WL%X{K W7 3R 5% &
great importance on nurturing talent from within its ETIWNEH - A TETHEEETR %A%

ranks, fostering a culture of growth and recognising BRI LtEEEE NMREEMRE  ER
the potential of its workforce. In adherence to TEZJX;‘E@E’\]W%BBZ% C HEREBEESERIE
ethical practices, the organisation strictly prohibits M e 5“‘mﬁﬁ@%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁ%%%%
unjustifiable dismissals. If the need for dismissal BREE « AV RA WD EEHFES
arises, it is to be based on reasonable and lawful TH#ER °

grounds, in accordance with the Group’s internal

policies. Madison ensures that all dismissals are

handled with sensitivity, fairness, and respect for the

affected employees.

Compensation and Benefits ﬁ@ﬂ%ﬂﬁﬂ

Madison actively recruits and attracts talents, HARBERBEMES AL - BELQFER

providing fair and competitive compensation.
Employees’ salaries and year-end bonuses are
determined based on factors such as qualifications,
work performance, performance appraisal results and
market trends. In addition, the Group is committed to
providing different career development pathways for
its employees. The Group has no tolerance for unfair

ﬁm%)‘]ﬁ’ﬂ#ﬁ@ﬂoﬁalﬁﬁléﬂiﬁﬁ%
EREEE  TIEEX  EARXERERM
MEBEERAREERN ° I REBEH
NBBIRHUZT(EMBEEREE - K
’iliﬁT/\u TRFRERE - WHEREER
FRFRH  REBEECE T FM)FHIE
I EHTﬁﬂ%ﬂiﬁt/—\ﬁﬁ’ﬁiFﬂﬂ%# °

dismissal and ensures that the dismissal procedure BHN 0 BRAREEKSE  AEEFEEEE
is fair and open. The Group has formulated and ETWMIEBREEEGE -

stated the procedures and conditions of dismissal
and contract termination in the Employee Handbook.

There is also a list of handover tasks to ensure
the seamless transition of job duties of departing
employees.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)
B1. Employment (Continued)

B. #t€ (%)
Bi1. EE (&)

Equal Opportunity, Diversity and
Anti-Discrimination

Madison is committed to strict compliance with all
national and local governmental laws and regulations.
We uphold a fair, equitable, and transparent
recruitment process, establishing policies that
prevent discrimination in recruitment. We strive to
provide equal and fair treatment to all employees,
encompassing areas such as recruitment,
remuneration, training, promotion, dismissal,
retirement, and other aspects of employment. If an
employee faces intimidation, bullying, or harassment,
including sexual harassment, they are encouraged
to report the matter to their designated employee
representative or directly to the general manager.
The Group takes such complaints seriously and
will employ appropriate measures to promptly
address and resolve these issues upon receipt of the
complaint.

Employee Communication Channels

The Group actively recruits and attracts talent,
providing fair and competitive compensation.
Employees’ salaries and year-end bonuses
are determined based on qualifications, work
performance, performance appraisal results and
market trends. To ensure a fair and transparent
process, the Group has established guidelines in the
Employee Handbook. It stipulates that employees
should report any irregularities or concerns to their
supervisors or the Human Resources Department.

FEHRE  ZARRER

BERBMNRBERETHERRMILT
BFREEMER - ZfIeERF - AL
MERNABIEIRE - L HIEL BB KR
MEEK - BMBHRMBETIRHEFFM
RENFE BEAE FM 58
Tt fRE RAMEMRESE - WRE
TEHERRG FELEE SFELEEE -
B BEMREENETIRRKEER
REERELE AEERFHFTUHEAR
o U AERERFRRIVEE B M
FEIE MR E LA -

ETRERE
AEBEBBBEMES AL - REQFM
BEHRFHANEH BEINFMANFRES
ERFEEE - TEEXN - ARXERERM
MEBBETN - RFERAFMNERNR
2 AEBAECEIFMOFHIE T HEE
5l e ZMEBTRMETERANEIRE
FImEEMERTRANER
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B. SOCIAL (continued) B. &+ &(#)
B1. Employment (Continued) Bi. EfE (&)
Employee Communication Channels (Continued) EBIBBEEE(EZ)
As of March 31, 2025, the employee structure is H E2025F3A31H ETHBUOTA R ¢

shown below:

2025 2024
Number of Employees ET A 20254 20244
Total FEE 103 113
By Gender % M 5l
Male B4 46 52
Female % 57 61
By Age Group 1% ;4 B
Below 30 305 A T 3 10
30 to 40 3088 £ 408% 63 66
Over 40 4055 A 37 37
By Employment Type RERFER
Full Time 2B 103 113
Part-Time B 0 0
By Employment Category ZEREE R
Senior Management SRhERE 114} 13
Middle Management RRERE 18 19
General Staff —REE 71 81
By Geographical Region BB EE
Hong Kong BB 37 44
PRC B 66 69
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B. SOCIAL (continued)
B1. Employment (Continued)
Employee Communication Channels (Continued)
During the Reporting Period, the overall employee
turnover is 18.45% (2024: 39.48%). The breakdown
of employee turnover information is as follows:

tEg#)
Bi1. EE (&)

ETIBBERE(E)

RMEHAR - BEB T RARKAE18.45%
(20244F : 39.48%) - B Tk E& £ B 41 &k
BT

23

i

2025 2024
Turnover Rate (%) MEE(%) 20254 20245
By Gender & Bl
Male B4 22.00 54.00
Female M 16.00 30.00
By Age Group & F 4 B
Below 30 30BE A T 100.00 40.00
30 to 40 305% £ 408% 21.00 32.00
Over 40 405% A = 8.00 57.00
By Geographical Region & E E
Hong Kong BB 19.00 48.00
PRC s 18.00 36.00
Notes: Ktz -
4. The overall turnover rate is calculated by dividing the 4. M R E R 2SR A BN BB &Y

number of employees leaving employment during the
reporting period by the number of employees at the
end of the Reporting Period.

5, The turnover rate by specific category is calculated by
dividing the number of employees leaving employment
in the specified category during the Reporting Period
by the number of employees as at the end of the
reporting period in the specified category.

BETABGAREHMROE T AR -

5 BEERFIBSNRRXNAETELH
WS HABER R EEA BB R ABRIAR
EREHREERINNEEAR -
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B. SOCIAL (continued)
B2. Health and Safety

B. #t € (#)
B2. @FREZ2

Madison places great importance on the well-being
of its employees and is dedicated to fostering a
workplace that is healthy, safe, and comfortable.
The Group has established, implemented, and
closely monitored a series of health and safety codes
of conduct, drawing upon industry conventions
and regulatory guidelines. Led by the Group’s
management, the administration department, and
supervisors from different departments; collectively
undertake safety management responsibilities.
This entails identifying potential risks, coordinating
comprehensive health and safety training,
disseminating relevant information to employees, and
ensuring adequate first aid supplies and fire safety
equipment. The Group has implemented specific
safety procedures for jobs that involve hazardous
tasks, ensuring that every employee is responsible
and accountable for the Group’s safety objectives.
Regular fire drills and evacuation exercises ensure
employees are well-prepared and informed about
the necessary actions to take during emergencies.
Furthermore, to facilitate the safe and efficient
movement of heavy boxes of alcoholic beverages
within our warehouse, we have equipped our
employees with electric pallet trucks. These specially
designed trucks provide a convenient and ergonomic
solution for transporting heavy loads, minimising the
risk of injuries.

Madison has established a system for reporting
hazards, accidents, injuries, and illnesses. This
system enables prompt responses and necessary
interventions to address any safety concerns that
may arise. Furthermore, relevant safety procedures,
working instructions, machines and equipment
maintenance safety guidelines, in-house safety
rules, and suitable personal protective equipment
provisions have been implemented and updated to
ensure the safety and health of employees during
their daily operations.

] 02 MADISON HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B2.

B3.

B. &+ (%)

Health and Safety (Continued) B2. REEHEZZ(#)

Fiscal Year Unit 2025 2024 2023

MBEE By 20254 20244 2023%F

Fatalities due to work Cases 0 0 0

THRT ([HES

Fatalities Rate % 0 0 0

A

Lost days due to work injury Days 0 7 256

PSRN =TSR =]

Note: Hiat -

6. The Group has subscribed to employees’ 6. RNEBD AFMERERERRERREEFERE -
compensation insurance for all employees, and it has RERERIXEME ZAHEE -
covered the compensation required due to work-
related injury.

Development and Training B3. R EEE I

Recognising talent as the cornerstone of its
competitive advantage, Madison places paramount
importance on the development of its employees,
considering it a vital responsibility. With the aim of
providing enhanced career growth opportunities
and a conducive working environment, the Group
consistently endeavours to refine its interna
training system. This system caters to the diverse
needs of employees at all levels, offering a range
of training modes and courses such as induction
training, generic skills development, professional
development, and leadership programmes. The
induction training, meticulously crafted by the Human
Resources Department and the Administration
Department, acquaints new employees with essential
aspects such as rules, regulations, and business
functions. The Group provides targeted management
and leadership enhancement programmes for
experienced managers, senior executives, and
key talents, cultivating exceptional individuals who
contribute significantly to Madison’s success.
Additionally, the Group collaborates with externa
trainers to deliver comprehensive vocational skills,
training, enabling employees to refine their expertise
in specific domains. Moreover, the Group offers
meticulously designed and refined training programs
to enhance employees’ soft skills, empowering them
to excel both personally and professionally.

RBRBATRSBRFEZINER  Flt
FEERETITNER UHERS—HE
ENET RTRHEFNBERRHKS
MEMOTHERE  AKE-BEBINET
EHERAAFIRG ZERMEERET
MEHRAEFR  RE-RIFIEAMR
BomARE - BRREERER  BEXE
RMEBEBNE - ABIEIEAADERS
MITBER LR  EHETABRA
ERMEBBESEATH  AEEAK
REENKE FREEABNBEREAS
REBHHEUENERBNAE NETEE
BEREBEZRNKIY ML EXRE B G
HATA o goh - REEE RS IE A S
fF EHEEOBEREMZI - 8T
EEATEMMEREEHENERME - It
Sh - AEBIRERE O R M T H N E G
2 NIREEETHEREE BNt
EAMBEZETEHAM L o
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B. SOCIAL (Continued) B. £t 8 (#)
B3. Development and Training (Continued) B3. ZREEIE (&)
During the Reporting Period, Madison provided RIEBRA - ZERIEE T L9608/ Y15
around 608 hours of training, with an average training - BT E THFEHEINNELDE5.9
hour of approximately 5.9 training hours per trained N o MBI E THEAESME TH D
employee. The breakdown of the employee trained by (N

gender and employee category is as follows:

2025 2024
20255 20245
Percentage Breakdown Average Percentage Breakdown Average
of employees  of employees Training Hours  of employees  of employees  Training Hours
trained (%) trained (%) (Hours) trained (%) trained (%) (Hours)
XHET THET  VHEIRY XHET XIS FORIEH
Indicators KB BAL(%)  AELHI(%) (1) AA(%)  AELHI(%) ()
By Gender iRl
Male St 73.91 4474 591 65.38 425 392
Female it 73.68 55.26 589 75.41 51.5 452
By Employee Category BEIER
Senior Management EREEE 64.29 1.84 5.14 76.92 125 4.62
Management R 72.22 7.1 5.78 73.68 17.5 4.42
General Staff —#ES 76.06 71.05 6.08 69.14 70 415
B4. Labour Standards B4. BT ESE
Prevention of Child and Forced Labour BrIEE THEE LT
The Group has zero tolerance and strictly prohibits REFBRDNESAZEE  BEFELHE
the use of child labour and forced labour in our BETMRENA T o B ERELLA T ¥8 i 2K 36
operations. The measures mentioned below have GELIEERETS -
been taken to avoid these illegal employment
practices.

Prevention of child labour During the recruitment process, the human resources department will verify the
applicant’s identity documents and ensure that they have reached the minimum
age for employment.

IEERET EHRERES  ANBRBFABZERFANTOHEAXM - WHRRMMADE
FHEMREFR -

Prohibition of forced labour The Group specifies overtime compensation provisions in the Employee
Handbook. The Group carefully monitors the employee working time and
working schedule to ensure they work voluntarily and freely.

2RI T AEEEEIFMARE T MHEMERK - AEBEFAEES T AT ERREM
TERRER - AREMRMFI B R B B TIE -
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B4.

BS.

Labour Standards (Continued)

In case of any illegal labour practice discovered, the
Group will stop their employment immediately. An
investigation will be carried out subsequently and
the case will be reported to the relevant authorities.
During the Reporting Period, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with child and
forced labour-related laws and regulations that would
have a significant impact on the Group.

Supply Chain Management

Qur supply chain management incorporates
the principle of sustainability in every part of
the procurement process, including logistics,
sourcing, selection of materials, distribution and
inventory management. Our Group gives priority to
products and services which are environmentally
friendly and socially responsible. We regularly
evaluate our vendors based on their compliance
with applicable laws and regulations in relation to
safety, environmental protection, and other social
aspects. Regular assessments covering professional
qualification, service quality, financial status,
integrity, and legal compliance are conducted as
needed. When the result is not satisfactory, the
supplier will be removed from the approved supplier
list.

B. &+ (%)

B4.

B5.

BIEEE)

MBI IEEL T A - ANEE A
EEAMM - BREETHE TR
HRELBERED - RBEHH - 5 H
ARBEAMEAERETI KA THE
FEEREHOBR MRS ERRERE
UWREEELSATE -

HEREE
BPNEEEERESTSELERIBA
REBENEBENY  BEYR  HE
MEEE DHENEFERE -AEEEL
EERFRMHALERENERMRS - &
MERFEHERRTETRRZE - RE
R & M E Al 4 & 75 T AE R BB DR B AR
Mo REFBETTHNMG BEEXE
B RBmE - BHRR - BENEREE
MM MRERTIME - HEBKERR
R R B kR
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B5. Supply Chain Management (Continued)

Every supplier is required to comply with our code of
practice, which prohibits the offering of gifts, loans,
hospitality, services or favour in an improper manner.
In addition, the Group encourages our business
partners to adopt the best environmental and social
practices and to integrate sustainability into the core
business, through developing energy-saving and
consumption-reduction policies. For example:

° Reduce the use of virgin materials;

° Avoid single-use disposable items and replace
them with durable, reusable and/or recyclable
alternatives;

° Minimise the use of packaging;

° Adopt specifications for greater energy
efficiency, water efficiency and clean
technology; and

° Opt for recyclable toner and ink cartridges and
procures paper from responsible-managed
forests including post-consumer recycled
content as demonstrated through sustainability
certifications.

In the Wine Business, the Group acquires wine
products primarily through (i) purchases from wine
merchants and wineries, (ii) purchases through
auction houses, and (iii) purchases from individual
wine collectors.

] 06 MADISON HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B5.

B6.

Supply Chain Management (Continued)
The number of suppliers by geographic region is as
follows:

B. &+ (%)
B5. HEHEEIE(£)
EE RSB S ML EERENT -

2025 2024
Geographical Region 3 & i 20254 20244
Hong Kong a5 64 68
China = 4 4
United Kingdom BEE 34 23
United States EE 2 3
Europe M 19 16
Japan Az 1 1
Product Responsibility B6. Em=1F

Maintaining high-quality standards within the
Group is crucial, given the vulnerability of alcoholic
beverages to external environmental factors that
can significantly affect their integrity. To ensure
optimal conditions for wine storage, our self-operated
warehouses strictly adhere to the Fine Wine Storage
Management Systems Standard established by the
Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency (HKQAA).
These facilities are equipped with advanced
temperature and humidity control systems to uphold
an ideal storage environment. To safeguard our wine
products from potential damage caused by heat and
vibration, we have taken proactive steps to enhance
the infrastructure of our warehouses. Insulation
and anti-vibration materials have been meticulously
installed on both the floors and ceilings, providing an
additional layer of protection.

ERNBRABBZZIIIMREARD
FE AHEAKBEABRESEERE
EHER ELAZEREFEHER=E
- RTERBEERFORERGE R
MOBLREBRKRETEERERER
HKQAA) B EMBE BB ERFEERMR
R FERBERT TENRENRE
THIRG  AEREBEENGFERERE - /T
RERMFNBELEER R RAMNESE
REVEERE - BAIRIR T B &S i 20
BB EREMRE o iR M KRIEREBIE L
RRTBEMBHEDE - RE T HINOR

EE -

SEARREESRAT FH02425 107



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HEREBRSE

B. SOCIAL (continued)
B6. Product Responsibility (Continued)

B. &+ (%)
B6. EREE (&)

If a power failure happens, our warehouse is
equipped with a reliable backup power system that
can autonomously sustain the temperature and
humidity control system for up to eight hours.

In addition to fulfilling stringent storage requirements,
our Group conducts meticulous inspections of
sample wine products and reviews photos of old
and valuable stock before placing orders with
wine merchants and wineries. Upon receiving the
products, we conduct thorough quality control
inspections to ensure compliance with our high
standards. We also adhere to the suppliers’ return
policy, which is in line with industry practices, to
protect consumer rights.

To facilitate customer satisfaction and address any
quality concerns, we offer the option for customers
to request returns or exchanges for wine products
with vintages below ten years and selling prices
below HK$1,000 per bottle. To initiate this process,
customers are required to present proof of purchase,
and upon verification of quality issues by our Group,
appropriate actions will be taken promptly.

If quality or food safety issues are identified
during the quality control inspection or reported
by customers, our management will recall the
affected products and implement timely remediation
measures. Furthermore, we conduct thorough
analyses of product recall incidents to identify their
root causes and prevent their recurrence. This
process allows us to continuously improve our
quality assurance practices and implement necessary
corrective actions.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not
record any products sold or shipped that were
subjected to recalls for safety and health reasons.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)
B6. Product Responsibility (Continued)

B. &+ (%)
B6. EREE (&)

In addition, the Group is dedicated to upholding
the highest standards of quality and regulatory
compliance in our operations. With national policies
on financial industry regulation becoming increasingly
stringent, we have implemented a comprehensive
Quality Assurance Policy to ensure full adherence
to local laws and regulations. This policy includes a
rigorous quality assurance process that undergoes
regular reviews and updates to align with the
latest standards. To provide customers with high-
quality financial services, the Group has obtained
all necessary licenses and permits required for its
operations in the PRC. We also continuously monitor
the expiration dates of these licenses and initiate
timely renewal processes to maintain compliance.

During the Reporting Period, the Group invested
significant time and resources to ensure strict
compliance with relevant industry regulations, laws,
rules, and policies, and to ensure that the products
and services provided meet the requirements of
all stakeholders. Beyond annual audit checks, we
conduct special audit inspections on key areas such
as client fund management, information disclosure,
and operational compliance to enhance effective risk
control and meet regulatory requirements.

SO AEBBREBIRELETETR
BRERERERARER BESER
HEMEEERRBBES  RASHE
2EMNCMERERR)  AERT2EST
EHIERER - MBREE —EBRBOM
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B. SOCIAL (continued) B. +€ (%)
B6. Product Responsibility (Continued) B6. EmEE(#&)
Customer Satisfaction and Complaint EFREENRFERE

Management

Madison’s business philosophy revolves around
prioritising customer satisfaction and delivering
exceptional customer service. The Group’s clientele
mainly includes local and overseas wine merchants,
enthusiastic wine collectors in Hong Kong and the
PRC, as well as prestigious restaurants in Hong
Kong. With a focus on providing a convenient one-
stop shopping experience, the Group strives to offer
a diverse range of unique, high-quality products
at competitive and reasonable prices. To meet the
diverse needs of its customers, the Group extends
a comprehensive range of services, including wine
consultation, sourcing, delivery, storage, evaluation,
and consignment services. In recognition of its
commitment to excellent customer service, the
Group has received certification under the Quality
Tourism Services Scheme issued by the Hong Kong
Tourism Board. Feedback and complaints from
customers hold significant value for the Group as they
contribute to its continuous development. The Group
has established dedicated procedures for handling
feedback and complaints, which are thoroughly
discussed and reviewed by the management during
regular meetings. This proactive approach enables
the identification of areas for improvement, ensuring
that appropriate corrective actions are promptly
implemented to prevent recurrence.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was unaware
of any incidents of non-compliance with related
laws and regulations concerning health and safety,
advertising, labelling, and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and methods of
redress that would have a significant impact on the
Group.
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B. SOCIAL (Continued) B.
B6. Product Responsibility (Continued)

tEg#)
B6. EREE (&)

Customer Satisfaction and Complaint
Management (Continued)

The Group prioritises delivering quality service and
ensuring positive customer experience through
standardised service quality management. To
minimise customer complaints and potential
adverse consequences like product recalls, our
sales executives maintain close communication
with customers from the ordering stage through
delivery. We have established procedures to handle
customer feedback and complaints professionally.
Our sales executives promptly address inquiries and
complaints, aiming to understand the root causes
and identify areas for improvement.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had
not received any products and service relation
complaints.

Data Privacy Protection

In addition to complaint management, the Group
places great importance on protecting customer
privacy. We are committed to treating customers’
personal data with the utmost confidentiality. Strict
policies governing the collection and use of customer
data are documented in the Employee Handbook.
Our employees, regardless of their employment
status at the time, are prohibited from disclosing or
exploiting any confidential information or customer
data. Any employee found to have unauthorisedly
shared confidential information with third parties will
face disciplinary action.

EFmBRENRFER(E)
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B. SOCIAL (continued)
B6. Product Responsibility (Continued)

B. &+ (%)
B6. EREE (&)

Advertising and Labelling

Madison recognises the serious implications of
improper information dissemination and the sale
of alcoholic products to minors. As part of our
commitment to responsible alcohol sales, we have
developed informative posters that emphasise our
strict policy of only selling alcohol to individuals
who are 18 years of age or older. These posters
serve as a visual reminder to our customers and
staff, reinforcing our dedication to upholding
legal requirements and promoting responsible
drinking practices. We place utmost importance
on preventing the sale and supply of intoxicating
liquor to individuals under the legal drinking age, as
well as ensuring the accuracy of our promotional
materials. Our promotional materials strictly adhere
to the regulations outlined in the Trade Descriptions
Ordinance of Hong Kong, maintaining a high level of
compliance.

Furthermore, in accordance with the Dutiable
Commodities (Amendment) Ordinance 2018 of Hong
Kong, Madison is obligated to prominently display a
sign containing both Chinese and English versions
of the prescribed notice. This notice informs the
public about the relevant legal requirements and is
positioned in a highly visible location.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B6.

B7.

Product Responsibility (Continued)
Intellectual Property (“IP”) Rights

The Group maintains a vigilant approach towards
monitoring and managing its intangible intellectual
property (IP) rights, while implementing robust anti-
counterfeiting measures. To safeguard its IP assets,
the Group has obtained trademark registrations in
Hong Kong, ensuring legal protection for its brands.
Furthermore, Madison has proactively registered its
domain name, reinforced its online presence and
protected its digital identity.

In line with its commitment to IP rights protection,
the Group strictly prohibits employees from installing
unauthorised or illegal computer software and
applications. This policy is enforced to ensure the
observance and protection of IP rights throughout the
organisation.

Anti-Corruption

The Board sets a tone of zero tolerance towards
fraud and corruption. The Group’s Employee
Handbook states guidelines that require employees
to comply with all applicable rules on conflicts of
interest, insider dealing, anti-competition and anti-
corruption. It demands strict adherence from every
employee to applicable laws, rules, and regulations in
the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

The Anti-Corruption Policy provides guidance for
employees on recognising and avoiding unethical
behaviour in a range of business contexts, including
procurement of goods and services, accepting and
offering corporate gifts or hospitality, and making
political or charitable contributions. Any solicitation
or acceptance of an advantage, bribery, extortion,
fraud, or money laundering are strictly prohibited.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was unaware
of any material non-compliance with related laws
and regulations regarding bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering that would have a significant
impact on the Group. No concluded legal cases
regarding corrupt practices were brought against the
Group or its employees during the Year.

B. &+ (%)

B6.

B7.
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B. SOCIAL (Continued) B. &%)
B7. Anti-Corruption (Continued) B7. RES (&)
Anti-Corruption Training REFIE

The Group places a strong emphasis on ensuring
adherence to its governance policies, and to achieve
this, comprehensive training programs are provided
to employees. As part of the induction process, new
employees receive training specifically tailored to
familiarise them with the Group’s governance policies
and principles.

The Group’s director and staff have received
comprehensive anti-corruption training. The directors
underwent anti-corruption training provided by the
ICAC, while both directors and staff received training
on professional ethics and legal practice. During
the Reporting Period, each participant dedicated
approximately 10 hours to these training sessions,
ensuring a focused and thorough understanding of
anti-corruption measures, ethical practices, and legal
frameworks.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Group encourages its employees and other
stakeholders, including customers and suppliers,
to raise concerns about suspected improprieties,
misconduct, or malpractice. A confidential channel
is in place for employees and stakeholders to report
any suspected incidents. Following the guidelines
outlined in the Whistleblowing Policy, the Group
treats every reported incident with the utmost
confidentiality and ensures that whistleblowers are
protected from unfair dismissal, victimisation, or
unwarranted disciplinary action. Incidents related to
fraud and corruption will be thoroughly investigated.
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B. SOCIAL (continued) B.
B8. Community Investment

tEg#)
B8. HtERE

While pursuing business development, Madison
will spare no effort to contribute to society as a
demonstration of corporate citizenship. We are
committed to fulfilling the Group’s corporate social
responsibility by promoting community building
and supporting the underprivileged. The Group
also hopes to cultivate employees’ sense of
social responsibility, so it has always encouraged
employees to participate in social welfare activities
during their work and private time to make greater
contributions to society. We are focused on
contributing to the needs of our communities.

Used Clothing Donation - Beluga “H 5 &”
Madison has partnered with the Beluga “H R &”
organisation in Chongging to launch a community-
driven initiative focused on donating used clothing.
This meaningful collaboration is designed to bring
warmth and support to those in need, reinforcing
our commitment to making a positive impact and
fostering compassion within the community.

By working alongside Beluga, we encourage our
employees to contribute gently used clothing items,
which will be distributed to individuals and families
facing difficult circumstances. Through this joint
effort, we aim to not only provide essential resources
but also to promote a sense of solidarity and
collective responsibility. Together, we hope to inspire
care, unity, and deeper community engagement.

Used Clothing Donation — Harriman x Christian
Action

Madison embraces the Chinese New Year tradition
of spring cleaning through the “Harriman x Christian
Action New Year Recycle Programme”. This initiative
not only encourages tidiness but also inspires the
community to recognize the value of their unwanted
items. By donating clothes, accessories, toys, shoes,
bags, and electronic devices, the Group helps
support underprivileged individuals, giving these
items a renewed purpose and bringing joy to those in
need.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)
B8. Community Investment (Continued)

B. &+ (%)
BS8. HtERE (&)

Computer and Communication Products
Recycling Programme

Madison is honoured to participate in the Computer
and Communication Products Recycling Programme
launched by Harriman Property Management
Limited. This initiative aims to promote environmental
sustainability by facilitating the responsible recycling
of computers and monitors. By properly disposing
of electronic waste, we help reduce environmental
impact and encourage a greener future. Through
this programme, we hope to raise awareness about
the importance of e-waste recycling and provide a
convenient solution for individuals and businesses to
participate in eco-friendly practices.

Award

The Group’s subsidiary, Run Tong Credit (Liangjiang
District Chongqing) Co., Ltd. (EE m M L= H
B/EEZRAR AT, has been bestowed with a
prestigious award from the Chongging Municipal
Tax Service, State Taxation Administration for being
recognised as an A-level taxpaying enterprise (A
AT ZE). This achievement is a testament to
the commitment and diligence displayed by every
member of our Group. We have consistently fulfilled
our tax obligations with utmost integrity, contributing
to the growth and development of the local
economy. This recognition not only highlights our
Group’s financial responsibility but also serves as a
testament to our strong ethical values and dedication
to corporate citizenship. We extend our heartfelt
gratitude to the Chongaging Municipal Tax Service,
and State Taxation Administration for acknowledging
our efforts and their continuous support.
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MAJOR APPLICABLE LAWS AND FTEEBRZENAL
REGULATIONS

Aspect Main Applicable Laws and Regulations

Em FTEEREERRH

Environment o The Hong Kong Waste Disposal Ordinance

R (BEBREYMRE &)

° The Water Pollution Control Ordinance
k5 2% il 551 )

° Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China
(FRE AR EMBREREE)

o The Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution of the People’s Republic of

China

(RE AR KB ARG LM S E)
Employment and Labour o Employment Ordinance
Standards U B 15150 )
1B {E & & T %8| o Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance

o8 il 1 R AE & 5T B ER B

o The Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China
(RE AR KT EE)

o The Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
(FEARXMBELEE RE)

o The Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China

(g ARKEME L g REE)

Health and Safety o Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
EEREZ 2 (B ER 2 RERED)
o Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases of the People’s Republic of
China
(PE AR EMBIBERDRE)
Product Responsibility ° Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
EmEE CIELA B FHFLER D) 551 )

° Trade Descriptions Ordinance
<78 o 3 B AR 1)

° Copyright Ordinance
Chi 4 16 651 )

° Law of Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests of the People’s Republic of
China
(REARKMBEEEERAREE)

o The Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China
(REARKRMBEZEFNZE)

. The Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China
(REARKENBEEREEE)

o The Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China
(REARKRBEESE)

Anti-corruption ° Prevention of Bribery Ordinance

k&5 <Py 1k BR BR 15 1)

° Anti-Money Laundering and Counter Terrorist Financing Ordinance
GTERBERRM D FESBRIRD)

o The Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China
(R ZE AR FERBE LA )

o The Company Law of the People’s Republic of China
(REARKEFBERAGE)
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CONTENT INDEX OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING GUIDE

R &

BMXAHN(RE
51) AR REI R

- HERERKRERE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs
TEERE BEE - —REER
MR ENIER

Description

R

Section/Declaration

EH/ RS

Aspect A1: Emissions

B EMIRRAL.2

greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity.
BER(GE1) ReREE (BE2)RERBHRE (LA
AEI)R(ER)EE -

BEA1: HEBY
General Disclosure Information on: Emissions Control
—REE (@  the policies; and ez
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
Exhaust Gas and GHG emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.
FRBERLRERBHENR mAKRLMHEET AFER
BEEREVNELESH
(a) BE: Rk
(b) BTHETABEAZENHBAEZERRANE
H
KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions — Air Emissions
B9 48 IR 1R AT 1 B B AR B B - R — RE R BE R
KPI'A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) | Emissions —

GHG Emissions
R —RERBHN

KPI A1.3
B AMIEIRALS

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and
intensity.
FEAEEEZENEE(AEFAEI)REE

Emissions -
Waste Management

HR-BENER

KPI A1.4
B AMIEIRA14

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and
intensity.
EXNBEEREEYES (BNEE -

Emissions -
Waste Management

By -ERMER

KPI A1.5
B AMIEIRALE

Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.
BTN E AR RAREEL B RMRRA S
e

Emissions

7131187
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CONTENT INDEX OF THE STOCK BIMW(RE #H8K iR & 15
EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING GUIDE SI)RBESI KR (&

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs

PR MIEIRAL6

wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results
achieved.

TEHE BHG —REER Description Section/Declaration
HREERIEE g Ef /B8R
KPI'A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous | Emissions —

Waste Management

By -EERMER

F# A IR 1RA2.1

total and intensity.

RENESMERR /IHERREREREE -

HREREAERESEEYNL L  BDBERARE
B KR o
Aspect A2: Use of Resources
EEA2: EREH
General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including | Use of Resources
— M H energy, water and other raw materials. &R e A
BERAAER(BEER  KMEGEMF)OBE o
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in | Use of Resources —

Energy Management

BRERA-BERER

KPI A2.2
BRI 1RA2.2

Water consumption in total and intensity.
BRKERTE -

Use of Resources —
Water Management

BRER—KRER

KPI A2.3
BRI IRA2.8

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results
achieved.
i 0 B2 R M) PR R R A e S FTER S ORI R

Use of Resources —
Energy Management

BRERA—-BERER

KPI A2.4
BB EMIEIRA2.4

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives
and results achieved.

fii 3t SR EGE KR BRI B R RE -
HRR o

HiK B KRS

Use of Resources —
Water Management

BRER—KRER

KPI A2.5
BB AMIEIRA2.5

Total packaging material used for finished products (in
tonnes) and with reference to per unit produced.
ERMAABREMBNEE (B E)REEESBAMG

i o

Use of Resources - Use of
Packaging Materials

BRER—-BEMBOER

BHREREEMERLT FIH{2024/25
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R #HEkEAHRE
CONTENT INDEX OF THE STOCK BRFN(ES  HBEREABRESHE
EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING GUIDE NN

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPIs
TEHE -EBE@ - —KREER
BRENIEE

Description

R

Section/Declaration

Ew/ RS

EBHEAS: BERXARER

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

General Disclosure

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on

The Environment and Natural

B 5 4 IR IR ABA

environment and natural resources and the actions taken
to manage them.

BB EHHRERRARERNEAZERERENE
BEBATENTE

—REE the environment and natural resources. Resources
HEZBTAHRERANERERNEAZENLE ° RERAREIR
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the | The Environment and Natural

Resources —

Noise Control, Construction
Waste Control
RERRABR—BEEE
RREEREYE 5

Aspect A4: Climate Change
BEA4: R

General Disclosure

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant

Climate Change — Physical

M2 48 U IZ AL A

have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer,
and the actions taken to manage them.

HAEE R EHETAELETENERRBEEBS
H ' REETE o

— R E climate-related issues which have impacted, and those | Risks and Transition Risks
which may impact, the issuer. Rz —ERERREREAR
B REHERARFRSHBETAELEYENERRR | &
HBEEEHBR o

KPI A4 .1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which | Climate Change — Physical

Risks and Transition Risks
A2 —EBRRRERR

A
PR
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CONTENT INDEX OF THE STOCK BMIH(RE HERERRERE
EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING GUIDE SI)ARBRSI R (&)

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs

TEHE BHG —REER Description Section/Declaration
HREERIEE g Ef /B8R

Aspect B1: Employment

EBEB1: EE

General Disclosure Information on: Employment

— A (@) the policies; and R{E

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, antidiscrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

ERFMkmE BEREA ILERH RHE - FF

e Zalt REEAREMLES RGN :

(a) SR : A
(b) BTHBETABEATENHBZEIZRAIINE
K o

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group | Employment
R EBIEIEB1 A and geographical region. EE

ZER - EEEE  FRANRMEISNESLE -
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and | Employment
PR AEMIE1EB1.2 geographical region. B

BIER - FRARNRMEEDNEERKLE -
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R #HEkEAHRE

CONTENT INDEX OF THE STOCK BMIH(RE HERERRERE
EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING GUIDE SI)RBRSI R (&

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs

TEEE BEH  —REER
HEEVEE

Description

i

Section/Declaration

Ew/ RS

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EEB2: @EHEZ2

General Disclosure Information on:

— B (a) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating
to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.

FHARBZ2IHEREIRBEESEBELLSEN -

(a) B : A
(b) BFHBTABEALENEBERRAGNE
B

Health and Safety
EREZE

KPI B2.1
BB EMIEIRB2.1

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in
each of the past three years including the reporting year.
BEZF(BREGEE)SFRAITROARRLE -

Health and Safety
fREZ 2

RSB I 1ER2.3 adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.

HWAAMEMNBERFEEL2EE  ARBERTRE
BHE -

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
RIS BB 1RB2.2 AIBEAIERE - R T 2
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures | Health and Safety — Health

and Safety Systems, Safety
Training, COVID-19 Preventive
Measures
EREZE-—REEEZE R
- &2IEF - COVID-1978
B # ife
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R #HEkELAHRE

CONTENT INDEX OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING GUIDE

(Continued)

Disclosures and KPIs
TEHE -EBE@ - —KREER
BRENIEE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General

Description

R

Section/Declaration

Ew/ RS

EEB3 : BRI

Aspect B3: Development and Training

General Disclosure

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills

Development and Training

F#4E M 15 12831

employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).
BEUEREREEEN (MR RERE
XIEEBEDLL °

FREEE)ENH

— AR 5E for discharging duties at work. Description of training | & & 153l
activities.
FARAERERTIEBRENAIRRENEE -
BEES -
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and | Development and Training

BRRE

KPI B3.2
BA R AR W IE1RB3.2

The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.
BURIRESEMNE D  BEEETKTINFHEL -

Development and Training
BERRE

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
EEB4 : & TEE

General Disclosure

Information on:

Labour Standards

PSR 4E M I 1241

to avoid child and forced labour.
iR s REE G AR AE RE T RRHST -

— = (@)  the policies; and T
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
preventing child and forced labour.
BREMLEET SRS T
(a) BE: R
(b) BFHETABEATENBHAEZERAMNNE
£ o
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices | Labour Standards

TR

KPI B4.2
AR A M IE1RB4.2

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices
when discovered.

AR ERB AR ERBBRERARRA LR -

Labour Standards
& TR
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CONTENT INDEX OF THE STOCK BMIH(RE HERERRERE
EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING GUIDE SI)RBRSI R (&

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs
TEEE BEH  —REER
HEEVEE

Description

R

Section/Declaration

Ew/ RS

[EMEBS5: ftEEER

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

General Disclosure

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of

Supply Chain Management

B i 5 1RB5.2

number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

M EREREERNEN  mERTEEEHNMHE
BEE  UAREBRTRERAE -

— R the supply chain. HEEER
EREEEENRE R GRARBUE -

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management

A5 48 A5 12 B5.1 R E S HEHHA st E IR

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, | Supply Chain Management —

Subcontractor Management
HEREE-SBHER

KPI B5.3
BAR A WIS 1RB5.3

Description of practices used to identify environmental
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
HAEHEBNEEREARGNRERLERARINE
Bl ARBERITRERFZE °

Supply Chain Management —
Green Sourcing
HERER - ERE

KPI B5.4
R A 1R854

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting
suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored.
HREREHEASREZARRERRREHE
WERBRITRERETE -

Supply Chain Management —
Green Sourcing
HERER - ERE
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CONTENT INDEX OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING GUIDE

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs

TEHE BEH  —REER
HEEVER

Description

R

Section/Declaration

Ew/ RS

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
EHEB6 : EmELE

General Disclosure

Information on:

Product Responsibility

s 4E W15 15B6.1

recalls for safety and health reasons.
HRZE2NERRAMEEENEEHXEEETERD
AL e

— R E (@)  the policies; and EmAL
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress.
ERAMREEGARBEAORELELZE EBES BHRFL
BEE AR AR
(@ BX: Rk
(o) BIHBTAREAZENHBEEEZRAMNNE
£} o
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to | Product Responsibility —

Customer Service

ERBEET-EPRS

BB MIE1RB6.3

protecting intellectual property rights.

HiRgERRENAERFRNED -

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints | Product Responsibility —

iR 45 IR 15 B6.2 received and how they are dealt with. Customer Service
BFEAREDRBRBENRFEE UARELTE - EnEE-—EFPR%

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and | Product Responsibility —

Protection of Intellectual
Property Rights

EmEE-RENZER

HiH B & ERRE RALREE
TIE e

CAREBRITRESR

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall | Product Responsibility —

W4 R 1ER6.4 procedures. Quality Assurance
MlEERTERAEREMBEER - EREA-—RERE

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy | Product Responsibility —

A 81 45 I 15B6.5 policies, and how they are implemented and monitored. | Protection of Customers’

Privacy

EmEE-EPLERE

BHREREEMERLT FIH{2024/25
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CONTENT INDEX OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING GUIDE

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs

TEEE BEH  —REER
HEEVEE

Description

i

Section/Declaration

Ew/ RS

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
EEB7: RES

General Disclosure

Information on:

Anti-corruption

BB MIE1RBT.1

practices brought against the issuer or its employees

during the Reporting Period and the outcomes of the

cases.

REGRPAHBETASEEERLYCEENETHA
RUOEE RFRER -

— B E (@) the policies; and REA
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
B ILEE 9% BEFRARER :
(a) B% R
(b) BFHBTABEAXENHBEZRANINE
B o
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt | Anti-corruption

REF

KPI B7.2
AR R 1RBT 2

Description of preventive measures and whistle-
blowing procedures, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

W BERRBRIEZF  UARBEATRERTE -

Anti-corruption —
Whistle-blowing Mechanism
REE-BBRBE

KPI B7.3
BB AWM 1RBT.3

Description of anti-corruption training provided to
directors and staff.

HWRMEENE TRENRESHEI -

Anti-corruption
R&EA
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RE - HEREBRSE

CONTENT INDEX OF THE STOCK BMIH(RE HERERRERE
EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING GUIDE SI)ARBRSI R (&)

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs

TEHE BE: —REER Description Section/Declaration
HEEVER g EH /B8R

Aspect B8: Community Investment
BEBS: tERE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the | Community Investment
— B E needs of the communities where the issuer operates | ttE& &

and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.
BRANIBR2ERTREENEMREEMNBRLER
BB E A& A A HUR o

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, | Community Investment
MR R I 1S B8 1 environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture, | #+REi&&

sport).

EIERER(MHE RREHE FIFTRK BR X

t -8F)-
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus | Community Investment
M4 4B BUIE 1S B8.2 area. HEERE

ERIEBMHBER(NEERERE) -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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@g@Prism

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MADISON HOLDINGS
GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Madison Holdings Group Limited (the “Company®) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 135 to 275, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2025, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
THE GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss
of approximately HK$15,252,000 for the year ended 31 March
2025. In addition, as at 31 March 2025, the Group had bank
balances and cash amounted to approximately HK$22,316,000,
while its amount due to a shareholder, loan from a non-
controlling shareholder and borrowings, totaling amounted to
approximately HK$157,094,000 which will be matured within the
coming twelve months from 31 March 2025.

These conditions indicates the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore that it may
be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in
the normal course of business. The directors of the Company
have considered the measures being taken by the Group as
set forth in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, and
are of the opinion that the Group would be able to continue as
going concern basis. The consolidated financial statements do
not include any adjustments that would result from a failure of
achieving the measures. We consider appropriate disclosures
have been made in this respect. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For the matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matter below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

HEECERBANERTRENS

BMEREGA VB HRERMF28 R - B 220253
A31HIEFE X BHEEBEHIEH15,252,000/8 T F
518 o b 4h - M2025F3A31H © BHEBERRITE
AR S AAE X A22,316,0008 7T * T & & B EN
—ZRERIE - RE —RIEEBRBREZER R ERE
B5 49 2 157,094,000/8 7T © & L FRIA A EE2025F 3
A31B M @B 128 A/ EE A EH - fizE2R 5l
HREMEIE UARELEER  RETEEANTIE
M e EEEEAFELCEETEBMENER
ERNER -HMEFEE RMOERTEEAER -

HEBRBRFEEATEERNR  AleeY E&
ERFELLENENBREARE - FILAIEEERE
FEBEETERAEERBTHEAR - BERQAE
FCERE ESERRRINZEER  HOKRSRHM
BHRRME2ETR BB BEEERAURSERLEHR
MEEKL AV BBRTERREREEEZ LR
MEFNEIMAE RMAR/SEZTHECFLEES
BE - RPAERLFTHEERER -

AR ETEE

MRBFEERSBRBERMANEXZHNE - R AHR
EMBHREANBARSEENSTH GELFTHEEY
HAEMBHRRERETEALERERNE R TETT
BRI RPAHELEREHEZFOER - RMH
THRERERSATEWABRENHE B AL SER -

BMERETTARS [RBMARBF RSPV HERER
AENEEIBOBEINE T BHRESELHERET
FHMEBNEET - BELE - RANFF TERERT
AP B T BV AR B B 7 AR B KB AR PR L B 1 AR
MEFER - RPATEFEZANER - BFEEHT
ABERBFSFEABTHRESN ARV HRRER
BREABRREHTER -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (cContinued)

Key audit matter

BRETEE

Recoverability and impairment assessment of loan
and interest receivables

B3R 72 W 5% TR 7Y 3E [E] K 7R A

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s loan and interest
receivables amounted to approximately HK$276,805,000,
net of loss allowance of approximately HK$30,113,000.
B ZE2025F3A31H - BEHEEMNEKERRMNEKEFH
#E4)/3276,805,000/%8 7T + KR 430,113,000 7T 8 1 2K
B -

The measurement of expected credit loss (“ECL”)
requires the application of significant judgement and
increased complexity which include the identification of
exposures at default with a significant deterioration in
credit quality, and assumptions used in the ECL models,
such as probability of default (“PD”), loss given default
(“LGD”) and forward-looking macroeconomic factors.
EHEEFR((AHGEFE ) WASEFEERRAEAH
ErAZ M EY  BRBAIEAEERERLLNEH
WA AREEHREEBREEN P EANRE - JIED
= EIRBARRATEMN ZBLEERE -

We consider the impairment assessment of these
receivables as a key audit matter due to the significance
of these receivables and the subjective nature of the
calculation because the accounting estimates on which
these provisions are based entail a significant degree
of management judgement and may be subject to
management bias.
BMRBELEWFIERNRIENEEEEZNEFEE -
RELRENBEUNAENTEYE BAAGELEEME
REES P REEZNERHE  WARXIEE RN
2 o

Details refer to note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies on pages 173 to
178.
HIEmAHRA M RERME24ME173E178 A 51X
= o

BARESTEE &)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMPEEFFHNAEELER

We assessed the reasonableness of the Group’s ECL models
through the assistance of our auditor’s expert, including
the model input, model design and model performance. We
evaluated the objectivity, independence and competency of
the valuer engaged by the Group.
BMERBMERNHE TAET EEENAHEEEFERR
AHNESEYN - BEENGEA - EERRFTER T o R
TEXRNEE e W REFBI

We assessed the reasonableness of the Group’s staging
criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and so allowances for financial assets should be
measured on a lifetime ECL basis.

BT BESEFGEERARRESAEBEZENN S HEFE
WEEYE  RMACTEREUNEHEESBASSREERNE
1 o

For a sample of exposures at default that was subject to an
individual impairment assessment, we specifically reviewed
the Group’s assumptions on the expected future cash flows,
including the value of realisable collateral based on available
market information.

R — AR E RIS mea M O &R - RMEEE
T EBESEHBEARRBSRENRE  EEERTAMSE
BWEREREE -

For PD and LGD, we assessed whether historical experience
is representative of current circumstances and of the
recent losses incurred in the portfolios and assessed the
reasonableness of forward looking adjustments including
the impact parameters, regression specification and way of
application.

HREBHERMEREBRE BTG TELCBRESERKREA
BRI REEBEGTERELR - WaTE TAEEARNSE T
BRERYEZ2H  LEHREBMNERAR -

For input parameters applied, we reviewed their reliability
and accuracy by checking to the source of data
independently.

HRFERNBAZE - HAEABIREENRRKESHE
A SEMEFNAERE N o

We checked the calculation of the Group’s ECL by reviewing
the calculation worksheets.
BMEATEFEILIERRRE

>

& o

BEREEHERBRNE
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so. The directors of the Company
are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

T & A F H®AHE &

BESEEFAHHEMENAR - R EMEBRTER
FEREANEA - ETEBEESMBERR BN
ZBEN RS o

BAUGEAVBERENBERE NREEME - HM
NTAEZFEMERABEREMATANEEE®

BEBRMESREMBHRROES  RMANECENE
HME  EHBET  ZREMEARSEEFAW
BRERIARMEFFTEETIERNBRLFEEKXR
ERIXEFEUFFEERHERBANBR - EREME
HITHITHE WRBEMRBSEMEANFEEKNERR
it BAFERESZEE -HEE/H  RIFUREEM

WE o

EENGEMBRRAXRENER

EXFRAARBEECEMASRMNBTEMBRE
S EARFBEARAGIANKERERBEEMT S
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BAFERNRFFRERMEMNENERRAFRE
MAREERER -
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the Group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed
for the purpose of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Chin Wang Leung.

Prism Hong Kong Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Chin Wang Leung

Practising Certificate Number: P07806

Hong Kong
27 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeEakHEtE2ERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025
Bl E2025F3H31HIFFE

Revenue
— sales of alcoholic beverages
— loan financing services

Cost of operations
— cost of alcoholic beverages

Other income
Staff costs
Depreciation
Administrative and
other operating expenses
Net impairment recognised on loan and
interest receivables
Change in fair value of financial assets
at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL”)
Change in fair value of
derivative financial instruments
Finance costs

Loss before tax
Income tax credit

Loss for the year

Y z8
—ERRmEE
—EXBERS

HERA
— TR

H b g A

B TRA

e
TRREMELEHS
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BAFEFARS
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Notes

it

12

12

18

33
10

11

12

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAET
20,817 21,921
50,278 46,166
71,095 68,087
(16,143) (16,544)
2,325 15,031
(29,439) (31,662)
(3,642) (4,179)
(7,683) (8,563)
(26,477) (29,775)
201 664

29 660
(6,457) (13,481)
(16,191) (19,762)
939 1,972
(15,252) (17,790)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeEahkHEtE2EERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025

Bl E2025F3H31HIFFE
Note
Hiat
Loss for the year attributable to: AR AL FAEE :
— Owners of the Company S WNEIEZ =N
— Non-controlling interests — JEfE IR R A
Other comprehensive expense Htt2EAX
Item that may be reclassified BE1& AJBEE R 7 HE F
subsequently to profit or loss: BmZHE -
- Exchange differences arising from — B GINETEEE 2
translation of foreign operations ME 5 Z 5
- Release of translation reserve upon —HE—FHBARE
disposal of subsidiary B Ol & (F
Total comprehensive expense for the year 4 % [ [ 2 4258
Total comprehensive expense LATALTEEERZE
for the year attributable to: 4R ¢
— Owners of the Company . WNGIE P =N
— Non-controlling interests — FEIERR A S
Loss per share attributable to owners 72 T A AEG
of the Company (HK cents) FREE (GBAL) 16
Basic AR
Diluted %8
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2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAET
(15,218) (16,217)
(34) (1,573)
(15,252) (17,790)
(4,277) (18,499)
(160) =
(4,437) (18,499)
(19,689) (36,289)
(16,031) (26,457)
(3,658) (9,832)
(19,689) (36,289)
(2.44) (2.60)
(2.44) (2.60)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B R &
As at 31 March 2025
R2025F3 H31H

Non-current assets
Plant and equipment
Loan receivables
Deposits
Intangible assets
Right-of-use assets
Deferred tax asset
Goodwill

Current assets
Inventories
Finance lease receivables
Loan and interest receivables
Trade and other receivables
Amounts due from associates
Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities
Contract liabilities
Amount due to a shareholder
Loan from a non-controlling shareholder

Borrowings
Tax payable
Derivative financial instruments

FERBEE
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Notes
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17
24
25
19
20
21
22

23
20
24
25
26
28

30
20
29
27

31
32

33

-3

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FETT
487 672
2,000 28,854
- 701
1,280 1,280
1,405 5,465
7,503 5,596
9,028 9,028
21,703 51,596
6,257 7,157
- 2,100
274,805 235,855
11,606 19,367
300 208
22,316 34,435
315,284 299,212
19,421 12,729
1,292 4,937
4,296 3,713
62,397 107,366
75,705 75,654
18,992 24,992
5,478 6,044
- 29
187,581 235,464
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEEARR R
As at 31 March 2025
R2025F3 H31H

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liability
Lease liabilities

The consolidated financial statements on pages 135 to 275 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

Notes

it

MEEEFTR
EERERRDEE
BEARME#E RS
AR 34
f# %
A DTEA ARG S
P
ERAR
FERBEIE

EXEHERE 21
HE&E 20

27 June 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Ji Zuguang

aHiE

Director

EF
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2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAET
127,703 63,748
149,406 115,344
6,231 6,231
(120,299) (45,100)
(114,068) (38,875)
262,997 152,159
148,929 113,284
477 422
= 1,638
477 2,060
149,406 115,344

Jiang Tian
=X
Director

EF

F135E27T5 B 2 ira R KN 2025F 6 H27 H &
EEeRENBRREETIANTESEARAERE ¢



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

™~ A JEE 22 4=
RERa2H X

For the year ended 31 March 2025
Bl E2025F3H31HIFFE

Asat 1 April 2024

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive expense for the year:

- Exchange differences arising on translation of
foreign operations

- Release of translation reserve upon disposal of
subsidiary

Loss for the year and other comprehensive
expense for the year

Lapse of share option

Disposal of a subsidiary previously acquired under
common control combination

Disposal of interest in a subsidiary without loss of
control (Note 36)

Appropriation to statutory reserve funds

As at 31 March 2025

Asat 1 April 2023

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive expense for the year:

- Exchange differences arising on translation of
foreign operations

Loss for the year and other comprehensive
expense for the year

Lapse of share option
Appropriation to statutory reserve funds

As at 31 March 2024

202454818

ERER
EMEHRERR :
-BEBNERELZEHZR

ERERRFRA AR

BRELH

He-RABR-HHAKREN
KEAR

HE-FMBLA ERNLE
REH5IE(H:236)

tEREE AR

2025534318

1202354 1R
FhER

EREABEZARY :
-BEBNFRELZEHZR

ERERRFRALEER

BREXR

EERREEZAR

12024537318

Attributable to owners of the Company

ANAREAEE
Share Non-
Share Share Other Capital Merger options  Translation Statutory  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests Total
K& RHEE Efefif REGRE AHRE  BBRERE BERE EERE R ER ai  FERER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tz FEr FEr FEr FEr FEr FEr FEr FEr FEr FEz FEr
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c) (Note d)
(Kita) (Hitn) (Kite) (Hita)
6,231 1,311,985 29,047 (90,894) (598,127) 17,930 (23,519) 6,871 (698,399) (38,875) 152,159 113,284
- - - - - - - - (15,218) (15,218) (34) (15,252)
- - - - - - (653) - - (653) (3,624) (4.21)
- o = - - - (160) - - (160) - (160)
- o S - - - (813) - (15,218) (16,031) (3,658) (19,689)
- - - - - (6,686) - - 6,686 - - -
- - - - 9,110 - - - (9,110) - - -
- - - (59,162) - - - - - (59,162) 114,49 55,334
- - - - - - - 331 (337) - - -
6,231 1,311,985 29,047 (150,056) (589,017) 11,244 (24,332) 7,208 (716,378) (114,068) 262,997 148,929
Attributable to owners of the Company
NG 2N
Share Non-
Share Share Other Capital Merger options Translation Statutory  Accumulated controlling
capital premium Teserve Teserve Teserve Teserve Teserve Teserve losses Total interests Total
i R EE HofEh Pet:d aHREE  BRERR hERE EERE ZirBE &t kekEs &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T Tz T Tz Tz Tz Tz Tz Tz Tz
(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢) (Note d)
(Kita) (Wito) (Hiitc) (Wita)
6,231 1,311,985 29,047 (90,894) (598,127) 20,189 (13.279) 6,643 (684,213) (12,418) 161,991 149,573
- - - - - - - - (16,217) (16,217) (1,673) (17,790)
- - - - - - (10,240) - - (10,240) (8,259) (18,499)
- - - - - - (10,240) - (16,217) (26,457) (9.832) (36,289)
- - - - - (2,259 - - 2,259 - - -
- - - - - - - 228 (228) - - -
6,231 1,311,985 29,047 (90,894) (598,127) 17,930 (23,519) 6,871 (698,399) (38,875) 152,159 113,284

SEARREESRAT FH202425 139



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

VAN
A

—ll— 7
/\ nl:lln

& Bk

For the year ended 31 March 2025
Bl E2025F3H31HIFFE

Notes:

(a)

The other reserve was arisen from the transfer of the entire issued
share capital and shareholder loan in Madison Wine (HK) Company
Limited to Madison International Wine Company Limited upon
reorganisation.

The capital reserve was mainly arisen from the changes in
ownership interests in subsidiaries without loss of control,
common control combination, deemed contribution from a related
company and the issue of put option.

The merger reserve of the Group arose as a result of the
acquisitions of subsidiaries under common control and
represented the difference between the consideration paid for
the acquisition and the carrying amount of the net asset of
the subsidiaries at the date when the Group and the acquired
subsidiaries became under common control.

Upon the disposal of the subsidiaries previously acquired under
common control combination, the amount previously recognised
in the merger reserve will be transfered to accumulated losses/
retained earnings.

In accordance with the relevant regulations applicable in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), companies established
in the PRC are required to transfer at least 10% of their statutory
annual profits after tax in accordance with the relevant statutory
rules and regulations applicable to enterprises in the PRC to the
statutory reserve until the balance of the reserve reaches 50% of
their respective registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions
as set out in the relevant PRC regulations, the statutory reserve
may be used to offset against accumulated losses of the
respective PRC companies. The amount of the transfer is subject
to the approval of the board of the directors of the respective PRC
companies.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERETMER

For the year ended 31 March 2025

# Z2025F3H31HIFFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss for the year
Adjustments for:
Income tax credit
Bank interest income
Depreciation

Net gain on disposals and written-off

of plant and equipment

Change in fair value of derivative

financial instruments

Amounts written-off as uncollectible on

other receivables

Net impairment recognised on loan

and interest receivables
Net exchange loss (gain)

Interest income from finance lease receivables
Gain on early termination of a lease
Gain on deemed disposal of right-of-use

assets
Finance costs

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries
Loss on early termination of sublease

arrangements

Change in fair value of financial assets

at FVTPL

Operating cash flows before movements in

working capital
Decrease in inventories

Increase in loan and interest receivables

Decrease in trade and

R EE

FRER

MATIER AR
Frig M %
]RIT A B A
e
ﬁE&W%V%& REZ

L& 2% H 58

MEEMIAEZRVFEEY

H fth & WK T B % U ]
i 1 85 B) & R
FE U E 3 K ) B R
/W@/?%E
BB R (e ) 3
BMEMRERKKENELA
RATARIEA K 2 W as
BRLEEAREE 2 WA

BB A
HEMB AR ZEE
e Al 4% 1E 8 E 2 B e S 1R

BATENABRZ
SRAEZAFEED

%‘5 £

JE W B 3R R A B 4

g 5 & H b e WSk I8 &
b e A

other receivables and deposits
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities
Net decrease in financial assets at FVTPL

g5

Ko B At A AR TR A0 O 4>)

BHEEEZMORD)

Tﬁ’&?@#?\%@

S EREE

Cash used in operations
Income tax paid
Withholding tax paid

/}j@ DR ER

RETHMARE
EHF)’T B
EEREAF: 5

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES

U
K=
L=

BT RE SRR

-3

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAET
(15,252) (17,790)

(939) (1,972)
(115) (127)
3,642 4179
(57) =
(29) (660)
90 =
26,477 29,775
1,144 (10,567)
- (222)

(8) =

- (353)
6,457 13,481
16 =

- 253
(201) (664)
21,225 15,333
900 1,053
(42,569) (23,804)
8,247 8,851
7,570 (5,577)
583 (3,340)
201 664
(3,843) (6,820)
(603) (560)
(899) (2,076)
(5,345) (9,456)

HpEREESRAT FH02425 141



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERERX

For the year ended 31 March 2025

Bl E2025F3H31HIFFE
2025 2024
2025% 2024%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KEEH
Purchases of plant and equipment BEMWE KEE (95) (129)
Proceeds from disposals of plant and HEME MRERN
equipment FT1S 3K 68 -
Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEMB AT ZH & m L F58 (16) =
Expenses directly attributable to the disposal E 2 53 B 5 £ 1S 2 26 428 i 4
of interest in a subsidiary without loss of MBEBRATEENBRARN
control (Note 36) &M (#i36) (1,066) -
Advance to associates TE - Bt & R B ZR08 (2) (8)
Bank interest received B YR 1T FI B 115 127
Receipt of finance lease receivables W gt & 70 & fE W kI8 2,100 9,572
NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REMFHSFHE 1,104 9,562
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEEE
Interest paid EAFE (6,627) (7,276)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEMEAE (4,848) (11,397)
Repayment of borrowings EEER (6,000) (15,000)
Repayment of loan from a non-controlling EBERE —BIFERR
shareholder ZER (1,499) -
Advance from (repayment to) a shareholder TR (EE) —BIREKIA 11,431 (3,159)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES gt & & 8 F IR & )% 58 (7,543) (36,832)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RekBeEEBYRIERE
EQUIVALENTS (11,784) (36,726)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FOReRBREFEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 34,435 72,911
Effect of changes in exchange rate BB HE (335) (1,750)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RERBFREET R
END OF THE YEAR, ReFEY  RITEHKRZ
represented by bank balances and cash bizhe 22,316 34,435

Please refer to note 35 for details of major non-cash FEIFBV ST HELRENE35 -
transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R HR AR B EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
Bl E2025F3H31HIFFE

GENERAL

Madison Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands (“Cayman”) under
the Companies Act, Chapter 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman as an exempted
company with limited liability on 15 April 2015 and its
shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 8 October
2015. Royal Spectrum Holding Company Limited (“Royal
Spectrum”), which is a company incorporated in the
Republic of Seychelles (“Seychelles”) and is beneficially
interested in approximately 31.44% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 March 2025, and Mr. Ting
Pang Wan Raymond (“Mr. Ting”), which is aggregately
interested in approximately 41.97% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 March 2025 and has
control over Royal Spectrum, are controlling shareholders
of the Company. The addresses of the registered office
and the principal place of business of the Company are
disclosed in the “Corporate Information” section of the
annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its major
operating subsidiaries are mainly engaged in sales of
alcoholic beverages, the provision of financial services and
the provision of loan financing services.

The functional currency of the Company and the
subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong are Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”) while that of the subsidiaries established in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) are Renminbi
(“RMB”). For the purpose of presenting the financial
statements, the Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group”) adopted HK$ as its
presentation currency which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

—REH
EHREREEBR AR ([ARAT])R2015F
AR15ERBEREHERRNEFE2E (1961565
IHED - EEFRE EREHS([HEH
ENEFMEZAEREBERATRERMNER
201510 ABEHREBEBME R HFTBER A Al ([ B
REFJ)GEM ET » 202543 A31H ' Royal
Spectrum Holding Company Limited ( [ Royal
Spectrum ) A— EREEBENE(EEE )
AR ARME=EEARRE FHTRA
31,44 %V s - LARBEIE2025F3HA31B T
BEXE(TTEEDRARAERRR - #5
A E BEITRRAA41.97 % KO #E 25 A8 5T IR 12
Royal Spectrum e AR Al E R R EZ &
EHB MU RN E®R [ ARIER ] —& o

ARBIR—EREERAR -HITZLENB
RATBEREEBRREE  RESBIRE R
RUERBE RS

EARREREBEMR L2 WBATZY
EEBABT(ER])  MARZARANE
((HEDAARS([ARE]) - 5258 5%
£ME ARFARENBARATHBA (&
EE)ERBTALSNEE BAARZY
B AR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RS AR B R

For the year ended 31 March 2025

# Z2025F3H31HIFFE
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group incurred
a net loss of approximately HK$15,252,000. In addition,
as at 31 March 2025, the Group had bank balances
and cash amounted to approximately HK$22,316,000
while its amount due to a shareholder, loan from a non-
controlling shareholder and borrowings, totaling amounted
to approximately HK$157,094,000 which will be matured
within the coming twelve months from 31 March 2025.
The Group’s ability to meet these liquidity requirements
depends on its ability to generate sufficient net cash
inflows from future operations and/or other sources. These
facts and circumstances indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In view of these circumstances, the directors of the
Company have given consideration to the future liquidity
and performance of the Group in assessing whether the
Group will have sufficient financial resources to continue
as a going concern. Taking into account the Group’s cash
flow projection, including:

- The holder of amount due to a shareholder had
agreed not to demand for repayment of the
outstanding balances due from the Group until such
time the Group has the financial ability to repay
without impairing its liquidity position;

- Implementing various strategies to improve the cash
flow status, such as managing the loan receivable
portfolio and various investments; and

- Putting extra efforts on the collection of trade debtors
to improve the debtors turnover days.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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B B 5 Ak M A

For the year ended 31 March 2025
Bl E2025F3H31HIFFE

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

The directors of the Company consider that the Group
will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due for at least the next twelve
months from the end of the reporting period and
accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has applied, for its first time,
the following new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards, issued by the HKICPA where are effective for
the Group’s financial year beginning on 1 April 2024

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Presentation of Financial Statements
- Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

Amendments to HK Int 5
(Revised)

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards in the current year has had no
material effect on the Group’s financial performance and
positions for the current and prior periods and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RERME
For the year ended 31 March 2025
Bl E2025F3H31HIFFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
issued but not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKAS 21 and Lack of Exchangeability’
HKFRS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Amendments to the Classification

HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures®
Amendments to HK Int 5 Presentation of Financial Statements

- Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause®
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*
Annual Improvements to HKFRS ~ Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,
Accounting Standards HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72
- Volume 11

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
Bl E2025F3H31HIFFE

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)
Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
issued but not yet effective (Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these amendments to existing standards,
new standards and new interpretation in the period of initial
application. In addition to the above, there are a number of
minor amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards under
the annual improvement project of HKICPA. The Group
has analysed these amendments and these amendments
are not likely to have a significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values, at the end of
each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants in the principal (or most
advantageous) market at the measurement date under
current market conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 16, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value-in-use in
HKAS 36.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or
3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at
fair value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective
fair value measurement.

The material accounting policies are set out below:

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. If
a subsidiary prepares its financial statements using
accounting policies other than those adopted in the
consolidated financial statements for like transactions and
events in similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments
are made to that subsidiary’s financial statements in
preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure
conformity with the Group’s accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power
over the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to
use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the
Group’s returns.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, power over the investee may be
obtained through: (i) size of the Group’s holding of voting
rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders; (ii) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; (iii) the Group’s voting rights and potential
voting rights; (iv) any additional facts and circumstances
that indicate that the Group has the current ability to direct
the relevant activities at the time that decision need to be
made, including voting patterns at previous shareholdings’
meeting; or (v) a combination of the above, based on all
relevant facts and circumstances.

The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of these elements of control stated above.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the exchange
fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in
profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control of the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolida